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Corporate Information
NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Weisong

(Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chang Kaisi
Mr. Chen Rui

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Gao Pingyang

Ms. Huang Rong

Mr. Shang Jian

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Gao Pingyang (Chairman)
Ms. Huang Rong
Mr. Shang Jian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhu Weisong (Chairman)
Mr. Gao Pingyang®

Mr. Shang Jian

Ms. Huang Rong™

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Shang Jian (Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Weisong

Ms. Huang Rong™

Mr. Gao Pingyang®

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng
Mr. Zhu Yuancheng

Notes:

Q)

@

Ms. Huang Rong has been re-designated as a member of the
Nomination Committee and has ceased to be a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from March 21, 2025.

Mr. Gao Pingyang has been re-designated as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and has ceased to be a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from March 21, 2025.
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Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-9010

Cayman Islands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

Jinshan Sub-branch

153-159, Weiging West Road
Jinshan District

Shanghai, PRC

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Tianlin Branch

105 Tianlin Road

Xuhui District

Shanghai, PRC

*https://www.bloks.com
**http://www.blokees.com.cn

0325

Campbells Corporate Services Limited

Floor 4, Willow House
Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-9010
Cayman Islands
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**http://www.blokees.com.cn
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* ceased to be our official website from March 25, 2025.

*  \worked as our official website from March 25, 2025. ok H2025F3 258 R AKMAE H 48Uk -
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Financial Summary and Operation Highlights
MBHMEREERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY MIFEE

Year Ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023 % Change
20245 2023%F BEHLED
(in RMB thousands, except for percentages)
(AARETF T - BN

Revenue ON 2,240,929 876,686 155.6%
Gross profit ESl 1,178,806 414,922 184.1%
Loss before tax BrER AT E 1R (295,682) (189,839) 55.8%
Loss for the year FEBAE (398,044) (207,481) 91.8%
Adjusted profit for the year KRB E EANRO (GERIE
(a non-IFRS measure) BBREERETE) 584,588 72,882 702.1%
Adjusted net margin® KRB F AR (GERER 26.1% 8.3% 17.8
(a non-IFRS measure) S mERERGTE) percentage
points
17.81E
B
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) BIREAR NEEEIE
(AR®TT) (2.69) (1.38) 94.9%
Notes: Bt -

(1) We define adjusted profit for the year (a non-IFRS measure) as loss for the year (1) BIFIMALTEEEFEFH GEER MBS £ 2)
adjusted for fair value changes on convertible redeemable preferred shares (a non-cash TR ERAERELRN AR BEZS (IR
item), listing expenses and share-based compensations (a non-cash item). £IBAE) - EMRXRARDASERNFMHCGERE

HR)RABRNFEERE -

(2)  We define adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure) as adjusted profit for the year (a ~ (2) B IFIFALSRE F A & (GEEI IR B B &5 2 AU 2)
non-IFRS measure) as a percentage of our total revenue. ERBEFBRFENEGFEBRYBREENTE)
IHEWABNBE DL
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Financial Summary and Operation Highlights

MBEHNENEERE

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last four financial years is set out as follows:

Consolidated Results

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss before tax
Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the parent

Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity

The current liabilities as of December 31, 2024 comprised of convertible
redeemable preferred shares of RMB2,207,012,000, which has been
settled by automatic conversion, converted to ordinary shares, upon

listing on 10 January 2025.

LN

EF
BRBEATE R
FEEBR

BRRRAAREFERR

SRS R FERE,
(E#8)

FRBEE
nBEE
BERE
FREBAE
nEAE
BfEEE

AR

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

AEBBREMENRFEND TEREAR
BEELABEBESIWT

mEeXE
Year Ended 31 December
BZE12A318LEE
2024 2023 2022 2021
20245 2023%F 20224F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT AREBTT ARETT
2,240,929 876,686 325,574 329,772
1,178,806 414,922 123,419 123,401
(295,682)  (189,839)  (456,771)  (563,834)
(398,044)  (207,481)  (422,705)  (506,853)
(401,047)  (206,100)  (419,886)  (502,594)
3,003 (1,381) (2,819) (4,259)
HBEEEREE
As of December 31,
BZ12A8318
2024 2023 2022 2021
20245 20234 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRE ARETRT ARETT ARBTT
390,551 330,400 282,156 254,207
1,215,440 682,256 1,663,695 2,231,769
1,605,991 1,012,656 1945851 2,485,976
25,078 1,890,061 1,584,949 1,407,345
3,181,503 730,889 1,738,017 2,037,250
3,206,581 2,620,950 3,322,966 3,444,595
(1,600,590) (1,608294) (1,377,115)  (958,619)

HZE2024F 12A3 1Bz BB EREIEHR
A IEEE e iE AR #2,207,012,0007T * %%
BERER2025F1 4108 LHEBEBAS
s RS BB -



Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders and Investors,

First of all, it is my great honor to announce that Bloks Group Limited
(the "Company” or “Bloks") successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on January 10, 2025. We extend our sincere
gratitude to all those who have shown concern for us, supported us, and
assisted us along this journey.

2024 marked our tenth anniversary a pivotal milestone. Over the past
decade, our unwavering commitment to original innovation has led
us down a challenging yet rewarding path, enabling us to navigate
increasingly complex markets with steadiness. In 2024, we solidified our
leading position in assembly character toys, which is largely attributable
to our sustained commitment to R&D investments. In the past year, we
allocated RMB190 million to research and development. During the
same period, we recruited approximately 300 new employees, with more
than two-thirds of them being R&D personnel. Moving forward, we will
continue to attach great importance to R&D and increase our investment
in this area.

On the IP front, we pursue a two-pronged strategy. On one hand, we
remain committed to original innovation. In 2024, our Hero Infinity (3
HEFERR) series launched an animated feature film, portraying legendary
figures from Chinese mythology and history, which achieved remarkable
digital engagement. On the other hand, we are systematically expanding
cooperations with world-leading IP licensors and proprietors. As of
December 31, 2024, we had approximately 50 licensed IPs, representing
comprehensive coverage of major global IPs. Moving forward, we will
continue to deepen our cooperation with the IP partners to achieve
mutual benefit and a win-win situation.

ERNBZURRRREA :

B REFHAARKRE  MEALEE
RAR([ARAR K[ HER ) BER20254F 1
B10BRINERBBEIATER LT o FIM
D XEMEBHMHEATNTE AR
B RS o

2024 F R ERMIMLOETF - 2MEEN—
F o BETFRMARBIFRE - E7T 1K
S IERERER  BHERMENEARE
MOTIZRBERENEINRE - 2024F » #
PEHEACETAGERERZE T AL
iz » BRARE LEFERAFYHIAENIEA
MER - EBE—F - BRPIOABIRABA
R#1.98T - BEARMFBIE T 4300EE
T =92 LERWEAE - KK HM
DS EERE - AT S ERHRA -

FEIPHE @ RMEREER TR - — 7
M BARFRE - 2024 F R ER YRS
HRTEERR Bl THPBIMEMES L
MEEAYNRE  FEBELEEGRSN
AR Z—HE - KPS EEREAF 25k
PR BIRATE - HE2024F12A31H © &
MELZLD T OS50 - FFEIR T EH2K
FRIPHES o KK - RGEE TIPS
MATE - BRI -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

We plan to launch 800 new SKUs in 2025, remaining focused on
the niche market of assembly character toys while executing our full
demographic strategy and keeping on innovating. The products such as
EVANGELION and Hatsune Miku, which were launched at the end of
2024 targeting consumers aged 16 and above, achieved the expected
sales volume, and we will continue to launch more toys for adult fans.
Meanwhile, we will also launch products for female consumers, including
those featuring characters from Sanrio, Detective Conan, Harry Potter, and
Minions. In terms of sales, we continue to implement our omnichannel
distribution with particular focus on global expansion, bringing Chinese
cultural products to international markets. Regarding the operation of
the consumer ecosystem, the Blokees Figures Creator (BFC) has
taken initial shape. We will continue to hold BFC Creation Competitions
to stimulate the creativity of our fans and build a favorable consumer
ecosystem. The successful listing in 2025 marks the beginning of Bloks'
new decade. Looking ahead, we will maintain our long-term perspective
by deepening our user-centric focus to address consumer needs,
strengthening R&D and innovation service capabilities, expanding our IP
ecosystem, increasing sales and marketing investments, and advancing
our all demographics, all price segments and global consumers strategy
to deliver quality-for-money products to consumers worldwide.

Finally, we extend our deepest appreciation to all the shareholders,
investors, consumers, business partners, employees, the management
team, and members of the Board who have supported the development
of Bloks. Going forward, we will continue to advance together, driving
the long-term sustainable growth of Bloks to create world-leading, fun
products.

Mr. Zhu Weisong
Chairman of the Board

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

HAIETBI4E2025 F 7 H#E 1 800 ESKU + #F 48
PEHLACEMAEEMASEE - B2
ABLELES - TETHERR L FT - 2024 F K HE
Wt LEE8s LT - IERARELHKAMI6
BRI EFRECEBENER BT EH
HHE  RRBRMSEEHELFEZEAKA
MR - B - BMEBHKEDER T
HEENESR  BIE-ER  ZEHENE -
WBF] 4 - NEAE - EHEEHTE - BN
EEETE2RENE  BrIRERMEBERIK
{EFEFEE D - BRESUEERTEEI
L EHBELEREBELS L MEAEARA
Bl{EE (BFO) BV AR o B MIgHER
BFCAIVEAE « MEBEAMMGAEIERS &
ERITHEBE L REBER - 2025F MK
E o ARTHABAFOHTE - RERK
REBSEEHBEOAL  FEBRERFSE
Sk SR(LI S BRAIFT RSB D - TETZ EIPAE
fE - MMAHEERMBTEMNETA - HER2A
B 2EM - 2HRMCABEER  BHEMH
BERBTMIENESR -

R& - BARBAEXHMEARROK
R -KREE HEZ AEEBH 288
T EEEFREFEKE - KK HIH
BEETILE HPHBUTRAVFESR
B BIEEMBRNTIER °

REREE
EER



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED AT

We are a leader of assembly character toys in China. Leveraging our
portfolio of more than 500 patents, in-house IP development capability
and cooperative relationships with approximately 50 renowned IP
franchises, we are dedicated to providing consumers with a wide range of
quality-for-money assembly character toys. Our assembly character toys
recreate the essence of IP characters. Through the combination of our
product strength and supply chain capabilities, we are able to maintain
cost advantages and continuously expand product categories.

During the Reporting Period, our sales revenue amounted to RMB2,240.9
million, representing an increase of 155.6% compared to that of 2023,
and our loss for the year amounted to RMB398.0 million, representing
an increase of 91.8% compared to that of 2023.

Continuing to Develop the Bloks System and Enhance Our R&D
Capabilities

From our market observance, character toys exhibit individuality elements
such as the recreation of the IP characters and simulation of their poses,
while there is a lack of a highly standardized system for industry players
to efficiently and consistently launch products that combine assembling
experience, consistent quality and great value-for-money. The application
of assembling mechanism in character toys is typically done through
either construction blocks or a high proportion of customized components
to recreate the IP characters and simulate their poses. We combine the
advantages of character toys and assembling mechanism and improve
thereupon and introduce our Bloks System, which comprises the
standardization of product design, R&D and production, a self-compatible
product system and a consumer ecosystem, and enabled us to forge
a new assembly character toy category combining standardization and
individuality elements, which offer consumers a new choice in the
character toy segment with our patent-protected Bloks System.

For the standardization of product design, R&D and production, our
products are designed based on the maximum use of standard
components through our component-related patents and production
technique-related patents. In terms of self-compatible product system,
our rich IP portfolio not only enables consumers to “mix-and-match” the
highly compatible components from different products to form unique
and individualistic assembly and re-creations based on their creativity
and interests. For the consumer ecosystem, since IP characters are
closely associated with rich contents that can be widely disseminated,
we execute a content-driven online marketing strategy to effectively
reach and maintain a broad base of consumers, fans and BFCs, thereby
nurturing a consumer ecosystem with a closed loop. As a result, our
Bloks System provides the foundation of our R&D, which is crucial to our
success.

BT ENEACEIANSEE - RiE
HMI500%EHEFEE - NEFIPFEEEE AR
B R LS50 EMA PR ERNEIERR -
BB R A HEERBESEYHBAERDB
BECEDA - RN EACEIIABRR
TIPABRIEE - BRESHMNERE N
HEESERE ) - BAMBE SR A ANME 2 0 T
BAREMIER o

RBESRHE BMOEERABARE
22409 H B JT © #2023 F & K 155.6% °
EMNTFEBSEBAARKINIEE T ' &
2023F#£91.8% °

BERBRTERUTBRAALRESEMANTRED

REMOMSERRE  ACITARHERE
HEMTE - flPACHBIIRMELNE
#oAMBRBE —EA5EERE LN RS -
BITELHEENS K - —BUbHE LA
HasEs HERKIN— BYBENESD °
HERNEACTTATNERBE SRBE
A S OIR T RIS RTERR - LE
RIPAGITEBRMEMNED - BHAEE T AC
TEAMBHEESIFER - WA R FE1T
THEVRE THEABE  ZRBEABEE
mERET - FEMAEEMZEL - B —BR
ERESAEEEEERRZLS - R
B EEEEECFEE L TENTBE A
EEMAER - RMXEFNRENMEAE
RAEEBERET ACIIAEHAINERE -

BT EBREMRG - AERNEENRLEL

BAPWERBBRMANAEFABEENMEE
BAMBRERN - EH&ARE N BIRER N
MER FETR - EER—ENERER
FHE - BHMEENPES MEEEBERR
DEFE KB TRERNEERENANS 1B
B IR alE D M - FRER BEE
MMERMBEAIE - MHBLRE - HRIPA
BHEANEZEENEERNTT AR - &
FIEMA BB LR E HRAT - AB UK
BMEREZAEEE - MAMBFCER - 1
MitE —ERAREEERLRL - Bt - 3
M B RASRMOMERETER - &
HEMOKWERES -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED AT

We have established a dedicated R&D team consisting of 472 employees
as of the end of the Reporting Period. Our R&D team members possess
deep experience and understanding of toys, consumer goods and
popular culture. Throughout the product design and development
process, we leverage our consumer insights from the collection of
feedback and consumer participation. During the Reporting Period, our
R&D expenditure was RMB192.5 million, accounting for 8.6% of our total
revenue during the same period. As of the end of the Reporting Period,
we had 514 domestic authorized patents, 75 domestic invention patents
and 24 overseas authorized patents.

Continuously Enriching Our Product Offering and IP Portfolio
Matrix

Our product offering and our IP portfolio are the key factors to our
development, since our operation goal is to create highly popular and fun
assembly character toys, address global consumers’ widespread demand
for toys that recreate the essence of IP characters, and deliver the joy of
assembling. Through a large number of SKUs, a comprehensive price
segment coverage and a rich IP portfolio, we have built an expansive
matrix-style product offering and continue to serve consumers, fans and
BFCs with a wide selection of products.

Our products offer consumers various quality-for-money choices,
including excellent play experience, exquisite design and high quality. We
primarily offer assembly character toys, and to a lesser extent, brick-based
toys. During the Reporting Period, revenue generated from assembly
character toys amounted to RMB2,201.1 million, representing 98.2% of
our total revenue during the same period, and revenue generated from
brick-based toys amounted to RMB39.4 million, representing 1.8% of
our total revenue during the same period. This sales performance was
primarily due to our large number of SKUs, which enabled us to cater all
demographics, all price segments and global consumers.

During the Reporting Period, we further expanded our price segment
coverage of our products. We launched the TRANSFORMERS Galaxy
Version Defender in the value price segment at a suggested retail price
of RMB9.9 per unit by the end of 2024 to enlarge our SKUs. As of the
end of the Reporting Period, we had diversified a product portfolio of
682 SKUs, including 132 SKUs designed primarily for children under
the age of six, 519 SKUs designed primarily for consumers between
the ages of six and 16, and 31 SKUs designed primarily for consumers
over the age of 16. Specifically, during the Reporting Period, Ultraman,
TRANSFORMERS, Hero Infinity and Kamen Rider were our top four selling
IP products. During the Reporting Period, our revenue generated from
Ultraman, TRANSFORMERS, Hero Infinity and Kamen Rider amounted
to RMB1,095.8 million, RMB453.7 million, RMB309.9 million and
RMB170.0 million, respectively.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

HERSHR  BMELEL T —@H472
HE THMOEPIHZEEK - AR
B BEIIA BB RMRITUEEERE
RSB FIIR MR - EEEEMST A AR
o RPFBERRENRENEEESEF
EBEEERR - RS - B
BYHAARB19255ET  GRMABEHE
WA K860 » B EMEHR - HMIHEH514
THBRAKEZR - 7518 A EE R F2418
TGN IEEA o
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APIHE mn A RAPIROIPAE A B IR A0
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ECEME BN HEACETRA - mERNH
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TRHBHEREE - BB ARERSKU - ZEAER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED AT

Given the advantage of our assembly character toys is that they could
recreate the essence of IP characters, the number of our IPs also
contributes to our product portfolio. Our IP portfolio can be divided into
two parts, namely self-developed IPs and renowned licensed IPs. As of
the end of the Reporting Period, we have two self-developed IPs, namely
the children-development-oriented Magic Blocks (B & &7) and the
Chinese culture-themed Hero Infinity (E#ER), and approximately 50
licensed IPs. As of the end of the Reporting Period, the number of our
self-developed IPs remains stable compared to that as of December 31,
2023 and the number of our licensed IPs increased from approximately
27 as of December 31, 2023 to approximately 50 as of the end of the
Reporting Period including but not limited to SUPER SENTAI, Anime
ULTRAMAN Series, as well as DC's Superman, DC's Batman, Harry Potter
and STAR WARS. These newly licensed IPs could enable us to develop,
produce and sell assembly character toys under these IPs. Going forward,
we will keep looking for IPs that are widely popular and can potentially
complement our current product offering and further expand our target
consumer groups.

Expanding Our Sales Channels and Improving Our Marketing
Performance

During the Reporting Period, we sold our products through a multi-
channel sales network, which consisted of (i) offline sales channels,
including distributors and consignment sales, and (ii) online sales
channels, including various e-commerce platforms. All our current
products are available for sale in each of our sales channels.

Since our assembly character toys are IP based toys which are closely
associated with rich contents that can be widely disseminated, we adopt
a content-driven online marketing strategy that enables us to effectively
reach and maintain a broad base of consumers, fans and BFCs, and
collect feedback on our products.

Offline Sales Channels

During the Reporting Period, our offline sales channels included
distribution sales and consignment sales. For the same period, our offline
distribution sales amounted to RMB2,062.9 million and our consignment
sales amounted to RMB22.0 million.

The background of our distributors typically includes distributors of
toys and cultural and creative products with specific regional coverage
and established local sales network. During the Reporting period, our
offline distribution sales increased from RMB732.7 million in 2023 to
RMB2,062.9 million, accounting for 92.1% of our total revenue during
the same period.

ERBMNHAEACETENEZEREM
AAERIPAGKEE - FitEMNIPEED
BPRBMNERES - KFIWIPAE R AD
BWES - Bl A X EMIPTIAN R K IRIEIP -
HEREPR - ZAMEEMEES ZHEAP -
BN M) 57 E B R A9 E E M B ] YA A B S
{EBFBRCRERER) - R ALS0EEE
IPo BEWMEHR - BB EHEAPEENR
HE2023F 12 31 BAELRFEE - BHM
MR EPEENEHE2023F 12831 HH#27
&3 hn 2 B = WS B R M 495018 - BFET
RN EBARELK - WEREE X5 - LAKRDCHE
A - DCIRIETR « BB F| « WEFFREKKE - &
LEXTIRREIPA] AR IR MRS LLIP 3% - £
MEEHEACEE - BERK - BHME
BESHETEONIP  SLIPEAIEHEARR
MERMEREE  WiE—PWAHEMAOE
EHERR -

BRARMHOFEERELRSEMANEHE RN

R EHE - RPIBRBZREHEREEE
HPER  ZWREEORTHERE -
BREKHEBLZREHEE  RKRLEHEER
B BREEERYE WMBANMAAE
AR UERPINESEHERETHE -

HREMNHEACEITARERPRNIA -
HEAJ A EZEENEE AT TR
SR PIRA AT BE) M FEAR S SHER B - (B3
PIRESARULEBNGEEZAHEE - H
FMBFCERE - W ERH R MEmMIIRE

REH  BRPINETHERERELHE
HERZTHE - FH - MR TEHEH
ERHAARE2062088 L ZLHERA
ARE220H8TT °

EMNCHENESRERRAER TR
BEME E A A 8 E 4R I A A Al
E MM - RIREHE - RANGETL
SHIHE R H2023F M AR 73278 & L1
EEAR®206298 8T ' (A& MEIHG4RUL
AH92.10% ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED AT

Apart from China, we also sell our products in overseas markets. During
the Reporting Period, we incorporated subsidiaries in United Kingdom,
Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore to expand our overseas markets.
During the Reporting Period, Indonesia and United States were the top
two revenue generated countries of our overseas markets. During the
Reporting Period, our revenue from overseas sales increased by 518.2%
from RMB10.4 million in 2023 to RMB64.2 million.

In addition to distribution sales, we also make consignment sales at
retail outlets operated by our consignment sales partners. Ownership
of the goods remains with us until sales to consumers occur. During
the Reporting Period, we had three consignment sales partners, which
remains stable compared with 2023. During the Reporting Period, our
consignment sales decreased from RMB36.4 million in 2023 to RMB22.0
million, accounting for 1.0% of our total revenue in the Reporting Period.

Online Sales Channels

We have established our online channels, primarily through (i) the
opening of flagship stores on Tmall, JD.com, Douyin, Pinduoduo and
other e-commerce platforms in China, and (ii) our Weixin mini program
Bloks Club. During the Reporting Period, our revenue from our online
channels increased from RMB106.2 million in 2023 to RMB155.7
million, accounting for 6.9% of our total revenue in the Reporting Period.

Marketing

During the Reporting Period, we used multiple communication channels,
including our official accounts and the accounts of KOLs, KOCs, fans and
BFCs on social media platforms. We used our official accounts to publish
high-quality images and videos that highlight our product design and
the IP character elements to promote our products and their assembling
experience, which could strengthen our brand awareness as well. We
worked with KOLs and KOCs to publish a wide range of content in
different forms including videos and posts, demonstrating the features
of our products. Meanwhile, we also encourage our consumers and
fans to become BFCs and create UGCs on social media platforms or
through official reposting and event operations. In June 2024, we held
the first BFC Creation Competition together with our business partner.
We received hundreds of works recreated by our BFCs and the total topic
views regarding our BFC Creation Competition exceeded 400,000, which
showed the vitality of our BFC community.

We also actively attended toy fair to present and promote our products
worldwide. In October 2024, we presented the latest product innovations
at the 2024 China Toy Expo, held at the Shanghai New International Expo
Center from October 16 to 18, 2024. In December 2024, we attended
the Singapore Comic Con from December 7 to 8, 2024 and unveiled
our new Sesame Street collection for the first time and showcased an
impressive array of figures. We are looking forward to attending more
international toy fairs to present and promote our assembly character
toys globally.
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Focusing on Our Product Quality and Practicing Our Corporate
Social Responsibilities

We always place strong emphasis on product quality and have a
dedicated quality control team. We adopt a comprehensive quality
control system that covers product design and development, raw material
suppliers, production, warehousing and logistics. Meanwhile, we believe
product quality is not only an operation level requirement but also a
corporate social responsibility requirement.

For our comprehensive quality control system, we assess our products
with strict domestic and global quality standards including China’s toy
safety standard GB6675-2014, the United States toy safety standard
ASTM F963 and the European Union toy safety standard EN71. The
specifications of our products, including the size of the blocks and
components, are in line with the aforementioned applicable domestic
and global quality standards.

In addition, we found that there were a large number of counterfeit
products had appeared on the market since the second half of 2023.
These products counterfeited our product design, infringed our
intellectual property rights and would end up damaging the quality
reputation of our products. Since we have a zero-tolerance attitude
towards counterfeit products, we reported these cases to the police as
the intellectual property rights holder and sought to hold the infringer
criminally liable for the infringements of our intellectual property rights.
After careful investigation, the police authority located several workshops
of counterfeit products in Guangdong Province. They finally destroyed
6 counterfeit dens with a large number of police forces in April 2024,
which also effectively curbed the circulation of counterfeit products.
Furthermore, in November 2024, we worked with the market supervision
and management departments of Nanyang Government, Henan Province
and Dongyang Government, Zhejiang Province to conduct administrative
enforcement against local intellectual property infringement merchants
and seized a large number of infringing goods on the spot. Those actions
also conveyed to the market our determination to resolutely defend
market order, protect the legitimate rights and interests of consumers,
maintain our brand reputation and protect our intellectual property rights.
We believe the control and monitoring of the counterfeit products forms
part of our corporate social responsibilities.

Moreover, we also participated in the 25th “Happy Summer in Metro City
(B2 HAE 228 )" hosted by Metro City (32Z83) in Xuhui to spread
love and care for children in July 2024. “Happy Summer in Metro City"
is an annual event of the Metro City since 1999 to provide a variety of
holiday experiences for children in summer holiday. In this event, we
provided children with two series of our products, namely Blokees Spidey
And His Amazing Friends Series 1 (i & A $1%K R B4 48 5 i 25 158) and
Blokees Marvel Infinity Saga Galaxy Version Series 1 (#5/& 7] )2 jz Z5 1 BY
EhRZE158), which convey the power of happiness and accompany to
children and enable them to celebrate the summer holiday.
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Going forward to 2025, we will continue to enhance our R&D capabilities
in relation to product design and development, drive ourselves to obtain
an extensive patent portfolio and solidify our production techniques, toy
assembly structure and toy connecting mechanism. We will continue
to enrich our IP portfolio to carry out our growth strategies, since our
strategy is to meet the needs of diverse consumers and fans and reach
global consumers across different age groups through in-house IP
development and extensive cooperation with proprietors of renowned
IPs. We will further make investment on sales and marketing, especially
content-driven marketing activities, to improve our brand recognition and
product popularity in China and overseas markets, especially establishing
and enhancing our overseas presence in the United States, European
and Southeast Asian countries such as Singapore, Malaysia, and Thailand.
In an increasingly competitive market, we will always stick with our goals
and seize the emerging opportunities to provide quality-for-money toys
and bring the fun of assembling.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we primarily generated revenue from sales
of toys, including assembly character toys and brick-based toys, as well
as from other businesses to a much lesser extent. Our revenue was
recorded net of discount and rebate.

By Business Nature

Revenue WA
Toys bonE="
Assembly character toys PEACENA
Brick-based toys BEAITA
Sub-total NEt
Others HAith
Total et

Our revenue increased by 155.6% from RMB876.7 million in 2023 to
RMB2,240.9 million in 2024 primarily attributable to a significant increase
in revenue from assembly character toys.
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Assembly Character Toys

Our revenue from assembly character toy sales increased by 186.2%
from RMB769.0 million in 2023 to RMB2,201.1 million in 2024,
primarily due to a 269.3% increase in the sales volume of our assembly
character toys from 36.5 million units in 2023 to 134.7 million units
in 2024, which in turn was mainly attributable to the successful
commercialization of an expanding and diversifying portfolio of self-
developed and licensed IPs and the rapid expansion of our sales
network. As a percentage of our total revenue, our revenue from assembly
character toy sales increased from 87.7% in 2023 to 98.2% in 2024.

Brick-based Toys

Our revenue from brick-based toy sales decreased by 62.9% from
RMB106.3 million in 2023 to RMB39.4 million in 2024, primarily due
to a 58.2% decrease in the sales volume of our brick-based toys from
0.9 million units in 2023 to 0.4 million units in 2024, primarily as we
continued our focus on developing our assembly character toys business.
As a percentage of our total revenue, our revenue from brick-based toy
sales decreased from 12.19% in 2023 to 1.8% in 2024.

By Sales Channel

Offline sales HETHE
Distribution sales EIHIHE
Consignment sales ZItHE

Sub-total Pt

Online sales B EHE

Others Hh

Total st

During the Reporting Period, we established a multi-channel sale
network, consisting of (i) offline sales channels, including distribution
and consignment sales, and (i) online sales channels, including various
e-commerce platforms.

As such, our revenue from offline sales continued to increase in
both absolute terms and as a percentage of our total revenue, which
accounted for a substantial majority of our total revenue in 2023 and
2024.
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By Region

China F

Overseas Aaoh
Asia (excluding China) TEM(TBIERE)
North America b=
Others Hih

Sub-total et

Total st

Our revenue from overseas sales increased by 518.2% from RMB10.4
million in 2023 to RMB64.2 million in 2024, primarily due to the
increasing oversea sales volume of our assembly character toys.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales increased by 130.0% from RMB461.8 million in 2023
to RMB1,062.1 million in 2024, primarily due to a 269.3% increase in
the sales volume of our assembly character toys from 36.5 million units
in 2023 to 134.7 million units in 2024.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit increased by 184.1% from RMB414.9 million in 2023
to RMB1,178.8 million in 2024, primarily due to a 212.5% increase in
gross profit from assembly character toy sales from RMB372.4 million
in 2023 to RMB1,163.8 million in 2024, which was partially offset by a
64.6% decrease in gross profit from brick-based toy sales from RMB41.2
million in 2023 to RMB14.6 million in 2024. Our gross profit margin
increased from 47.3% in 2023 to 52.6% in 2024, primarily due to
increases in revenue contribution and gross profit margin from assembly
character toy sales.

Assembly Character Toys

Our gross profit from assembly character toy sales increased by
212.5% from RMB372.4 million in 2023 to RMB1,163.8 million in
2024, primarily due to an increase in the sales volume of our assembly
character toys. Our gross profit margin for assembly character toy sales
increased from 48.4% in 2023 to 52.9% in 2024, primarily due to the
economies of scale we achieved through the rapid growth in our assembly
character toy sales.
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Brick-based Toys

Our gross profit from brick-based toy sales decreased by 64.6% from
RMB41.2 million in 2023 to RMB14.6 million in 2024, primarily due to
the decrease in the sales volume of our brick-based toys. Our gross profit
margin for brick-based toy sales remained relatively stable at 38.7% in
2023 and at 37.0% in 2024,

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 49.6% from
RMB189.3 million in 2023 to RMB283.1 million in 2024, primarily due
to (i) an increase in marketing and promotion expenses of RMB38.0
million mainly for promoting our new products in line with our business
growth, and (i) an increase in employee benefit expenses of RMB39.3
million as a result of an increase in the number of personnel engaging in
selling and distribution function in line with our rapid growth. Our selling
and distribution expenses as a percentage of our total revenue decreased
significantly from 21.6% in 2023 to 12.6% in 2024 primarily due to the
economies of scale we achieved along with our growth.

R&D Expenses

Our R&D expenses increased by 103.3% from RMB94.7 million in 2023
to RMB192.5 million in 2024, primarily due to (i) an increase in salaries,
compensations and benefits of RMB59.8 million as a result of an increase
in number of personnel engaging in R&D function, which in turn was
driven by our commitment to R&D, and (i) an increase in share-based
compensations of RMB18.2 million mainly for share options granted
under the Share Incentive Scheme in April 2024. Our R&D expenses as a
percentage of our total revenue decreased from 10.8% in 2023 to 8.6%
in 2024 primarily due to the economies of scale we achieved along with
our growth.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by 844.6% from RMB49.2 million
in 2023 to RMB465.0 million in 2024. Our administrative expenses
as a percentage of our total revenue increased from 5.6% in 2023 to
20.8% in 2024, primarily due to (i) an increase in one-off share-based
compensation of RMB359.3 million for share options granted under the
Share Incentive Scheme in April 2024, and (ii) the listing expenses of
RMB33.4 million we incurred in 2024.

Other Income, Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other income, other gains and losses, net increased by 186.3% from
RMB6.0 million in 2023 to RMB17.1 million in 2024, primarily due to an
increase in government grants of RMB8.8 million. The government grants
were received from the PRC local government authorities to support
certain subsidiaries’ operating activities.
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Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by 568.8% from RMBO.7 million in 2023 to
RMB4.6 million in 2024, primarily because of (i) the exchange losses,
net of RMB2.4 million in 2024, (i) the bank charges of RMB1.2 million
in 2024, and (iii) the impairment of non-current assets of RMBO.7 million
for molds no longer in use in 2024.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by 21.29% from RMB1.7 million in 2023 to
RMB2.0 million in 2024, primarily because of an increase in interest on
lease liabilities of RMB1.4 million in 2024, partially offset by a decrease
in borrowing cost of RMB1.1 million in 2024.

Listing Expenses

Among our listing expenses, approximately RMB33.4 million has been
charged to our consolidated statement of profit or loss in 2024. We
expect that no such expenses will be incurred in the future.

Fair Value Changes on Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares

We recorded fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares
of RMB274.1 million in 2023 and RMB542.0 million in 2024 primarily
due to the increase in the valuation of the Company. Upon listing,
pursuant to the Articles of Association and the Shareholders’ written
resolutions dated December 18, 2024, all preferred shares had been
automatically converted into ordinary Shares. Following the completion
of such conversion by January 2025, no further fair value changes in
respect of the convertible redeemable preferred shares will be incurred.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by 480.2% from RMB17.6 million in
2023 to RMB102.4 million in 2024, primarily because of increase in
both the current tax expense and deferred tax expense of RMB43.4
million and RMB41.4 million in 2024, respectively, primarily due to the
economies of scale we achieved along with our growth.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year increased by 91.8%
from RMB207.5 million in 2023 to RMB398.0 million in 2024.
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We believe that these non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of
operating performance from period to period by eliminating potential
impact of certain items. We believe that these measures provide useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated financial statements in the same manner as they help our
management. However, our presentation of adjusted profit for the year
(a non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure)
may not be comparable to similar item measures presented by other
companies. The use of these non-IFRS measures has limitations as an
analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation from, or
as substitute for analysis of, our consolidated financial statements or
financial condition as reported under IFRS. We define adjusted profit for
the year (a non-IFRS measure) as loss for the year adjusted for fair value
changes on convertible redeemable preferred shares (a non-cash item),
listing expenses and share-based compensations (a non-cash item). In
particular, convertible redeemable preferred shares will be reclassified
from liabilities to equity as a result of the conversion of convertible
redeemable preferred shares into Ordinary Shares upon listing. We define
adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure) as adjusted profit for the year
(a non-IFRS measure) as a percentage of our total revenue.

Loss for the year FEBER

Add: hn

Fair value changes on convertible redeemable  AJS3A AT IEEIE S IXHY
preferred shares NRBEEZE

EWRX
VAR 75 HiE 6 57 B

Listing expenses

Share-based compensations
Adjusted profit for the year RREFENE
(a non-IFRS measure)

Adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure) EAZEFR PR
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Year Ended December 31,
BZ12A318LLFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
(in RMB thousands,
except for percentages)
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(398,044) (207,481)
541,996 274,132
33,372 -
407,264 6,231
584,588 72,882
26.1% 8.3%
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BEERWED AT

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded an adjusted
profit for the year (a non-IFRS measure) of RMB584.6 million and an
adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure) of 26.1%, as compared
with an adjusted profit for the year (a non-IFRS measure) of RMB72.9
million and an adjusted net margin (a non-IFRS measure) of 8.3% in
2023. This is primarily due to our successful strategic diversification of
our product offering to include assembly character toys. More specifically,
we continued to scale up our business and execute a content driven
marketing strategy, which resulted in a gradual increase in our gross profit
margin and gradual decrease in our various operating expenses as a
percentage of our total revenue starting from 2022.

As the revenue contribution from assembly character toys that carry a
higher gross profit margin increased and our business scale grew, our
gross profit margin grew from 47.3% in 2023 to 52.6% in 2024. In
particular, the revenue contribution from assembly character toy sales
increased from 87.7% in 2023 to 98.2% in 2024, and the sales volume
of our assembly character toys grew significantly from 36.5 million units
in 2023 to 134.7 million units in 2024.

The successful execution of a content driven marketing strategy, coupled
with our significant revenue growth, resulted in a significant decrease
in our selling and distribution expenses as a percentage of our revenue
starting from 2022. In particular, our selling and distribution expenses
as a percentage of our total revenue decreased from 21.6% in 2023 to
12.6% in 2024.

As a result of the improved economies of scale achieved, our R&D
expenses as a percentage of our total revenue decreased from 10.8% in
2023 to 8.6% in 2024.

Our inventories include finished goods, raw materials and goods in
transit. Our inventories increased from RMB76.3 million as of December
31, 2023 to RMB278.5 million as of December 31, 2024. The increase
was primarily due to the increase in product inventories to meet with the
sales demands. Inventory turnover days kept stable in 2023 and 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED AT

Our trade receivables primarily arise from sales of our products on
credit. Advance payment is normally required except we granted credits
to certain distributors with good track record and liquidity position, and
consignment sales partners. The credit period granted is generally one to
three months.

Our trade receivables increased from RMB38.3 million as of December
31, 2023 to RMB112.0 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily
due to the increase of sales volume through key customers and online
channels.

Our trade and notes payables primarily comprise payables to our
suppliers, mainly our partner factories. Our trade and notes payables are
non-interest bearing and normally settled on terms of three to seven
months.

Our trade and notes payables increased from RMB259.7 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB566.7 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily due to the continuous growth of our business.

Our other payables and accruals increased from RMB176.5 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB272.3 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily due to (i) an increase in accrued listing expense of RMB25.1
million and (i) an increase of RMB62.6 million payables for purchase of
non-current assets mainly for molds.

In 2024, we financed our operations primarily through cash generated
from our operating activities. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash
and cash equivalents of RMB720.0 million, representing an increase of
99.5% from RMB360.8 million as of December 31, 2023.

We have transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from
sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. In addition, we have currency exposures from our
cash and cash equivalents. Our management considers our exposure to
foreign currency risk is not significant.
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BORROWINGS

We did not have any borrowings as of December 31, 2024.

GEARING RATIO

The Group uses the adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio to monitor its
capital structure. As of December 31, 2024, the Group's adjusted net
debt-to-capital ratio was 31.6%. Details was set in Note 38(d) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

We did not have any materials contingent liabilities as of December 31,
2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As of December 31, 2024, we did not hold any significant investments.
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, we did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, we had not pledged any assets of the Group.
FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, we had no specific plan for material

investments or acquisition of capital assets. However, we will continue to
identify new opportunities for business development and investments.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

EEkeREEERE

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Weisong (5&1E#) (“Mr. Zhu"), aged 42, our founder,
is the Chairman, an executive Director, chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Zhu is primarily responsible for the overall strategy,
business development, operation and management of the Group. Mr.
Zhu has served as an executive director and the chairman of the board of
directors of Shanghai Bloks Technology Group Co,, Ltd (_E/&# & Al RHE
EE AR A7) (“Bloks Technology") since December 2014.

Mr. Zhu has extensive experience in business management by founding
our Group in December 2014. Prior to this, Mr. Zhu co-founded
Shanghai Yoozoo Information Technology Limited (/& ik{E 85
fitBPR A A]) in May 2009, where he acted as chief technology officer
since its establishment until February 2015, primarily responsible for
the management of research and development; in May 2014, the
business of Shanghai Yoozoo Information Technology Limited was listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange by way of a major asset restructuring
of Yoozoo Interactive Co., Ltd. (/AR KD B A A]) (stock code:
002174), where Mr. Zhu served as the chairman of the board of
supervisors from June 2014 to April 2016. Mr. Zhu keeps attaching great
importance to product research and development and has deep insights
in industry trends, products innovation, business development and
cooperation.

Mr. Zhu received a doctorate degree in business administration from
Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai Jiao Tong University
(EERBRELBSH£ER) (PRC) — Arizona State University
(the United States) in June 2023 and a master's degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&I
FET) in the PRC in September 2019, and graduated from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University (/83238 A2) in the PRC in January 2013 after
completion of online courses majoring in business administration.
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Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng (B2 i£) (“Mr. Sheng”), aged 46, is our executive
Director and president. Mr. Sheng is responsible for the operation and
management and overseas markets of the toy business of the Group. Mr.
Sheng has served as the president of Bloks Technology since September
2015.

Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of profound experience in consumer
insights, product innovation and commercialization. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Sheng worked at Intel Technology Development (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. (HEF@BFEMTHE(LE)BR AT and Intel Asia Pacific
Research and Development Ltd. ((REFR I AR EEAR A7) under the
Intel Group from April 2005 to May 2015, where he was responsible for
the design and development of educational products, and received the
Intel Achievement Award twice for his outstanding contributions to the
research and development of educational products.

Mr. Sheng obtained a master's degree in industrial design engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (_=/82238K£2) in the PRC in March
2009 and a bachelor's degree in industrial design from Tongji University
(BB ARZ) in the PRC in July 2001.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Kaisi (¥ 8lLH7) (“Mr. Chang”), aged 43, is our non-
executive Director, and is responsible for providing advice on the business
operations and major decisions of the Group. Mr. Chang also served as a
director of Bloks Technology from July 2020 to July 2022.

Mr. Chang joined Beijing Source Code Capital Co., Ltd. (bt FRIFE A
EHBBR/AR]) in September 2016 and has served as a partner since
October 2021, and is mainly responsible for venture capital investment.

Mr. Chang received a doctorate degree in engineering from the University
of Cambridge in the United Kingdom in June 2008 and a bachelor's
degree in automation from Tsinghua University (B# X&) in the PRC in
July 2003.

Mr. Chen Rui (FR%) (“Mr. Chen”), aged 51, is our non-executive
Director and is responsible for providing advice on the business
operations and major decisions of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 23 years of experience in investment and
management. Since February 2005, he has held multiple positions at
Legend Capital Management Co., Ltd. (EBtE NEERHARAR)),
including co-chief investment officer since April 2021, managing director
from April 2015 to March 2021, executive director from October 2013
to March 2015, director from October 2010 to September 2013, vice
president of the investment team from April 2008 to September 2010
and associate from February 2005 to March 2008. From June 1999 to
November 2002, he successively worked as an engineer, manager of the
engineering technology department and then deputy general manager at
Shenzhen Linker Industrial Co., Ltd GEYITTERIBEBR A 7).
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Mr. Chen has served as a non-executive director of Gambol Pet Group
Co, ld. GREEMRMEBE RN BRRAF]) since October 2023, the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
301498), and a non-executive director of Renrui Human Resources
Technology Holdings Limited (A¥ A BHZIERBRRAA]) since
December 2019, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6919).

Mr. Chen obtained a master's degree in business administration from
Fordham University in the United States in February 2005 and a
bachelor's degree in science majoring in electronics and information
systems from Shanxi University (ILI75AZ2) in the PRC in July 1997.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gao Pingyang (&%) ("Mr. Gao"), aged 45, is our independent
non-executive Director. He is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Gao has served as a professor and an associate dean at the Business
School of the University of Hong Kong since June 2020, engaged
in teaching, research, and management activities. Prior to that, he
successively served as an assistant professor and associate professor at
the Booth School of Business of the University of Chicago from July 2008
to June 2020, engaged in teaching and research in accounting. Mr. Gao's
research focus on capital markets and corporate governance and he has
published extensively in top tier international academic journals.

Mr. Gao has served as an independent non-executive director of
Zhongyuan Bank Co,, Ltd. (FR/RERTTAZD AR A)), the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1216) since November
2023.

Mr. Gao obtained a PhD degree in accounting from Yale University in
the United States in December 2008, a master's degree in finance from
Peking University (AL 72 A2) in the PRC in June 2004 and a bachelor's
degree in accounting from Renmin University of China (FFBI A R AE)
in the PRC in July 2002.
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Ms. Huang Rong (%) (“Ms. Huang”), aged 46, is our independent
non-executive Director. She is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Ms. Huang currently serves as a professor and a Li Dak-sum Chair
Professor (Z# = #FE#U%) at the School of Management of Fudan
University (R B X2) since October 2019. Prior to her current position,
Ms. Huang served as an associate professor at Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business from July 2018 to September 2019, and an associate
professor (tenured position) in accounting from September 2013 to June
2018 and an assistant professor in accounting from September 2006 to
August 2013, at Baruch College of the City University of New York.

Ms. Huang has served as an independent director, the convener of
the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee at
Shandong Hualu Hengsheng Chemical Co., Ltd. (lLEEEEH LT
i1 AR A7), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600426) since April 2024 and an independent
director at Bank of Communications Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (32#R
2 RFAEAREME AT since March 2023. She also served as an
independent director at Guizhou Gas Group Corporation Ltd. (& %
Rk BRRAR]), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600903) from May 2022 to August 2023.

Ms. Huang obtained a doctorate degree in management science
(accounting) and a master's degree in accounting from University of
Texas at Dallas in the United States in August 2006, a master's degree
in economy from Mississippi State University in the United States in
December 2001, a bachelor's degree in industrial foreign trade and a
bachelor's degree in computer science from Donghua University (BREEK
&) in the PRC in July 1999.

Mr. Shang Jian ({5 &) (“Mr. Shang”), aged 57, is our independent
non-executive Director. He is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Shang has over 25 years of experience in China’s capital markets. Mr.
Shang founded Hong Shang Asset Management Co., Ltd. (/&34 &
EEEAR AR in July 2013 and has been the chairman of the board
of director since then. Prior to that, he held several senior management
positions at various financial institutions, including a general manager of
UBS SDIC Fund Management Co., Ltd. (F#&IRiRESERER A A))
from September 2006 to November 2012, a general manager of Yin
Hua Fund Management Co., Ltd. (SREESE BB BR A F]) from
January 2004 to June 2006, a deputy general manager of HuaAn Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (ELE S EIR BB A F]) from January 2002 to
December 2003, and an executive officer of Shanghai Stock Exchange
from January 2001 to December 2001, whereby Mr. Shang also
accumulated extensive experience in financial management.
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Mr. Shang has been an independent non-executive director of Shanghai
Realway Capital Assets Management Co., Ltd. (-/8imE & EE BN
BBR7A 7)), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1835) since October 2018, and an independent director and
chairman of audit committee of H World Group Limited GE{(Z&EHBR
‘~A\]), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1179) and on the Nasdaq Stock Market (ticker symbol: HTHT) since May
2014.

Mr. Shang obtained a doctorate degree in business administration
(finance) and a master's degree in economics from University of
Connecticut in the United States in December 1997 and December
1994, respectively, and a bachelor's degree of engineering from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University in the PRC in July 1989.

Mr. Shang possesses appropriate professional accounting or related
financial management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules and confirms that he has gained such expertise through his
previous experiences, including (i) serving as an independent director
and a chairman and member of the audit committee of companies
listed on the Stock Exchange including Shanghai Realway Capital Assets
Management Co., Ltd. and H World Group Limited, during which Mr.
Shang has been responsible for, among other things, reviewing the
financial statements and accounting policies, monitoring and evaluating
the external and internal audit work and internal control of the listed
companies, making recommendations on the appointment and
replacement of external audit firms through deliberations at the periodic
board meetings and committee meetings reviewing and approving
annual and interim financial statements, and discussions with the
management, other members of the audit committee as well as the
external auditors of such companies from time to time, and (ii) as a
founder and senior executive of reputable asset management companies
such as Hong Shang Asset Management Co., Ltd., UBS SDIC Fund
Management Co., Ltd., Yin Hua Fund Management Co., Ltd. and HuaAn
Fund Management Co., Ltd., Mr. Shang has been involved in, among
other things, formulating, implementing and evaluating the investment
strategies for portfolio companies (through, among other things, analysing
and reviewing the financial statements of these portfolio companies)
and overseeing the financial management of these asset management
companies. Based on the foregoing, Mr. Shang has accumulated in-
depth practical knowledge and extensive experience in supervising and
monitoring the financial reporting, internal control and other accounting-
related matters of listed issuers, and gained accounting or related
financial management expertise for the purpose of Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

EEkEREEERE

The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. For biographical details of Mr. Zhu Weisong
and Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng, please refer to “— Directors” above. A description
of the business experience of each other senior management member is
set out below.

Mr. Xie Lei ({Z) (“Mr. Xie"), age 47, is our vice president. Mr. Xie is
responsible for product research and development and design. Mr. Xie
joined the Group in July 2015 and has served as the vice president since
then.

Mr. Xie has over 20 years of experience in the field of product design.
Prior to joining the Group, from March 2011 to June 2015, Mr. Xie
engaged in consecutive entrepreneurship in the field of hardware
products. Previously, Mr. Xie worked as a design director of Speck
Design Ltd. (FAH ITEEMZ:T (E&) BR2AA]) from October 2005
to December 2008 and a design director at Electrolux (China) Home
Appliances Co., Ltd. (2= Hr (R E) ER AR A A]) from February
2003 to January 2005. Mr. Xie has served as an IIDE (International
Industrial Design Engineering) Enterprise Mentor of Shanghai Jiao Tong
School of Design (/822 A 25T 2Ft) since 2021.

Mr. Xie received a bachelor's degree in industrial design in June 1999
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC.

Mr. Huang Zheng (ZH) (“Mr. Huang"), aged 44, is our vice president
and responsible for human resources management and administration
of the Group. Mr. Huang joined the Group in December 2016 and has
served as the vice president since then.

Mr. Huang has over 20 years of experience in human resource
management and administration. Prior to joining the Group, from June
2012 to December 2016, Mr. Huang worked at Oriental Pearl Media Co.,
Ltd. CGRT BRI A2 AL AR A 7)), the shares of which are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600637), and held positions
including the administration general manager, and from July 2001 to
June 2012, Mr. Huang worked at Shanghai Media Group (L/8EESE
f#28) and its subsidiaries and held positions including the head of the
human resource department and office director of kids channel.

Mr. Huang obtained a master's degree in journalism and communication
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC in March 2013 and a
bachelor's degree in law from China Youth University of Political Studies
(FEBEFEHIAERR) in the PRC in June 2001. Mr. Huang obtained an
economics professional qualification (human resource) in November
2007.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

EEkeREEERE

Ms. Fu Yifang (147, formerly known as ##7) (“Ms. Fu”), aged
50, is the chief financial officer of the Group and responsible for the
accounting and finance management of the Group. Ms. Fu joined the
Group in December 2023 and has served as the chief financial officer of
the Group since then.

Ms. Fu has extensive experience in accounting and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Fu served as a vice president of finance
at Luckin Coffee (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (R=EMIBE (1-8) AR AF]) and
Luckin Coffee Technology (Hainan) Co., Ltd. Gr=MEERHE C8F) B
R 2 ®]) from November 2020 to January 2023. Ms. Fu also served as
a senior finance director at Shanghai Bilibili Technology Co., Ltd. (/&M
IPIRIERLE AR A E]), a subsidiary of Bilibili Inc., from January 2018 to
October 2020. The shares of Bilibili Inc. are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9626) and the Nasdaq Stock Market (ticker symbol: BILI). Ms.
Fu served as a senior finance director at Chuanxian Network Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B 48EEH: (H8) BBRAF]) from September
2013 to July 2017 and Heyi Internet Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& —
PEEFAT (AL 5) BBRZAF]) from September 2010 to September 2013,
both companies are subsidiaries of Youku Tudou Inc, the shares of which
are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: YOKU).

Ms. Fu obtained a master's degree in accounting from Kent State
University in the United States in December 2001 and a bachelor's
degree of arts from Sichuan University (F9)I|:X£2) in the PRC in July
1998. Ms. Fu obtained the membership qualification of American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in the United States in October
2013.

Mr. Zhu Yuancheng (5R7TFX), aged 39, is our vice president, Board
secretary and joint company secretary. He is responsible for the board
affairs, investor relationship and legal affairs of the Group. Mr. Zhu
Yuancheng joined the Group in December 2020 and has served as the
vice president and the Board secretary since then.

Mr. Zhu Yuancheng has extensive experience in corporate legal affairs
and corporate investment and financing. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Zhu Yuancheng served as the general manager of a business department
of Sichuan Trust Co., Ltd. (FJII{EFEBR 2 7)) from June 2019 to
December 2020, the head of the financial cooperation department of
CPI Xianrong (Shanghai) Asset Management Co., Ltd. (FF &% %88 (H/8)
BEE®EAMR AT, a subsidiary of State Power Investment Corporation
Limited (BIREHIREEBEFRAR]), from May 2016 to March 2019
and a senior trust manager of Zhongtai Trust Co., Ltd. (¥ 55T HBRE
A7) from August 2014 to April 2016.

Mr. Zhu Yuancheng obtained a master's degree in law from Fudan
University in the PRC in June 2010 and a bachelor's degree in law
from China University of Mining and Technology (fFElTE% X £2) in the
PRC in July 2007. Mr. Zhu Yuancheng obtained the Legal Professional
Qualification Certificate (E{RBZE & #57%) in February 2009.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Zhu Yuancheng (%R 7T ) is one of the joint company secretaries of
the Company. For the biographical details of Mr. Zhu Yuancheng, please
refer to "~ Senior Management” above.

Ms. Yu Wing Sze (5R5k&) (“Ms. Yu”), is one of the joint company
secretaries of the Company. She is a manager of the listing services
division at TMF Hong Kong Limited, a company providing corporate
accounting and corporate secretarial services in Hong Kong. She has over
15 years of experience in company secretarial profession and has been
serving as the company secretary of several listed companies in Hong
Kong.

Ms. Yu is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the
United Kingdom.

Ms. Yu received a bachelor's degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in December 2005.
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Directors’ Report
EETWmE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting Period").

The Company is an exempted company incorporated under the
laws of Cayman Islands with limited liability. Its Shares were listed
and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on January
10, 2025. The Prospectus of the Company dated December 31,
2024 has been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (https://www.blokees.com.cn/).

The principal business of us includes design, development and sales
of toys products. We aimed at providing consumers with a wide range
of quality-for-money assembly character toys and delivering the joy of
assembling.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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General

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period and
a discussion on the Group's future business development are set out in
the Chairman’s Statement, Business Review and Outlook as well as the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 31 to 53, pages 9 to 14
and pages 9 to 22, respectively, of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group's performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 9 to 22 of this annual report.

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include that: (i)
demand for our products is affected by changing social and economic
circumstances and evolving consumer preferences, as well as our ability
to design and develop products to meet these preferences; (i) the
popularity of existing IPs in our IP portfolio may deteriorate, and we may
not be able to successfully source, develop or commercialize new IPs;
(iiiy we may fail to obtain, maintain or renew IP licenses on favorable
terms, and our IP proprietors or licensors may fail to maintain and
protect their IPs; (iv) our competitiveness in part depends on our ability
to obtain, maintain and protect our critical intellectual properties; (v) we
may face negative publicity, damage to our brand reputation, or unable
to effectively promote our brand; and (vi) we may be unable to expand,
manage, monitor and coordinate our multi-channel sales network
effectively.

The financial risks of the Group include foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. These financial risks, and the related risk management
policies and practices used by the Group are discussed in Note 38
headed “Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies” to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is not subject to significant environmental risks. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had not been subject to any fines or other
penalties due to non-compliance with environmental regulations, which
would likely to have a material and adverse effect on its business,
financial conditions or results of operations.

More details of the environmental policies and performance of the

Company are set forth on pages 75 to 153 of this annual report headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended December 31, 2024, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in all material respects.

Relationships with Stakeholders
Employees

The Group had 709 full-time employees as of December 31, 2024. The
Group also used some third-party labor outsourcing and labor dispatch
services, though most of our employees were directly employed by us.
Substantially all of the Group’s employees are based in China, primarily at
our headquarters in Shanghai.

The Group's success depends on its ability to attract, retain and motivate
qualified personnel. The Group adopts high standards in recruitment
with strict procedures to ensure the quality of new hires. The Group
uses various methods for our recruitment, including campus recruitment,
online recruitment, internal recommendation and recruitment through
headhunter firms or agents, to satisfy its demand for different types of
talents, and pay competitive market salaries.

The Group provides robust training programs for its employees, which
it believes are effective in equipping them with the necessary skillset
and work ethic. As required by PRC laws, it participates in mandatory
employee social security schemes that are organized by municipal and
provincial governments, including pension insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury insurance, medical
insurance and housing provident funds. The Group and its employees are
required to bear the costs of the social security schemes in proportion
to a specified percentage. The Group is required under PRC laws to
make contributions to employee social security plans directly at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our
employees, up to a maximum amount specified by the local government
from time to time.

The total remuneration expenses of the employees of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in this annual report.
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Customers and Suppliers

The Group's major customers primarily include distributors, consignment
sales partners, e-commerce platforms and online consumers. The
Group's top five customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's
total revenues for the Reporting Period. The Group’s major suppliers
primarily include specialized partner factories and IP proprietors and
licensors. The Group's top five suppliers accounted for 67.6% of the
Group's purchases for the Reporting Period. More details of our major
customers and major suppliers are set forth in the section headed “Major
Customers and Suppliers” of this annual report.

The AGM will be held on Friday, June 6, 2025. The register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 3, 2025 to Friday,
June 6, 2025, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity of
the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM. To be eligible to
attend the AGM, all properly completed transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, June 2, 2025.

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last four financial years is set out on page 6 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
January 10, 2025. The net proceeds received from the Global Offering
(after deducting the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses in connection with the Global Offering) was approximately
HK$1,790.4 million.

There has been no change in the intended use of the net proceeds as
set out in the Prospectus under the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds”. The net proceeds from the global offering (adjusted
on a pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds) will be utilized in
the same manner as set out in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds".
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The following table sets forth a summary of the intended use of net
proceeds from the global offering and their expected timeline of full
utilization. Since the shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on January 10, 2025, details of the

TREINEHRBEEN

utilization of net proceeds from the global offering was not available — &FEAFFE °
during the Reporting Period.
Percentage of
net proceeds  Net proceeds
from the from the
Global Offering Global Offering
PRBE
FriasuE 2RBE
BEEAL  FAENEEE
(%) (HKS in million)
(BRER)
Enhance our R&D capabilities in relation to product 32 H{BERZT R 25 447.70
design and development Ryl
Invest in core production resources and ourown  RERLEEERNET 25 44770
scaled factories spedializing in the production of EEBEARETAR
assembly character toys BERBRIL IR
— invest in molds -REER 15 268.70
~ partially fund the establishment of our own -BREBESNHITMN 10 179.00
production capacity
Further enrich our IP portfolio E—HEERMMIPER 20 358,00
— Continue to invest in content production —RERBHEBBIPIERN - 5 89.50
relating to our self-developed IPs, primarily NBEATERAN
in the form of animation AAEHE
~ Strengthen our efforts in IP development —ERIPHAERE 10 179.00
through collaboration
~ Solidify and expand our licensed IP portfolio —ZEVRRREPER 5 89.50
Sales and marketing efforts HEMZHEY 20 358.00
— Marketing and promotion in China and overseas ~ — Bl L85G R G H#E 10 179.00
markets
— Expanding the sales and marketing team and —BAHENZHER R 10 179.00
other purposes in relation to sales, marketing HipSEENmsHE
and promotion izl T:0 b
Working capital and other general corporate purposes £ & & FHth—RAZE A% 10 179.00
Total #st 100 1,790.40

BRIEFERTARK
HEZHANTEHRRMERE - BRARF
f&13 722025 1 A 108 REE R FTER L
BT AR R &5 AR I % 2 BREE E FTIS RUA F 7R

Expected
timeline

for unutilized
net proceeds
RERE
HEFEN
BHREE

Before June 30, 2028
720286 4308 2 1

Before June 30, 2028
A2028F6 308 ZHl
Before June 30, 2027
202756 A30H ZFi

Before June 30, 2028
1202846 4308 2 A1

Before June 30, 2028
72028F6 4308 2 71
Before December 31, 2027
72027F 128318 281

Before June 30, 2028
A2028F6 H30H Z Al
Before June 30, 2028
120286 4308 Z Al

Before June 30, 2028
720286 4308 2 1
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Major Customers

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction amounts of
the Group's top five customers accounted for 12.1% (2023: 15.3%) of
the Group's total revenues while the transaction amounts of our single
largest customer accounted for 3.1% (2023: 4.2%) of the Group's total
revenues.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction amounts of
the Group's top five suppliers accounted for 67.6% (2023: 90.5%) of
the Group's total purchase while the transaction amounts of our single
largest supplier accounted for 29.6% (2023: 34.4%) of the Group's total
purchase.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of the issued shares, excluding
treasury shares (if any), of the Company) was interested in the top five
customers or suppliers of the Group.

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 163 of this annual report.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately nil (as of December 31, 2023:
nil).
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Tax position of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024
is set forth in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company and the Group had no bank
loans and other borrowings.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has not issued any debentures.

The Directors since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Weisong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Kaisi
Mr. Chen Rui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gao Pingyang
Ms. Huang Rong
Mr. Shang Jian

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, at every
annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Zhu Weisong, Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng and Mr. Chang Kaisi
shall retire by rotation at the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to the Shareholders published on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the website of the Company.
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 23 to 30 of this annual report.

There is no change in any information required to be disclosed in relation
to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the Prospectus.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
us pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive Directors with
effect from the date of the service contract until the third annual general
meeting of the Company since the Listing Date (always subject to re-
election as and when required under the Memorandum and Atticles of
Association). Either party has the right to give not less than three months’
written notice to terminate the agreement.

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company on December 18, 2024. The initial term for their
appointment letters shall commence from the date of their appointment
letters until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the
Listing Date (always subject to re-election as and when required under
the Memorandum and Articles of Association). Either party has the
right to give not less than one months' written notice to terminate the
agreement.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with our Company on December 18, 2024. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall be from the date of the
Prospectus until the third annual general meeting of the Company since
the Listing Date (always subject to re-election as and when required
under the Memorandum and Articles of Association). Either party has the
right to give not less than one months' written notice to terminate the
agreement.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered, or has
proposed to enter, a service contract with any member of the Group
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within
one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation)).

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions entered into by the
Group during the Reporting Period.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report.

A remuneration committee of the Company was set up for evaluating
the remuneration polices for Directors and senior management of the
Group and making recommendations thereon to the Board. The Directors
and senior management members who receive remuneration from the
Company are paid in forms of salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses
and other benefits in kind. The remuneration of the Directors and senior
management members is determined with reference to the remuneration
paid by relevant companies in the same industry and the achievement of
major operating indicators of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, no fee was paid by the Company to any
of the Directors (or former Directors) or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join the Company or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the Directors waived their remuneration during the Track
Record Period.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and the five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries operating in Mainland
China are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC. These include housing fund, basic medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, injury insurance and matemnity insurance. The
Group makes monthly contributions to the housing fund and other social
insurances.

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company
are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

In order to incentivize employees for their contribution to the Group
and to attract and retain suitable personnel to the Group, the Company
adopted the Share Incentive Scheme on January 12, 2023 and amended
and restated on March 29, 2024. For further details, please refer to the
section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” on page 47 of this annual
report.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company was not listed on the Stock
Exchange and therefore Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO and
Section 352 of the SFO were not applicable to the Directors and chief
executive of the Company.

In accordance with the disclosure of interest form submitted through
the Disclosure of Interests Online (DION) System, as far as the Directors
are aware and as of the date of this annual report, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Interests in Shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEnE EEEE

Mr. Zhu Weisong®@ Settlor of a discretionary trust

ENEZ/IS e PREFENETEA

Interest in controlled corporation
Ry EEER

Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng® Interest in controlled corporation

201 vl 20 Ry LB gL

Notes:

(1) Allinterests stated are long positions.

(2)  Next Bloks directly holds 110,639,460 Shares in our Company and is owned 99%
by Wit Bright Limited, and Smart Bloks holds 8,805,846 Shares in our Company and
is wholly owned by Mr. Zhu. The Wise Global Trust is a discretionary trust established
by Mr. Zhu as the settlor and with Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited as the trustee.
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited holds the entire share capital of Wit Bright Limited.

(3)  ShawnXF Limited directly holds 4,363,650 Shares in our Company and is wholly-owned
by Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng.

(4)  The percentage is calculated based on the total number of 249,250,945 Shares in issue

as of the date of this annual report.

RAERQ TR S

Approximate

Percentage of

Shareholding in

Number of  the Total Issued
Shares Held™ Share Capital®

REBITRAE

FiEsE BEPIED
RGEB® ERBEDL®
(%)

110,639,460 4439
8,805,846 353
4,363,650 1.75

Hrat -
(1) FPIZERESESRTA -

(2) Next BloksE##5H A7) 110,639,460% i {7 3 F
Wit Bright Limited# /5 99%, Smart Bloks#§ 5 A& A 7]
8,805,846 X NI AR ILEEERER © Wise Global
TrustRREEMERZRAN) RN RIET  BR
B (BB)BERARAZTA - ERET(EFS)E
MR /A R A Wit Bright Limited #) 2 SAXAN ©

(3)  ShawnXF Limited B #3458 42 7]4,363,650% % {7 3
HBREBLERERS -

4) BOLEDNREHEZEAFEREAHEHTH
249,250,945 B 15 4a gkt E -
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Interests in underlying Shares of equity derivatives of the Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEns EEME

Mr. Zhu Weisong Share Option®

REWMREE RO

Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng Share Option(”
2 S B
Notes:

(1) The share options were granted under the Share Incentive Scheme. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” of this annual report.

(2) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of 249,250,945 shares in issue
as of the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware and as of the
date of this annual report, none of the Directors or chief executives of
the Company had any interests and/or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/
or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report was
the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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As at December 31, 2024, the Company was not listed on the Stock
Exchange and therefore Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
and Section 336 of the SFO were not applicable to the substantial
shareholders of the Company.

In accordance with the disclosure of interest form submitted through the
Disclosure of Interests Online (DION) System, as far as the Directors are
aware and as of the date of this annual report, the following persons (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

BRREE, BB BEME

Wit Bright Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

R o

Beneficial owner

BB A

Next Bloks®

Smart Bloks®

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited®®
BREF(FBE)BRAFO®

First Prosperity®

Suzhou Junjunde®
ERINE LR

Beijing Junlian®

EREHBEO

Beneficial owner
EmEAA

Trustee
ZEEA

Beneficial owner
EmEAA

Interest in a controlled corporation

X EE S

Interest in a controlled corporation

RN £

MR2024F 12 A31H » ARFWREBZFT E
- A FES RS EGIEXVERE7R8DH
LA R GZ A& B 5 33618 R E S T E AR A A F)
FERE o

RIFBBAR R B (DION) Rt R H942
SRR REFBAMA  BEAFE
HBERH - TIAL(PEEARRRERHR
BITBA ) RERD AR P HERERE
7 KB IGRPIEXVERSE 2 K 375 BRI SRR AR
NEWENERIAR  IRBEEFLRAE
{-BIF336IF BN AR R FENELMA
BRI R

Approximate

Percentage of

Number of Shareholding in
Shares Held the Total Issued
or Interested Share Capital®@
AR REBITRE
BEEZW BERHBY
R EE® BRED
(%)

110,639,460 44.39
110,639,460 44.39
8,805,846 3.53
110,639,460 44.39
21,321,255 8.55
21,321,255 8.55
14,601,680 5.86
14,601,680 5.86
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Name of Shareholder

BRRE, BB

Legend Capital®
BHER®

Juncheng Hezhong®
BEHERO

Jungi Jiarui®
BHRR

Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Business
Management Consulting Partnership
(Limited Partnership)®

REER SR EEIEAS
BREX(BRAR)®

Tianjin Junlian Jieyou Business
Management Consulting Partnership
(Limited Partnership)®

REBMER B REIEEN
BREEARER)®

Mr. Chen Hao®
& SEE®

Mr. Zhu Linan®
RILFEIFRE®

|dea Great®

Mr. Charlie Cao®
BEREEO

Nature of Interest

BEME

Interest in a controlled corporation
R AR R

Interest in a controlled corporation
R B

Interest in a controlled corporation
Ry EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

Ry AE S

Interest in a controlled corporation

Ry rE S

Interest in a controlled corporation
Ry EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R

Beneficial owner
EmEBA

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

Number of
Shares Held
or Interested”
FriEE=
EERERN
RGOEE®

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,601,680

14,187,535

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
the Total Issued
Share Capital®@
REBITRE
BERHBY
BFRES L@
(%)

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.86

5.69



Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

Notes:

M

@

(©)

“

®)

All interests stated are long positions.
There were 249,250,945 Shares in issue as of the date of this annual report.

As of the date of this annual report, Next Bloks directly holds 110,639,460 Shares and is
owned 99% by Wit Bright Limited under the Wise Global Trust and 1% by Playcreation
Holding Limited, and Smart Bloks holds 8,805,846 Shares and is wholly owned by Mr.
Zhu. The Wise Global Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Zhu as the settlor
on June 16, 2022, for the benefit of Mr. Zhu and his family members with Trident Trust
Company (HK) Limited as the trustee. Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited holds the
entire share capital of Wit Bright Limited. As such, by virtue of the SFO, the deemed
interest of Mr. Zhu consists of (i) 110,639,460 Shares held by Next Bloks, and (ii)
8,805,846 Shares held by Smart Bloks. Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited is deemed
to have interest in 110,639,460 Shares held by Next Bloks.

First Prosperity is a platform holding the underlying incentive Shares under the Share
Incentive Scheme. as of the date of this annual report, First Prosperity is legally owned
by Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited as trustee of the Bloks First Trust, which was
established by the Company as the settlor for the purpose of the Share Incentive
Scheme. As such, Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested
in the 21,321,255 Shares held by First Prosperity. Please refer to the section headed
“Share Incentive Scheme” set out in this annual report for further details.

As of the date of this annual report, Idea Great is owned 56.05% by Suzhou Junjunde
and 43.95% by Beijing Junlian. Both Suzhou Junjunde and Beijing Junlian are
controlled by their general partner Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (FzfE
EHEMEETIEARAT), a wholly owned subsidiary of Legend Capital, which is in tumn
owned as to 80.00% by Juncheng Hezhong. The general partner of Juncheng Hezhong
is Beijing Junqi Jiarui Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (It R B EZ S EBEELR LD
A, "Jungi Jiarui"), a company owned as to 40.00% by Mr. Chen Hao (F#%). Juncheng
Hezhong is also owned as to 58.12% by Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Business Management
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (KZEESHAEBTIEAAABLE
(BBRA%) ), which is in turn owned as to 34.68% by Mr. Zhu Linan ()R327), and
as to 41.87% by Tianjin Junlian Jieyou Business Management Consulting Partnership
(Limited Partnership) CRIREHEEEEEERZE AR EE (BRAER)), which is
in turn owned 33.36% by Mr. Chen Hao. Beijing Junlian is also owned as to 35.71%
by National Council for Social Security Fund of People’s Republic of China (2Bt
SREESIEES). As such, by virtue of the SFO, each of Suzhou Junjunde, Beijing
Junlian, Legend Capital, Juncheng Hezhong, Jungi Jiarui, Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Business
Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership), Tianjin Junlian Jieyou
Business Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership), Mr. Chen Hao, Mr.
Zhu Linan and National Council for Social Security Fund of People's Republic of China is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Idea Great.

Q)

@

3

@

(€))

Fr5| &btk mig RiF A -
HEXRFERERE - 2317249250945/ %15 ©

HEAFEREEH  NetxBoksEHEHHA
110,639,460/% A% {7 I i Wise Global Trustj T~ &IWit
Bright Limited % /5 99% % ## & M Playcreation Holding
Limited % /5 10 % # + Smart Bloks#5 75 8,805,846 1%
R EEEHER ° Wise Global Trust A %k
EEWEAZTEAIR202266 A 16 A BKRELERE
RIEK BN @B LN G - BRET(EE)
ERAFA/ZEAN - BREFL(FE)BRDFFE
5 Wit Bright Limited 89 2 50 Bt - RIFFEH
REERD - REERIBERE R BIE() Next Bloks
FTH5 110,639,460 A% A& 15 + K (ii) Smart Bloks F7 £
8,805,846/ 17 - EFRIEFE(FHR)BRARBARA
#Next BloksFf#5 110,639,460 i 17 R #E A #E25 o

First Prosperity /R 15 A% (7 8B 5+ 8145 5 48 RSB AL
MHEFE o BERFE RS HE - First Prosperity
BFREE(EE) BR D E (#E&Bloks First Trust(
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Ao Bt BREFE(EE) BR D BRI First
Prosperity FT#521,321,255 & i (5 R #E A 2% - B 4
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Hfi o

HENEERE B - Idea Greatf &/ B B = &1L
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(6) As of the date of this annual report, BlueCo Investment L.P. (“BlueCo") directly holds
12,258,535 Shares. BlueCo is managed by its general partner All Direct Holdings
Limited, which is wholly owned by Mr. Charlie Cao. BlueCo is wholly owned by Hainan
Yuanke Technology Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (8FRAI B &%
¥ (BRE %) ("Hainan Yuanke”), which is managed by its general partner Nanjing
Yuanxin Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (FA RS ERZARER A A) (“Nanjing
Yuanxin”), which is wholly owned by Nanjing Yuanju Technology Co., Ltd. (FAFJRAE
BHE AR F]) (“Nanjing Yuanju”) through Nanjing Yuankai Management Consulting
Group Co., Ltd (AR EREREEAERAF) (“Nanjing Yuankai”), and Nanjing
Yuanju is owned 82.18% by Hangzhou Yigian Enterprise Management Consulting Co.,
Ltd. (MU EE R A NABMRAA]), a company wholly owned by Mr. Charlie Cao.
Hainan Yuanke is also owned 67.97% by Suzhou Yuanming Venture Capital Center
(Limited Partnership) (BxMRBARIZER EH 0 (BRE#)) (“Suzhou Yuanming”) and
31.99% by Suzhou Yuangi Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (&M JRAT
RAERE RO (BRAE)) (“Suzhou Yuangi”). Suzhou Yuanming is owned 44.44%
by Nanjing Yuanling Equity Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(FARREREREGREE (FRE%)) ("Nanjing Yuanling”) and 39.43% by
Beijing Yuanwei Equity Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (1t
IRRREREGREZE (BRE%)) (“Beijing Yuanwei”). Nanjing Yuanheng Equity
Investment Management Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (F8 FUR1ER%
BINEETEABLE (BRAE)) (“Nanjing Yuanheng”) owns 69.97% of Nanjing
Yuanling's equity interests and 79.00% of Beijing Yuanwei's equity interests. Nanjing
Yuanxin is the general partner of both Nanjing Yuanling and Nanjing Yuanheng. Beijing
Yuanxin Investment Management Co., Ltd. GEFRIZE BB R A A)) is the general
partner of Beijing Yuanwei, and is owned 72.68% by Mr. Charlie Cao through its sole
shareholder Lhasa Yuanchi Investment Management Co., Ltd (FuiEREISEERA
[R 2 @]). Suzhou Yuangi is managed by Ningbo Yuanzhang Investment Management
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (BFFZEREEEBAELE (BRA
#)) ("Ningbo Yuanzhang"), who is managed by its general partner Hangzhou Yuanwei
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (UMK B EFZRBR A E]), which is wholly
owned by Nanjing Yuankai. Ningbo Yuanzhang is owned 85.35% by Xizang Yuanding
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd (FafUR R0 % B IZHFR 22 7]), which is wholly owned
by Nanjing Yuankai. As such, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Charlie Cao is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by BlueCo.

According to the disclosure of interest notice submitted by Mr. Charlie Cao in relation
to the relevant event on January 10, 2025, Mr. Cao is also deemed to be interested in
1,929,000 Shares through his controlled corporation, Merron Ventures Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, the
Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein.
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The Share Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by the
Shareholders on January 12, 2023 and amended and restated on March
29, 2024. The terms of the Share Incentive Scheme are not subject to
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve
the grant of options or awards by our Company after the Listing.

Purposes of the Share Incentive Scheme

The purpose of the Share Incentive Scheme is to encourage certain
Directors and employees to contribute to the Group for the long-term
benefits of the Group and its Shareholders as a whole, and provide the
Group with a flexible means of either retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to its Directors
and employees.

Participants of the Share Incentive Scheme

The committee as duly authorised by the Board administering the Share
Incentive Scheme (the “Committee”) may, at its sole and absolute
discretion, make an offer of the grant of option to the Directors,
employees or other persons who have contributed or will contribute to
the Group (the “Participants”).

Maximum Entitlement of a Grantee

There is no maximum entitlement of a grantee under the Share Incentive
Scheme.

Maximum Number of Shares

The total number of Shares underlying all the Options granted under
the Share Incentive Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 21,321,255
Shares, equivalent to 8.55% of the Shares of the Company in issue as of
the date of this annual report, which have been issued and allotted to the
ESOP Platform in full. The maximum number of Shares may be adjusted,
in the event of a capitalization issue, rights issue, consolidation, sub-
division or reduction of the share capital of the Company, provided that
any such adjustment shall comply with the Listing Rules and the guidance
from the Stock Exchange from time to time. Any such adjustments shall
give the Participants the same proportion of equity capital as they were
previously entitled to and no adjustments shall be made to the extent
that a Share would be issued at less than its nominal value.
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Grant of Options

On and subject to the terms of the Share Incentive Scheme and
applicable laws and regulations, the Committee shall be entitled at any
time during the life of the Share Incentive Scheme to make an offer
(the “Offer”) of the grant of a right to purchase a specified number of
Shares or interest in such Shares held and managed by First Prosperity
in trust at a specified price during specified time periods or as otherwise
specified in the Offer letter (the “Option”) to any Participant. Options
may be granted on such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting,
exercise or otherwise (e.g., by linking their vesting to the achievement
of certain performance targets and/or their exercise to the attainment or
performance of milestones by any member of the Group, the Grantee or
any group of Participants) as the Committee may in its sole and absolute
discretion determine.

An Offer shall be made to a Participant by letter in such form as the
Committee may from time to time at its sole and absolute discretion
determine requiring the Participant to undertake to hold and exercise
the Option on the terms and conditions on which it is to be granted and
to be bound by the provisions of the Share Incentive Scheme and the
relevant letter, and shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant
to whom an Offer is made for such period as the Committee may
determine, provided that no such Offer shall be open for acceptance
on or after the Listing Date or after the Participant to whom the Offer is
made has ceased to be a Participant (as determined by the Committee)
for any reason.

An Offer shall be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the Offer is duly signed by the Grantee
with the number of Shares in respect of which the Offer is accepted
clearly stated therein, is received by the Company.

Exercise of Options

A Grantee is vested with the Options during a period to be notified by
the Committee to each Grantee (the “"Option Period") according to the
terms and conditions in the letter to the Grantee containing the Offer and
the letter comprising acceptance of the Offer, provided that the Grantee
remains to be a Participant entitled to exercise his or her Option.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an Option shall be determined by the Committee
and included in the letter to the Grantee containing the Offer, which
could be a fixed or variable figure with reference to the fair value per
Share.

Duration

The Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of time commencing on the January 12, 2023 and expiring on the
day immediately after the date which is ten years after the first date
on which the Shares are listed and traded on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, after which period the provisions of the Share Incentive
Scheme shall in all respects cease to be in any force or effect.
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Options Granted under the Share Incentive Scheme

During the Reporting Period, 17,776,888 Options were granted under
the Share Incentive Scheme. As of January 1, 2024, being the beginning
of the Reporting Period, the total number of Options available for grant
under the Share Incentive Scheme is 17,763,938; while as of December
31, 2024, being the end of the Reporting Period, the total number of
Options available for grant under the Share Incentive Scheme is 0. There is
no service provider sublimit under the Share Incentive Scheme Scheme.

Details of movements of Options granted to each category of participants
under the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:
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Notes:

(1)  Vesting period means the total vesting period (i.e. the period between the date of grant
and the last vesting date) for the Options granted.

(2)  139%, 13%, 13%, 13%, 13%, 13%, 13% and 9% of the total number of the Options
granted shall vest on the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh and eighth
anniversary of the Option Period commencement date, respectively. The Option Period
commencement date is April 15, 2024.

(3)  17%, 17%, 17%, 17%, 17%, and 15% of the total number of the Options granted
shall vest on the first, second, third, fourth, fifth and sixth anniversary of the Option
Period commencement date, respectively. The Option Period commencement date is
April 15, 2024.

(4)  25%, 25%, 25% and 25% of the total number of the Options granted shall vest on
the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the Option Period commencement
date, respectively. The Option Period commencement date is April 15, 2024.

(5)  For further details, please refer to Note 31 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,
none of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) have any interest in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company's business
which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” above,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

As the Shares were not listed on the Stock Exchange during the Reporting
Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities (including sale
of treasury shares) during the Reporting Period, nor during the period
from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reasons of their holding of the Company’s securities.
If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
(including entitlements to any relief of taxation) in relation to, the Shares,
they are advised to consult an expert.

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by
the Group amounted to nil.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance or
contract of significance for the provision of services has been entered
into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any
material legal proceeding or arbitration. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, there is no material legal proceeding or claim which is pending
or threatened against the Company.

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in relation to directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
Reporting Period.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its
associated companies during the period from the Listing Date and up to
the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
events affecting the Group which occurred after December 31, 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report.
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The Audit Committee has, together with the Board and the external
auditor of the Company, reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group as well as the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company is committed to maintaining high level of corporate
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 54 to 74 of this annual report.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% (being the minimum
public float prescribed by the Stock Exchange and the Listing Rules) of
the Company's entire issued share capital were held by the public at any
time during the Period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report.

Ernst & Young was appointed as auditor of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024. Ernst & Young has audited the
accompanying financial statements which were prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards. Since the Listing
Date, the auditor of the Company has not changed.

Ernst & Young is subject to retirement and, being eligible, offers itself for
re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution for re-appointment of Emnst &
Young as auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Mr. Zhu Weisong
Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Shanghai, March 21, 2025
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The Board has hereby submitted its Corporate Governance Report for the
Reporting Period to the Shareholders.

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group.
A strong culture enables the Group to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and contribute to the development of the digital economy.
The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive
culture that is built on its Vision, Mission and Value.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the strategy of the
Group are aligned. During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to
strengthen its cultural framework by focusing on the following:

«  Vision: to create world-leading fun products
«  Mission: to deliver the joy of assembling

. Value: Passion-Driven, Team Collaboration, Customer First, Integrity
in Action, Commitment Delivered

The Company sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce. It enhances employees experience
through a variety of corporate cultural initiatives and encourages its
employees to focus on value contributions during their daily work. All
of the new employees are required to attend orientation and training
programs so that they may better understand the corporate culture.

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
requirements and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

As the Shares were not listed on the Stock Exchange during the Reporting
Period, the Corporate Governance Code was not applicable to the
Company during that period, but has become applicable to the Company
since the Listing Date. Save for the deviation from code provisions C.2.1
and D.1.2 as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code, which
is explained in the following paragraph, the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code since the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.
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Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhu is currently the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company. He is the founder of
the Group and has been operating and managing the Group since its
establishment.

The Board believes that Mr. Zhu has been instrumental to the growth
and business expansion of the Group. The Board is of the view that the
vesting the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer on him is
beneficial to the management of the Company and therefore currently
do not propose to separate the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer. While this will constitute a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of
the Corporate Governance Code, the Board believes that this structure
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company, given that:

(i) there is sufficient check and balance in the Board as the decision
to be made by the Board requires approval by at least a majority
of the Directors, and the Board has two non-executive Directors as
well as three independent non-executive Directors out of the seven
Directors, which is in compliance with the Listing Rules;

(i) Mr. Zhu and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other things,
that they act for the benefit and in the best interest of the Company
and make decisions for the Company accordingly;

(i) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of
the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of the
Company; and

(iv) the overall strategic and other key business, financial, and
operational policies of the Company are made collectively after
thorough discussion at both Board and senior management levels.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Company to assess whether separation
of the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company is necessary.
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Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the management of the Group is required to provide all members
of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s business. The
management of the Group currently reports to the Board quarterly on the
Group's performance, position and prospects. The Board believes that
with the executive Directors overseeing the daily operation of the Group
and the effective communication between the executive Directors, the
management and the non-executive Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) on the Group's affairs, the current practice is
sufficient enough for the members of the Board to discharge their duties.
However, this will constitute a deviation from code provision D.1.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code. The Board will continue to review this
practice and shall make necessary changes when appropriate and report
to the Shareholders accordingly.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Board in
determining the policy for the corporate governance of the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2024:

(i) Developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) Reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) Reviewed and monitored the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) Developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and other
rules applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) Reviewed the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

We will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for and has the general power over the
management and operation of the Group's business, including
determining the business strategies and investment plans, implementing
resolutions passed at the Shareholders’ general meetings, and exercising
other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the Memorandum
and Atticles of Association. The Board also assumes the responsibilities
for developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the Company
on corporate governance, risk management and internal control and
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company, the Board
has established three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
(collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the
Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
legal action against its Directors, and will conduct annual review on such
insurance coverage.

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises two
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Weisong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Kaisi
Mr. Chen Rui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gao Pingyang
Ms. Huang Rong
Mr. Shang Jian

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Each of our Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained the legal
advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on May 9, 2024,
and (i) understands his or her obligations as a director of a listed issuer
under the Listing Rules.
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During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,
the Board has met at all times the requirements under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent
non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,
the Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which relates to the appointment of independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other
Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as their identity
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Diversity
Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
objective and approach for achieving and maintaining diversity of the
Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. In accordance with the board
diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve board diversity by taking
into account a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and/or length of service.
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The Board currently consists of six male and one female members,
with two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors of age ranging from 42 to 57 with
diversified backgrounds and experience. The Board will take opportunities
to increase the proportion of female members when selecting and
making recommendation on suitable candidates for appointments of
directors. We will ensure that there is a gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior level and are committed to providing career
development opportunities for female staff so that we will have a pipeline
of potential successors to our Board both within such timeline and in the
future. The Board considers it has a balanced mix of skill-set, experience,
expertise, and diversity which enhances decision-making capability and
the overall effectiveness of the Board in achieving sustainable business
operation and enhancing shareholder value.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will from time to
time (i) discuss and agree on expected goals to ensure board diversity,
and (ii) review and, where necessary, update the board diversity policy
to ensure that the policy remains effective. The Company will (i)
disclose the biographical details of each Director and (i) report on the
implementation of the board diversity policy (including whether we have
achieved board diversity) in its annual corporate governance report.

Diversity of Employees

The Company strives to enhance gender diversity of staff and
management to create a fair, diverse and inclusive workplace. As of
December 31, 2024, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce (including
the Company's senior management) was approximately 65.9% male
to 34.1% female. To achieve the goal of improving faimess and create
more opportunities for female employees, the Group has put in place
recruitment and hiring, training and promotion measures such that a diver
range of candidates are considered. The Group also provides physical
and mental health, care and benefits, safe workplace environment and
communication channels to empower our female employees. During the
Reporting Period, the Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the Group's
workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less
relevant.
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Independence of the Board

M

(ii)

(i)

()

V)

(Vi)

(vii)

The Board shall comprise at least three independent non-executive
Directors (or a higher minimum number as stipulated by the Listing
Rules), with at least one-third of its members (or a higher minimum
number as stipulated by the Listing Rules) being independent non-
executive Directors. This composition ensures a high degree of
independence for the Board and enables it to exercise effective
independent judgment;

The Nomination Committee shall strictly comply with the
independence assessment criteria under the Listing Rules when
nominating and appointing independent non-executive Directors;

The Nomination Committee is authorized to evaluate the
independence of independent non-executive Directors annually
in accordance with the independence standards stipulated in the
Listing Rules, to ensure that independent non-executive Directors
can exercise independent judgment;

Independent non-executive Directors shall submit an annual
independence confirmation letter to the Company and promptly
notify the Company of any changes in their personal information
that may materially affect their independence;

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) shall
have the right to request additional information and documents
from the management concerning matters discussed at the Board
meeting, and obtain independent professional advice when
necessary, with all related expenses to be borne by the Company;

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) or any
of their close associates who have a material interest in any matter
to be considered at the meeting shall disclose such interest prior to
the meeting and abstain from voting on relevant resolutions, and
not be counted toward the quorum. Independent non-executive
Directors and their associates who have no interest in the matter
shall attend the meeting; and

The chairman of the Board shall hold meeting with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually, without the presence
of other Directors, to discuss significant matters and any matters of
concern.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company's operations and businesses as well as
his/her responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors
with updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided the Directors with written training materials in relation to their
roles, functions and duties.

Based on the information provided by the Directors, during the Reporting
Period, a summary of training received by the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors

EEpE

Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhu Weisong KREMRFHE
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng RIS A
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. Chang Kaisi BT L
Mr. Chen Rui BRIm ST
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Gao Pingyang SRR Pt
Ms. Huang Rong "HALL
Mr. Shang Jian i 2 5 A

Notes:
A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums and/or briefings

B: participating in training provided by law firms and that relating to the business of the
Company

C reading materials on various topics, including corporate governance matters, directors’
duties and responsibilities, Listing Rules and other relevant laws
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which requires the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhu is currently the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board
believes that Mr. Zhu has been instrumental to the growth and business
expansion of the Group. The Board is of the view that the vesting the
roles of the chairman and chief executive officer on him is beneficial
to the management of the Company and therefore currently do not
propose to separate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer.
While this will constitute a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, the Board believes that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company. See the section headed “Corporate
Governance Practices” on page 54 of this annual report for details.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
us pursuant to which they agreed to act as executive Directors with
effect from the date of the service contract until the third annual general
meeting of our Company since the Listing Date (always subject to re-
election as and when required under the Memorandum and Articles of
Association). Either party has the right to give not less than three months’
written notice to terminate the agreement.

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with our Company on December 18, 2024. The initial term for their
appointment letters shall commence from the date of the appointment
letter until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the
Listing Date (always subject to re-election as and when required under
the Memorandum and Articles of Association). Either party has the
right to give not less than one months' written notice to terminate the
agreement.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with our Company on December 18, 2024. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall be from the date of the
Prospectus until the third annual general meeting of the Company since
the Listing Date (always subject to re-election as and when required
under the Memorandum and Articles of Association). Either party has the
right to give not less than one months' written notice to terminate the
agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered, or has
proposed to enter, a service contract with any member of the Group
(other than contracts expiring or determinable by the Group within
one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation)).
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, at every
annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Zhu Weisong, Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng and Mr. Chang Kaisi
shall retire by rotation at the AGM and are being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, and
for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment of Directors and succession plans for the Directors.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on January 10,
2025, only one Board meeting was held during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report. However, the Company
in accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, expects to
convene Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and
at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of majority
of the Directors, either in person or through electronic means of
communication. Notices of no less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to
attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman will also hold meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors annually without the
presence of other Directors.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers
are dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the company secretary of
the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information and
records.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates
have potential or actual conflicts of interests.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,
one Board meeting was held. The Company did not convene any general
meeting for the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report. The attendance of each Director at the Board meeting is set out
below:
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A
Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)
HERER/ EEAY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
Name of Directors BEps E38eE EifzEeel yHzEEER REZEEER BREAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhu Weisong REDEE 1/ N/A @R 11 1 N/A RER
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng BRert 1/ N/A @R N/A R EF NATER  NATER
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Chang Kaisi BAAEE 1 N/A TEF N/A TER N/A TER N/A TER
Mr. Chen Rui 3y 11 NATER N/A &R NANER  NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors BV 7481772 %
Mr. Gao Pingyang BTEEE 1/1 1 N/A MiER 1/1 N/A NER
Ms. Huang Rong BANL 1 11 11 N/A TER N/A TER
Mr. Shang Jian HEEE 1 11 11 1/1 N/A TER

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors' securities
transactions since the Listing Date. Having made specific enquiry with the
Directors, all of the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the period
from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company's expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with
the Company's senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval must be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board confirmed that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors, which corporate governance functions
includes:

(i) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(iif) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(v) to review the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report of the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Gao
Pingyang, Ms. Huang Rong and Mr. Shang Jian, being all independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Gao
Pingyang.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit and
appointment of external auditors, provide advice and comments to the
Board and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, one meeting
of the Audit Committee was held to primarily discuss and consider the
following matters:

(i) reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the fiscal year as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor
relating to accounting issues and major findings in course of audit;
and

(i) reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company's accounting and financial reporting function), risk
management systems and processes and the re-appointment of
the Auditor; the Board had not deviated from any recommendation
given by the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the Auditor.
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The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including one executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhu Weisong, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Huang Rong and Mr.
Shang Jian. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhu Weisong.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and
diversity required of the Board annually and making recommendations
on any proposed change to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for
board members, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses candidates or incumbents on the
basis of integrity, experience, skills and time and effort devoted in the
performance of their duties. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be submitted to the Board for decision. The written
terms of reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Policy on Directors Nomination

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, one meeting of
the Nomination Committee was held to primarily discuss and consider
the following matters:

(i) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(i) assessed independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

(i) considered the changes in the composition of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee;

(iv) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and

(v) considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
including one executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhu Weisong, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gao Pingyang and Mr.
Shang Jian. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Shang Jian.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management, making recommendations to the Board on
the Company's remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and
senior management; establishing a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration and/
or approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, one meeting of
the Remuneration Committee was held to primarily discuss and consider
the following matters:

(i) reviewed and approved the proposals of remuneration of the
Directors and senior management; and

(i) the policy and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and
senior management

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and
senior management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 23 to 30 of this annual report, for the year ended December 31,
2024, are set out below:
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Band of remuneration (HKS$)

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
More than HK$5,000,000

Total
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group's results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company's financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company has provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on page 154 to 158 of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Company's assets and its shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk
management systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Company employs a well-defined risk management process to
identify, manage, mitigate, monitor, and enhance controls, enabling
timely detection and response to potential risks.

The risk management process mainly includes: risk identification, risk
assessment, risk management and mitigation, as well as risk monitoring
and enhancement.

EXHAARSARNARFE LM ABRE
AEFREAMOPBERRNBE - UEE
N R BR AN A R R 2N R B 9RO A B AN SR
BORENASRE -

BEEBERNEFSRHLSENFEERER
NEEESRRETESSRHENARQF]
MBBRELANBFG - ARBEBARNES
SERNBR‘EEEARARIR - AMREA
BHRMEF -

EEW DM AR EABETE
REMBENELERRBNFHRBRNMET
MEBRTHARE -

R REH AR RERE B HRKR A PR
AEMNBHAINAFEREE 1542 158AH
B BEN R

EEgRAAFREEMOAEES RE
REELRL - MREARFNEEMERY
Mz - B EBFRF AR EH AP &
BB IR R AE AR - UERIRITHARED
EHERREERRBIED RN - AFRH
ThE EEIEMIEHRR RBEEKFET B IRHI R
B BRERTEREANRERAKBRNEF
H AR IEBEIRE

NERBPAENRRERRE  ETRRE
Bl BEEREY - EEMMCE - MEERA
FESER R -

RiERRIZEERE  ARER - BB
it RREENMEY - RREEMIGE

Annual Report 2024 F3

69



70

Corporate Governance Report

/.IE% /I:l #& (=]

The Group's internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. Our internal control and risk management system encompasses
corporate governance, operational management, legal affairs, finance,
and auditing. The internal audit department reviews the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems across key
business processes. All corrective actions recommended by internal audit
have been duly implemented.

The internal audit department has not made any significant findings that
could have a material impact on the effectiveness of our internal control
system.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
and considered the internal control system to be effective and adequate.
The review covered all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. In particular,
the Board considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions. The review was made
by discussions with the management of the Company, its external and
internal auditors and the assessment conducted by the Audit Committee.

Whistleblowing Policy:

The Company has established an anti-fraud policy to encourage
employees and external parties to report anonymously or by using their
real names through channels such as whistleblowing email.

The internal audit department is responsible for conducting follow-

up investigations and reporting any material misconduct related to the
Company to the Audit Committee.
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With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously of
its obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Company has adopted a relevant policy which sets out guidelines and
procedures to the Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and
timely manner. Briefing session is held regularly for officers to facilitate
their understanding and compliance with the policy.

We are a holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands. As a result, we will rely to some extent on any dividends
distributed by our PRC subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from
our PRC subsidiaries to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In
addition, regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends
of a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax profits
as determined in accordance with its articles of association and the
accounting standards and regulations in the PRC.

Our Board has the discretion to pay interim dividends and to recommend
to Shareholders to pay final dividends. Any declaration and payment as
well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our Articles and the
Cayman Companies Act. Under the Cayman Islands law, our Company
may pay a dividend out of either profit or share premium account,
provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would
result in our Company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business. As advised by our Cayman Islands
counsel, subject to the above, there is no restriction under the Cayman
Islands law for our Company to declare and pay a dividend despite our
accumulated losses. A decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of any such dividends, will depend on a number
of factors, including our results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition, payments by our subsidiaries of cash dividends to us, business
prospects, statutory, regulatory and contractual restrictions on our
declaration and payment of dividends and other factors that our Board
may consider important. We do not have a pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount
will be declared or distributed in any year.
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The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 was
approximately as follows:

Type of Services FIR 75 %8 51
Audit services EAT IR
Non-audit services JEEETARTS
Total st

Mr. Zhu Yuancheng (4R7TAX) is one of the joint company secretaries of
the Company. Mr. Zhu Yuancheng is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and
procedures and applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
engaged Ms. Yu Wing Sze (FR#k&¥), a manager of the Listing Services
Department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company providing corporate
accounting and corporate secretarial services in Hong Kong), as another
joint company secretary to assist Mr. Zhu Yuancheng in discharging his
duties as company secretary of the Company. Ms. Yu's primary corporate
contact person at the Company is Mr. Zhu Yuancheng.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhu Yuancheng and Ms. Yu Wing Sze
have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As the
Company listed on the Stock Exchange on January 10, 2025, Mr. Zhu
Yuancheng had taken less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report
and will be obliged to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in this
year.
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The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Company's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of
the Board Committees or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, of the Company will attend the AGMs to answer
Shareholders" questions. The Auditor will also attend the AGMs to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
https://www.blokees.com.cn/, where up-to-date information on the
Company's business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access. The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy during the
Reporting Period, and in view of the above measures put in place, it
considered the policy was effective in maintaining communication with
the Shareholders.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals

According to the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. General meetings
shall also be convened and resolutions to a meeting agenda shall be
added on the written requisition of any one or more members deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added
to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionists, provided that
such requisitionists held as of the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened and resolutions to a meeting agenda
shall be added on the written requisition of any one member which is a
recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting
agenda, and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as of the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the head office
of the Company at Building 10, 1016 Tianlin Road, Minhang District,
Shanghai, the PRC by mail or by e-mail ir@bloks.com.

The Company adopted amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association on December 18, 2024, which has been effective from
Listing Date. From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the
said amended and restated memorandum and articles of association did
not have any change.
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This Report is the first annual environmental, social and governance
(hereinafter referred to as "ESG") report issued by Bloks Group Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Bloks"), aiming to systematically elaborate
on Bloks' strategies, policies, measures and achievements in corporate
sustainability and social responsibility fulfillment during the year 2024.

Timeframe

This Report covers the information and data from January 1, 2024 to
December 31, 2024 (hereinafter referred to as the “Reporting Period”)
about the Company. In order to enhance the comparability and forward-
looking nature of this Report, some contents have been appropriately
extended to cover previous and subsequent years.

Report Boundary Reference

Unless otherwise specified, this Report covers Bloks Group Limited and
its wholly-owned subsidiaries and controlled subsidiaries whose financial
reports have been consolidated. For ease of expression, it is also referred

"o, "o

to as “Bloks”, “the Company”, “Company”, or “we" in this Report.
Data Description

Unless otherwise specified, the information and data disclosed in this
Report are sourced from the Company's statistical reports and official
documents, and have been reviewed by relevant departments. The
Company undertakes that there are no false records or misleading
statements in this Report, and is responsible for the authenticity and
accuracy of its contents.

Preparation Basis

This Report is mainly prepared in accordance with Appendix C2
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” to the “Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited” (hereinafter referred to as the "Stock Exchange™).

Confirmation and Approval

This Report was approved by the Board of Directors on March 21, 2025,
after confirmation by the management.

Report Acquisition

This Report has been included in the Company’s 2024 Annual
Report. For environmental protection considerations, we recommend
reading the electronic version of this Report, which is available on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(https://www.blokees.com.cn).
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Corporate governance is the foundation of sustainable development
for enterprises, reflecting the compliance of daily operations as
well as the long-term vision and social responsibility of enterprises.
Bloks is committed to improving its management level, adhering to
business ethics, and promoting a sustainable business ecosystem
through sound governance strategies.

1.1 Corporate Governance

Bloks strictly complies with relevant laws, regulations
and regulatory requirements for listed companies in its
operating locations, including the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and the “Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited”, establishes a sound corporate governance system,
continuously optimizes its corporate governance structure,
and is committed to continuously improving its governance
levels to promote sustainable and healthy development of the
Company.

There are three special committees (i.e., Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee) under
the Board of Directors of the Company. The governance bodies
at all levels operate in compliance with regulations and have
clearly defined rights and responsibilities. And each committee
operates in accordance with its own working system, ensuring
standardized overall operations of the Company.

Board of Directors

BET
Audit Nomination
Committee Committee
BitEEE REEEE

Structure of Board of Directors of Bloks

hEAEFERE
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We have adopted a diversity policy for board members, which
takes into comprehensive consideration multiple factors in the
nomination and appointment of board members, including but
not limited to diversity in gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and/
or length of service, so as to ensure that the Board can
provide professional and independent advice and judgment
on important matters such as business strategy and risk
prevention and control from muiltiple perspectives.

As of the Reporting Period, we have a total of seven directors,
with independent non-executive directors accounting for more
than one-third of the total board members, including one
female independent non-executive director.

Number of board members by director gender

HERURIFIDNESKE AR

1,
14.3%

= Executive director

= Male Female
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42.8%

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

BAFRMEFTEREZTICECR -
ERENEZTEFEKER  F4
EEZHEAE  BREETRIE
Al FER - ERBEES - BF
85 RAE - AER SRR E
ERHNZ KT - URERES
SN S (B AR E T BRS - [R
BREEEERE HRHEXBEY
ORI L] [

BEREHHE BB LEE
FOBUFATEFARENES
SRANBN=pz—ML H¥E
B RMBIERITESE -

Number of board members by director type
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1.2 ESG Governance 1.2 ESGHE

1.2.1 ESG governance structure 1.2.] ESCEFEH1E

While pursuing sustainable growth, Bloks is committed to
establishing a comprehensive management framework
to ensure that all its business levels effectively fulfill
their corresponding responsibilities. With a clear
governance structure and efficient collaboration among
the management at all levels, it can effectively promote
and implement ESG strategies and enhance ESG
performance. The Board of Directors is the highest
authority responsible for the management and oversight
of the Company’s ESG matters. The Company has
established an ESG Committee composed of the senior
management to drive the Company’s ESG initiatives,
and has formed an ESG Working Group responsible
for coordination and execution, with relevant functional
departments and business units collaborating on specific
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implementation.

Board of Directors

« To evaluate and review various ESG risks, and make the final confirmation

« To supervise the Company's ESG strategy, development policies and
progress towards its goals

« To regularly review and approve the ESG report, and guide the management
to carry out corresponding work

EEE

o FHEREFIAESCAR « WETTRMER

o ESENRIESCEIRS - BB KB IRHR

o EHIRR RBEHESCREWIEGERERMUEIIE /

ESG Committee
To be chaired by the Chairman and CEO, and be composed of the senior
management from each business division

+ To conduct ESG issue research and risk assessment

« To formulate ESG policies, strategies and goals, and monitor the progress of
ESG strategies and goals

« To organize and coordinate the implementation and execution of
ESG-related work

ESGZE&

- HEERFEBWTEECERE  SEBIPINSRERBERK

+ FARESGERIAWITT KRR ATk

- HIEESGHIE - BB &k B1R - W ESEESGERE &k B RS

o MABBTESCTIEMBITEIEE
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ESG Working Group
To be composed of the management and executives from each business
division of the Group

+ To implement various ESG-related affairs, and promote the implementation
of ESG plans

+ To manage various ESG risks in daily operations
To prepare ESG disclosure materials for the Company

ESGIME A
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. HIREIESCHEEM K

ESG Governance Structure of Bloks
HEATESGE A RIE
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As the highest leading body for ESG-related work, the
Board of Directors bears the ultimate responsibility
for ESG governance policies, strategies, relevant goal
setting, goal progress review, and ESG performance.
Composed of senior management, the ESG Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Company's ESG strategy,
goals and risk management, while assessing the progress
towards achieving ESG goals, ensuring the integration of
ESG principles into the Company's operations, exploring
new sustainable development models that combine
ESG with the Company's business, as well as regularly
reporting progress to the Board of Directors.

In its daily business operations, Bloks has established
an ESG Working Group responsible for guiding and
supervising the implementation process of ESG goals
across various functional departments, while monitoring
the implementation of sustainable development
management policies, ensuring the comprehensive
integration of sustainable development concepts into
daily operations, as well as regularly reporting progress to
the ESG Committee.

Bloks incorporates ESG risks into its overall risk
management system, and formulates risk response
measures by identifying and assessing the likelihood,
impact and development trends of key ESG risks. The
Board of Directors regularly oversees the identification
and assessment of ESG risks and opportunities, aiming
to ensure effective operations of the Company's ESG
risk management and internal control systems. During
the Reporting Period, we continuously identified and
assessed risks related to climate change, and reviewed
and optimized measures to address climate change.

We actively pay attention to the demands of stakeholders
by establishing timely and transparent communication
and response channels with such various stakeholders,
regularly conduct assessments on important ESG issues,
and formulate our sustainable development strategies
accordingly.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIZ - tERERHSE

EESEAESCIIENRSE
B - WESGE AT - &
B - BB ESIE - B2
ERFTARESCGREBARK
Ef-HEREEEMEKD
ESGZE &8 EHH 1 AIESG
B - BEMRERERIBR
RETESG B IZERGEE - IR
ESGEESHNREEHRLE -
REESGHAREKBLEEH
AHEEENERN - WEHm
EEGERER -

FRBEBES L MEAK
SESCGT{E/NE - BFIEER
EE R RBERERIPIESGE 2 E
TR WARERREES
HEEBREITER  (REA
BEETIEP2EEMAFE
BRES - WEHMESGE S
SERTIEHER -

& A ESCRARMA R R E
BEREZRET - BEH
IV ETESG B 52 [\ b 35 A O 7]
B RERENERBE
HIERBELER EFE
JE HA B B ESG R e B4 4 1O 28k
BB - MR A BIESGRR
BN AR R A RUE
17 - MIEHRE - BPHES
BIMFH SRR E L ERE R -
Ol B A B L SRR B FE ¥t 45
Ie °

e2 Alnbab iRy el apapcava
K- BREBBRERR
B - TEREE R AR T MR
Ko EHIR R E BESGE AR
i THF - AL HIE 2RI+
RBTXRIRR -

Annual Report 2024 F3

79



80

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

=i

HERE

/D#&l:u

1.2.2 Communication with stakeholders

Stakeholders
FlREEE S

Government/regulatory

authorities

BT BB

Bloks attaches great importance to building positive
and interactive relationships with stakeholders, while
continuously improving normalized communication
mechanisms, establishing diversified communication
channels, and understanding the demands and concerns
of various stakeholders, thus providing references and
bases for the orderly implementation of ESG-related
work.

The Company has taken full account of its business
nature, operating conditions and industry development
to identify stakeholders, including shareholders and
investors, governments and regulatory authorities,
customers and consumers, suppliers, partner factories,
employees, community members, and the media.
Through diversified communication channels and
mechanisms, the Company actively responds to the
concerns of stakeholders, integrates their demands,
opinions and suggestions into its daily operations and
decision-making processes, and continuously improves
the ESG management level of Bloks.

Issues of concern

BrEE

Compliance operations
Corporate development
Policy implementation status
Significant social contributions
A
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Communication methods and channels

BRI NRRE

Filing/submission of written documents
Regular/irregular face-to-face communication
Investigation/exchange meeting
Government-enterprise symposium
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Stakeholders
Fz=EEE A

Shareholders/investors

TR EE

Suppliers/partner factories

HeRER, BIETH

Consumers/customers

HEE/ P

Issues of concern

BOXEE

Shareholders’ interests

Operating performance prospects
Financial position

Corporate governance

Risk management

Future development plans

PR s
ES T
IR
BEER
Rk EE
RIREREE

Product quality and safety

Supply chain management
Business ethics

Intellectual property protection
Industry exchange and cooperation
EmBEERTE

HEsEE R

RRERE

MBERRE

TEREAE

After-sales service of products
Protection of consumers’ personal
information

Provide high-quality products and services

Listen to customers' opinions and
suggestions
Quality of products and services

Protect consumers’ rights and interests
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Communication methods and channels

BELNRRE

Regular/irregular communication with
shareholders

General meeting

HKEXnews website and corporate website

Dedicated email address for investor
communication

Investor roadshow meetings and results
announcements meetings
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REERBEGZNFEEEME

Supply chain quality/safety/responsible
management and audit

Supplier training and enhancement

Supplier exchange conference

HEREE L2 BETERRER
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HEARRAE

Customer service hotline

Daily operation and communication
Membership center

Market research

Corporate website

Customer satisfaction survey
Customer complaint mechanism
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Stakeholders
Fz=iEEE A

Employees

il
H

Community public/media

HRAR, S

Issues of concern

BrEE

Protection of employees’ rights and interests
Employees’ compensation and benefits
Employees’ promotion and development
Employees’ training and development
Occupational health and safety

Diversity and equal opportunities
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BT ETHRER
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Social development

Environmental protection

Co-construction between schools
and enterprises

Cultural and humanistic activities

Brand marketing activities

New product launch

Research and development innovation

Social welfare undertakings

HEERE
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Communication methods and channels

BEALNERE

Personnel system/Employment contract
Face-to-face communication

Employee training

Performance evaluation and feedback
Regular staff meetings

Regular communication and feedback surveys
Communication session of internal activities
ANEHIE/B8ER

H S EB®

==

B EZ R RE

FHETE

TE BB BT R R

NS B BIRED

Participate in public welfare activities

Carry out exchanges with communities
and non-governmental organizations

Daily communication

Public opinion monitoring and response

Official website

Social media
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1.2.3 Analysis of material issues

Identifying and assessing the materiality of different ESG
issues is of great significance for the planning of our
future ESG-related work and the formulation of ESG goals.
We conduct the identification and analysis of material
issues through various channels such as stakeholder
questionnaire surveys, exchanges and interviews, and
benchmarking with peers, with a view to determining
the substantive issues that have a material impact on
our ESG management and are of widespread concern
to stakeholders. In 2024, the Board of Directors and
the management have reviewed the materiality analysis
results and confirmed the materiality of ESG issues and
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the issue matrix during the Reporting Period.

Identification

of material issues
BAMEE
% Bl

RBERNNMEERE -

On the basis of the business characteristics of the Company and in accordance with standards such
as the Stock Exchange's “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG
Guide"), identify key ESG issues relevant to the Company and form a list of ESG issues of concern
to the Company. \

IRB AR EBISE - Al (BRIR - e RERRETAD (CESGSPA ) SR - #5|
HAAEMRESCEARZERE - U AR FTBIMESGERIEE -

Conduct a comprehensive survey of internal and external stakeholders by distributing questionnaires

on material ESG issues to understand the concerns of different stakeholders.

Summarize the issues that various stakeholders are more concerned about.

%%@g?ﬁ‘ESGEK’Iﬁiﬁﬁﬁéfﬁ% CHRSMNBIERTETT 2 EMNREE - THRTREFSRAAETH
JEmn ©

BEHEFRBERTERBONZERE -

Based on the survey results, analyze the identified material issues and evaluate their impact on the
Company and the stakeholders.

The basis for ranking is the severity and likelihood of the positive and negative impacts that each
issue may have, as well as the Company's ability to respond to and manage these impacts.

Form a matrix of material issues.

REFEER  HRERWEXNEABETON  HAEYRBMANRAET T ERE -
PR TS ERER AN EAREmPENREN  BAOME - URARERENE
IS BNRE S o

e BRI ZERBAERE -

The Board of Directors is responsible for conducting final review and approval to ensure that the
disclosed issues are in line with the Company's strategic goals and policy requirements.

EFRRBETRAEMMLE - BRKERET S QR E RNBREK -

Identification and Analysis Process of Material Issues

BEARMHEER EATRE
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Matrix of material issues

During the Reporting Period, we identified and
summarized 6 high-materiality issues, 7 medium-
materiality issues, and 2 low-materiality issues, based on
which we drew a matrix of materiality issues. These issues
will be disclosed in subsequent sections of this Report in
response to the demands of stakeholders.

BEANEZEERERE

R¥RE IR - BAAIRR L ARAS
HeESEAMHEE - 7T
BEAMEEN2REENEZ
B R AR EA R EE
[ - ELEBBAEREREDN
BEIH T IABEE - ARIERNE

Materiality to external stakeholders
HIMBRIZEEBA S NWEAY

HERETT ROFRSK

R&D innovation

Highly material issues TR

BEEAMEHHE
Product quality and safety
EnEERTE
Business ethics
[HESELS

Corporate governance
PPN
©BXER

Quality customer services

BEEPRY

Employee rights and benefits
B Tzt BE Al

@ Pollutant manage
ERMER

® Social participation and contribution
HEL2ERFRE

Generally material issues
Low —REAMZE
= Low Materiality to Bloks High
s HERAWEAM z

e Environmental issues e Social issues e Governance issues
RIFERE a0 JRIEERR

Matrix of Material Issues of Bloks

R B S EER
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1.3 Risk Management 1.3 ERER

Bloks is committed to improving its internal control and risk
management system to ensure corporate compliance and
transparency. The Company adopts a comprehensive risk
management framework to ensure effective operation of its
risk management and internal control systems. Under the
leadership of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee
oversees the Group's financial reporting, risk management and
internal control systems, regularly discusses their effectiveness
with the management, and supervises the internal audit
function.

The Company conducts risk identification, management,
response, supervision and improvement through a clear risk
management process, so as to promptly detect and address
potential risks. Our risk assessment matrix is divided into
four levels, i.e., low, medium, high and very high, based
on the likelihood and impact of risks, covering financial,
operational, public opinion and compliance risks, among
others. We formulate and implement internal control activities
in accordance with the risk management and internal control
requirements under the committee of sponsoring organizations
of the treadway commission (“COSO") internal control
framework and the “Corporate Governance Code” of the
Stock Exchange, including unified process systems, authority
management, approval flows, etc, so as to effectively manage
risks.

MEABRANTERTERREIE
BE BRABARKREER - 27
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Risk management
and response

JER\ e ' FER %

Risk supervision

Risk identification Risk assessment

and improvement

[\ B AT A L B A

[\ R

Risk Management Process of Bloks
ﬁg —_”—l: El IE/)IL*E
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1.4 Business Ethics

We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations such as the
"Company Law of the People’'s Republic of China", the “Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
and the "Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic
of China”, and have formulated strict internal regulations. In
the “Employee Handbook”, we have clearly defined the code
of conduct for employees and the reward and punishment
system, aiming at comprehensively preventing improper
behaviors such as corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. During the Reporting Period, we prepared
and released the “Anti-Fraud Management Regulations of Bloks
Group” to further improve corporate governance structure and
internal control processes, thus effectively preventing fraud and
corruption.

Bloks creates an open and transparent working environment,
and encourages employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to actively voice their opinions and report
violations. We encourage employees and all sectors of society
to promptly report through channels such as reporting email,
and establish a reporting evaluation committee responsible
for arranging full-time investigators to handle such reports
appropriately. We commit to adopting strict confidentiality
and protection measures against the personal information
and reporting materials of whistle-blowers, establish a whistle-
blower protection mechanism, and eradicate any acts of
retaliation, discrimination and infringement against whistle-
blowers, so as to effectively safeguard their information
security.

We attach great importance to the cultivation of corporate
integrity and incorruptibility culture, regularly conduct
dissemination and publicity of business ethics such as anti-
corruption and anti-unfair competition, and enhance the
incorruptibility awareness, anti-monopoly awareness, and fair
competition concept of all employees, especially middle and
senior management personnel. During the Reporting Period,
the Company organized anti-corruption training covering all
directors, senior managements and employees by releasing
anti-corruption training materials on its internal platform. During
the Reporting Period, the Company did not encounter any
lawsuits or cases related to corruption or unfair competition.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT
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Information Security and Privacy Protection

To protect user privacy and data security, Bloks strictly complies
with relevant laws and regulations such as “the Cybersecurity
Law of the People's Republic of China” and "the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
thus ensuring compliance with standards in the collection, use,
storage, transmission and security of personal data. Meanwhile,
with a view to ensuring the effective implementation of
compliance management, we have formulated and executed a
series of institutional policies, including the “Code of Conduct
for Employee Information Security”, the “Network Security
Management Regulations”, the “Data Compliance Guidelines”,
the "Personal Information Protection System”, the “Data
Classification and Grading Management Regulations”, and
the "Network Security Incident Emergency Response Plan”,
providing a framework and guidance for our employees’
actions in safeguarding data protection and security. Regarding
user privacy, Bloks has formulated and issued the privacy
policy titled “Bloks CLUB" and the rules for the processing of
children’s personal information to ensure strict confidentiality
of user data.

Bloks has established a Network Data and Security Compliance
Committee to ensure the effective implementation of
compliance management, which is overseen by the Board
of Directors. The Committee is responsible for formulating
the Company's overall network compliance strategy, while
implementing data security compliance requirements,
supporting daily business processes of business divisions, and
conducting data compliance assessments.
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Promoting document security management and control #3 g% 2 &%

« Construct and optimize the document security management and control system; ensure the encrypted
storage and circulation of key documents; have documents sent out externally go through identity
verification, access control and approval processes; and enhance hierarchical and categorical document
management capability and operational efficiency.

c ETXEREEERARNEREEL - BARRBXENNZFRHERSE  INEERLLES MR
& ERZEHRMBLRE  BRAXEI RO BETRENTEERE -

Ensuring the security of online business information REE#R P ¥ EERE

« Strictly encrypt and store core data and user privacy information at the database level.

+ Implement a dual review mechanism combining Al intelligent review and professional manual review for
user-generated contents (including images and texts) to ensure content security compliance with
regulatory requirements and prevent potential risks.

- ROBBREAFBILE SESREEEEE B INEFHF -

- APZMOAR (BREBERMNMXT) RBASEEXRRATEXEZRAESNEERRET - BR
NELENAEEER  HEEERR -

Utilizing a public cloud environment hosting system A f A B ERETE RS

+ Optimize workload and performance, keep different system components isolated, enhance system
security, as well as implement a robust backup system, strict authentication and access control protocols
to ensure data security.

« BIETIFAEMERE - RIS TERGAEGRR  EREGLEMN  BHARKNEBNER - BRIEW
SthRB MG G  EREELR -

« Deploy data desensitization technology for data operations and conduct rigorous compliance audits to
ensure adherence to regulatory standards.

« BREERAEERAEN - EREBARMET  BRTAEERE -

Information Security and Privacy Protection Management Measures of Bloks

MmEAEE L2 ERLREEREE
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Self-developed anti-counterfeiting code technology

B B AR RS B 1l

Through its full-link anti-counterfeiting and anti-diversion management system, Bloks not only effectively prevents
product diversion but also ensures the security and traceability of product information. Through its self-developed
coding algorithm, Bloks converts data information into a dot matrix image and prints it on the packaging box. Then,
consumers can scan and decode it with a specialized device to ensure the authenticity of product origin.

In the production stage, the bound anti-counterfeiting code is deeply integrated into the assembly line process,
where product information is bound in bulk and managed through automated equipment and handheld terminals.
In the warehousing stage, the anti-counterfeiting code is bound with the goods status, as well as the warehouse
and storage location information, ensuring the security and accuracy of data throughout the warehousing process.
When goods are delivered from the warehouse, the information is automatically associated with the dealer or
order data, ensuring secure transmission and effective verification of the information. In the sales stage, dealers
can use the full-link mini program to scan codes for shipment, which enables the recording of the entire process
of product circulation and ensures the transparency of the channels and the integrity of the data.

The entire system ensures the security of product information in the circulation process, enhances the control
ability of the Bloks brand over information security, and effectively prevents the occurrence of unauthorized
product diversion.

hEEEERENHRENFEEERS  TEEMMLIERSFE  EMRTHARESNLE2EETEN
o BBETMRBEL  hEASHRBEEEB(CANERYNRERRS L  HEEABERREREL
BRI - EEREmAREEME -

EEERR  BREHERERAKEERE  HEHTERERLEBAMRBRAFHOGERES
BIE - ERMER  HRBEERRE REMBAERHE BRBBERMBIETHREER - HE
B ERELHEAERREDEY  RETESNLE2EHEEURE - HERER  LHHBE2 R
PEFRHHES  BERERABNDBELRE  BRREENEREEBIENTEIE -

EERGHERRTEARESENEABETNREE  BATHERESEEL2NEREN  YERHIET
ERSMEL -

During the Reporting Period, the bricks information system REHRE - MBANEREER
of Bloks successfully passed Level 3 assessment of the FARIBRIE T RR L2 ERIRES
cybersecurity classified protection and completed the filing %&/E\J 5T WA P T ERTF
procedures with relevant departments. Meanwhile, all the & o R - RAIFTAHAPP - /N2
APPs, mini-programs and related website domains of the Fr RARRA AL B 1 B IRIRHE T
Company have completed ICP filings as regulated, ensuring X TICPIBE » HER T ARIERGE
the Company's legal compliance in business operations and EHRREEAHRNT - LAMBATH
also providing a solid legal and compliance foundation for the ARERERIEMHTRENEENA
sustainable development of Bloks. %ﬁ%ﬁ%

Annual Report 2024 F3

89



90

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HEREARE

Bloks attaches great importance to product quality, continuously
strengthens its quality management system, and ensures that
every product and service meets external standards and customer
expectations. Through innovation-driven strategies and rigorous
quality control, Bloks is committed to providing consumers with safe
and quality products, establishing a leading position in the industry,
and promoting sustainable development of the society.

2.1 Innovative Drive
2.1.1 R&D innovation

Bloks always regards innovation as the core driving force
for its sustained growth and technological leadership,
and is committed to continuously enhancing its
competitiveness through technological breakthroughs and
product innovation. The Company has a well-established
management system for R&D innovation, and have
formulated management system documents such as
“Matrix Planning”, “Project Proposal Application”, “Pricing
Process” and “Shipment Application”, as well as technical
R&D process system documents such as “Patent
Application” and “Mold Opening Review”, covering the
entire process from R&D resource allocation to innovative
project management. This year, Bloks' investment in R&D
amounted to RMB192.5 million, accounting for 8.6% of
the Company's total revenue for the same period.

R&D system

Bloks has established a collaborative product R&D system
featuring “vertical line (studio) + horizontal line (product
support)”. The vertical line team leverages IP resources
to create product categories through the launch of series
products. Such a team embraces product personnel
(who are responsible for category and product definition,
product matrix planning, project coordination, project
R&D advancement, and product launch management)
and concept personnel (who are responsible for original
painting concepts, 3D concepts, and graphic design).
Currently, there are multiple vertical line product teams
established in Shanghai and Hangzhou. The horizontal
line team is responsible for providing corresponding
professional support, the packaging team is responsible
for packaging design schemes and brand channel display
schemes, and the SKU digitalization team is responsible
for SKU information digitalization, manual design, color
management, etc.
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When the product has a well-established creative
framework and functional design, and a relatively mature
product concept and prototype are formed as well,
we will continue to advance the product development
process to ensure that the product can be smoothly
transformed from a design concept into a physical
product. We will first carry out business planning, then
proceed with the conceptual design of the original
artwork for R&D, clarify the direction of conceptual
design, move on to 3D appearance design after approval
by the IP party, and transform product concept into a
high-precision 3D conceptual model. Through multiple
rounds of internal and external reviews, we will strictly
control the details and functionalities such as product
modeling, painting design and mobility. Subsequently,
we will carry out structural design to optimize the
internal structural layout of the product and to ensure its
stability and functionality. Based on this, we will perform
mold design and development to produce high-quality
molds, thus providing a guarantee for mass production.
Finally, we will deliver the mold to our partner factory
for production. With its advanced production technology
and strict quality control system, the factory will complete
the mass production, achieving a perfect transformation
from concept to physical object and from design to mass
production.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIZ - tERERHSE

EEMART TEMNEIBER
FMINBERRAET - WA EBRH
B EE AR LR AR - RIS
FEREEMMERE - BR
7 dn BE IR R AH B b
RERER - BMIBELET
BELE  RNREEHAERE
B RRET > BB SRS
[ - BBIPT EEER - ARHE
1T3DERRRAET - BERBS
BlenmBENZERIE
B WRBZWAINEFEE -
HEMET  2ERF - TH
1 F AR ED AN T BE A 1T B AR IE
o BEfR - RREERE &
fLERNAREBMRE - R
HIBEERIBENE - UL AR
£ ETRARG R - &
EHREENER - BEMK
HELERMRE - KK &
BARZMERMINE I TRE
TTHE - BREEGENEER
MMEBNEEERER =
REmMMILEEE - BRWE

SEERE - HRHBIBENE

Annual matrix planning

FEERESRE

« Determine R&D
direction, goals and
resource allocation

+ Develop product
development plans
and timelines
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Product concept proposal
Original painting design and
supervision

3D appearance design and
supervision of gray/color models
Structure design

Mold design

Mold development

Production and testing
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New product
Product launch and
supporting continuous track of
design product feedback
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Packaging design

Product launch plan
Marketing material design
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AEmn L #ETE
LR RRE

R&D Process of Bloks
MR R
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Bloks adheres to the concept of sustainable product MBI EEmRMEDERERE
design throughout the entire product development ARBEMRATES  BEE
process, and constructs a value system around “user- & AP &A1 B[ Al R A
friendliness” and “recyclability”. The product follows HEEER  EntEERA
the concept of resource conservation throughout the ZEImERERERMEREGL
entire process from production to end-use, forming a B R Z2aE RN
closed-loop sustainable model of “safety and intellectual TR - RREAE IR
development - long-term use — environmental BIER o

sustainability and recyclability”.

Product metallic-colored material design
EmE&BemRet

Bloks systematically optimizes its materials and production processes in response to the development
needs for metallic-colored components. Due to the need for armor, weapons and other products to exhibit
a metallic texture, traditional plastic materials suffer from issues such as dull colors and frequent injection
molding flow marks, which issues were addressed through post-painting in the past, but this method
is costly and does not meet environmental requirements. To this end, the Company has optimized its
products technologically from three aspects, namely, process optimization, material upgrading and substrate
innovation.

Currently, this metallic-colored material technology has been stably applied to over 80% of the products
containing metallic-colored components, achieving spraying-free mass production, which not only ensures
appearance quality but also reduces production costs, and minimizes the environmental impact associated
with the painting process.

MEAHHEBETHORERY  FRMELCHTHRLEETE - ARET  KRNFERFTEZREE
ER BREBMAGFEECEA  ZELIRRREME  NEFBBRIERMAE - BULITEKA
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Multi-component mold clamping and automated sorting technology optimize the mold
production process

SEACHERF Lo RRMELCERLERE

Considering that Bloks" products contain many characteristic components (unique to each character), if
molds are opened separately for each component, it will result in an excessive number of molds and a
significant increase in investment costs. Meanwhile, excessive molds cannot be fully utilized throughout
their lifespan, thus causing a waste of production capacity and molds. For the purpose of reducing costs and
improving efficiency, Bloks has decided to adopt a scheme of combining multiple types of components into
one set of molds for molding.

Through technical optimization of mold design, processing and injection production, Bloks has successfully
solved the problem of multi-component mold clamping. The adoption of multi-component mold
arrangement technology and advanced sorting and assembly techniques, including ultrasonic sorting
technology, automated equipment such as suction cups, clamps and pouches, has significantly enhanced
production efficiency while reducing the number of molds and associated costs. During mold design,
corresponding molds and sorting equipment are customized based on different sorting methods, achieving
the automation of multi-component mold clamping, injection and sorting. This technology has been widely
applied in various projects, achieving remarkable results.

hEANERBSHEHREZENH(BEARESR)  RABETHEBMRER  HEBRAHERS -
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Innovation in assembly character toys of Bloks

TR AU ACEITTALRN

During the Reporting Period, assembly character toys of Bloks achieved multiple innovative technological
breakthroughs and obtained a number of patents. We precisely control the joint insertion and removal force
and reduce the production precision requirements through unified interface dimensions and ball head/socket
undercut adjustment technology; adopt multi-color injection molding technology to integrally form the joint
structure, avoiding small components during assembly and enhancing simulation degree; and optimize the
wall thickness design of injection-molded components, eliminate surface flow marks, and eliminate the spray
painting process, achieving cost savings and improved processing efficiency.

REHE  HEANHEACENABR T ZHAFERMRKL RS T ZREN - RFABBLR &
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R&D talents and training

Bloks boasts an R&D team with extensive experience and
in-depth understanding of toys, consumer goods and
pop culture. By the end of the Reporting Period, we had
472 R&D personnel, accounting for 66.6% of the total
workforce. With their help, 86.2% of our R&D efforts were
concentrated in the field of product development, and
the size of our R&D team remained stable. Meanwhile,
the Company attaches great importance to the training
of R&D personnel, so as to continuously enhance the
team'’s professional capabilities and innovation levels.
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Training for R&D and production personnel on “Patent Mining for Assembly Character Toys”

EMABBHEACETANERIZIE)EI

During the Reporting Period, Bloks conducted a training session titled “Patent Mining for Assembly Character
Toys" for its R&D personnel. The training focused on three aspects, i.e., strategies, methods and techniques
for patent mining; how to identify and define the core innovation points of products; and how to transform
innovations into high-value patents. Such training has enhanced team members' sensitivity to and practical
capabilities for core innovation points, further stimulating their innovation potentials and laying a solid
foundation for the Company'’s future technological breakthroughs and intellectual property accumulation.
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2.1.2 Cultural empowerment

Bloks promotes innovative design through cultural
empowerment. The Company has engaged in in-
depth collaborations with globally renowned IPs such
as Ultraman and TRANSFORMERS. Through R&D, it
innovatively integrates the characteristics of these
characters with assembling products, which not only
enhances the market competitiveness of our products but
also extends the lifecycle of these IPs through continuous
content development, forming a virtuous cycle of cultural
consumption and commercial value.

In addition, the self-developed Hero Infinity series by
Bloks transforms the classic IPs such as “Journey to the
West", “Romance of the Three Kingdoms”, and “Investiture
of the Gods" through innovative design. It reconstructs
traditional characters in the form of assembly character
toys and incorporates creative elements such as future
mecha and traditional armor, as well as design elements
such as movable joints and assembly structures, allowing
historical and cultural symbols to be expressed across
different eras and effectively broadening the pathways for
young people to contact with traditional culture.

During the Reporting Period, Bloks consistently
strengthened its product matrix by actively diversifying
its offerings and expanding its IP portfolio. Through
increased R&D investment, the Company further enriched
its products’ cultural resonance, effectively driving the
convergence of cultural and commercial value.
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Independently developed Hero Infinity series
B g ER [R5

The Hero Infinity series self-developed by Bloks creatively adapts classic IPs such as “Journey to the West”,
“Romance of the Three Kingdoms”, and “Investiture of the Gods". By combining and reimagining traditional
character traits of these figures like Monkey King, Guan Yu, and Nezha through assembly character toys
forms, and incorporating creative elements such as future mecha and traditional armor, as well as integrating
modern design elements such as movable joints and assembly structures like mecha and dynamic joints,
it enables historical and cultural symbols to achieve cross-temporal expression, effectively broadening the
pathways for young people to contact with traditional culture and achieving sustainable transmission of
cultural genes.

B AT HENLEER | R EEE(FEEL)  (ZBESE) - CGHei)SEHP - LUBBHHE
AERMATNEESEBRET  BY  BESEATKEE  BARKBTFNERETAE  &67
SRR MK ERERA TREARR - HRBHFHRARATE - EEL T RESBRARE -
BRARTE L FRHERBEAXCNRE  BERUEERNAHESRE -

msg
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Early planning

and design stage

FHRBIRFPEER

* Interact with and interview users and

fans to refine product models and features,
and gain a deep understanding of user needs
and preferences.
HAPMMRETEBEGHA - FTEEM
ERBSEL - RN T MR P RERLT

For products targeting different age groups,
clarify the themes and forms of these products,
analyze suitable scenarios and channels, and
ensure that the products can be accepted by
potential consumers.

T RFRRNER - PREMBEM -
TERE - DITEE RIS RMEE - FEREmMEH
BEHBEEX -

Through in-depth consumers research and
engagement, continuously enhance product
quality and consumers experience.

BERAEBEBRNSR - THRAER TEiRIE

K&Eiﬁﬂ‘}%%%%ﬁ%ﬁ ° / K

2.1.3 Consumer ecosystem

Bloks has extensive experience and in-depth
understanding of toys, consumer goods and pop culture.
We follow a consumer-oriented R&D philosophy. Our
research and development is user-centered while
focusing on user feedback and experience, and integrates
consumer insights throughout the entire process from
product design to market launch.

EmLm#

Actively keep a watchful eye on consumer feedback
and pay attention to their needs in terms of the
modeling of assembly character toys, the difficulty
in assembly and the mobility.
BIREEEE R - BTPHE A AER
PHERE - MBS EMFK
Integrate the actual needs and suggestions of
consumers into product development and iteration,
and conduct continuous optimization.
HOEEE N ERE AR AE R EMN
R EITREENE
Based on consumer insights, establish a positive
feedback loop to form a closed-loop system,
continuously enhance product experience, and
ensure continuous improvement and refinement
of products.
ERNEEERR @Y IFEREER - KRR -

mishy - MREMN NEE L HTE -

213 HEELRERE

hEAHETA  HBERRT
XIEEZEERBMARAT
7o BHPEREEEE RER
R IR o RPIEVBTEE AR
PRZzL  IERPREMA
Pk FHEBERREFE
m AT B LA ERAE o

After product launch

J

Consumer-centric Product Design and Full Launch Process
AR P RO B E kAT E T2 RiE
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Leveraging the popularity and influence of its rich IP
matrix, Bloks adopts a content-driven strategy to efficiently
reach and maintain a broad base of consumers, fans and
BFC groups, while collecting feedback on its products.
We build a systematic consumer ecosystem by utilizing
multiple communication channels such as corporate
official account, KOLs, KOCs, fans and BFC accounts,
while combining IP attributes and channel characteristics,
and aligning with activities as organized by the IP party.

Collaborations with

Official accounts

=7 BEEE KOLs and KOCs

EEKOLFIKOCE 1

EETEEA@%IP%E@E’U%D%
F‘fﬂ,?/ 27 RARTESHH

E%X%a&ﬁ’ﬁ%%ﬂ HEERK
HBE - DUATIBFCELE » I
H&E%Euua’ﬂ}iﬁa o T 1@
BRARARE TR - KOL -
KOC ~ M # FIBFCERSFE % &
BEERE  £AIPEEFRE

FEWICALIPH HEE) - ERR
BRHEEEERERE

User-generated
contents
AFRERAR

« Publish high-quality images and videos
that highlight our product design and
the essence of IP characters to enhance
brand awareness.

- BBEMEERIRBRMERRT
HIPA @B E Y E iy B4R 4E -
LASRFHERRE S

« Dynamically adjust the timing of new
product launches and marketing content
releases based on the relevant IP's
content release schedule, effectively
supporting our product marketing.

- ERIPHHIAR A - BAE%E
EmEHREHNTRMGHE - AR
BYHEmELH -

« Our products that recreate the essence of IP
characters stimulate the fans' and BFCs' interests
in product re-creations and subsequent content
sharing utilizing our diverse product offering.
new product features such as cool SEERPACHENES O T ik
appearances and new production FBFCYI 2 = B R4S T = IR BIVER) B
techniques, recreations of classical MBS Z élj EAR o
movie scenes, and assembling « Through official reposting and event operations such
experience sharing, to stimulate the as product photo sharing, assembling and re-creation
activities of our consumer ecosystem. competition and offline exhibitions, we further
FREAIA (EMKOLFKOCE RIHE promote creativity and UGC sharing by consumers,
mESWRMHERNE - BB fans and BFCs on social media platforms.
MBI TEEH RIFE - R - BMBBETEEREMEDES - KA
BERR - IPRARAE ST AR ZIA BEEE - BITAE GTEES - #—
EREREE - WABERE LR SHEERE - HHMBFCIEA R IR EE
BaE R - FARYAFEKATHANEMD=E

+ The KOLs and KOCs we work with
publish contents to highlight the
advantages of our products, including

Systematic Consumer Ecosystem of Bloks

BRI BROEEE LEE
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User co-creation activity through Weixin mini program Bloks Club

HETEAACLUBNEFAFHENES

Weixin mini program Bloks Club features a “Co-Creation Base” function, where voting events are officially
and regularly held to select characters and configurations, encouraging consumers to participate in the
development of new products. Consumers may vote on product proposals (such as the voting for the
ULTRAMAN Honor Version 06 scenario proposal as shown below), and the proposal with the highest
number of votes will be turned into a physical product and then launched on the market. During the
Reporting Period, a number of user co-creation events were held on the Weixin mini program Bloks Club.
Among them, the co-creation event for the “2024 ULTRAMAN Honor Version 06" was successfully launched
in December 2024 and received unanimous praise from users.

AETRAACLUB N F AT AR D8 - BT BRMRITE - BRACHRE - SIHE
ESRIERONE  HBETAYESRRETRE(WTEAN SLRITS RS RER)  GRES
MREBEICARRES - WEDS FRME - NIRRT - £ BERAACLUBLIMERF RS
BRPARIED - Heb - [2024 88 2 BERIR IR AIEE - 202490 12 A 4R - WIESRAFH—
BT -

el RN HoNouR - J 2455 I

ETE PiRT 03)

cO24 BIFHEERIERR
. e

—
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BFC community of Bloks
B BFCHLE

The BFC community is an important platform for Bloks to communicate and create with users. On this
platform, users can engage in re-creations of Bloks" assembly character toys through various forms such as
customization, painting, creative modification, film and television replication, and video creation. Creators
share pictures and videos of themselves assembling Bloks' assembly character toys on social media
platforms, and write to Bloks to express their love and expectations. These creations not only enrich the
cultural connotations of Bloks' assembly character toys, but also help shape the brand’s unique cultural
ecosystem.

BFCHERMEBAEAFPXRMEENEETS - £EETE L APAIAEBEAN 2K  AIEE
B FREAMGRAES SRR - ETHM B HEACRIAN —RAIE - BEEEHRFE L
DEACARPEACERANBR MEE  YAHEABERESCHEE EMGT - BLAETEE
B THERBHEACEIAN AR - bEBRET B AL LR -
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2.1.4 Intellectual property protection

Bloks attaches great importance to intellectual property
protection and is committed to safeguarding its own
innovative achievements through a comprehensive
institutional system coupled with professional
management measures. The Company complies with
the laws and regulations such as “the Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Implementing
Regulations of the Patent Law of the People’s Republic
of China", and has formulated internal management
systems including the “Intellectual Property Compliance
Management Manual”, the “Patent Management System”,
and the “Trade Secret Management System”, with a
view to clarifying the specific responsibilities of each
department in the creation, management, utilization and
protection of intellectual property rights, ensuring effective
operation of the management system and safeguarding
brand reputation. During the Reporting Period, we
passed the annual audit and updated the certification
of the intellectual property compliance management
system in accordance with GB/T 29490-2023. Bloks
has continuously carried out special work on trade secret
protection, and won the title of “Trade Secret Protection
Demonstration Unit" in Minhang District, Shanghai.

Leﬁ;ﬁ%--jﬂ&ﬂemmA g

H-BABARE: o131
ki LRTEREARLR ¥
B SARREE DA 10068 10 $EHIEHI K

BREREAREER NI
GB/T29490-2023
ALRERE RS T

274 FIEERRE

MEN S E SR MEEER
E BN BBTENGIER
EMEENEIEEE  REQ
AIBIFTAK R - AR EEC(RE
ARFEFBEREEE) - (FEA
RAFMBEHEFE) - (REA
REMBEFEERMAADE
EEERER - HIE(ABE
EEHREBFM) (BFERE
FIE) (HEWEEEGE)
LREEIRHIE - ARSI
B ERERE B8 - EF
MREFHEBRE  BRE
BEABPCET  BEREE
2 PNREE  RMBB
FEEZ - EFCB/T 29490-
2023MBEESRERER
REBE -MBUBERER
%M*ﬁ EHIET(E - WHE
/ rh E(EJ Eﬁ%*’z%ﬁ{%uxﬂ—\
EEAITESE -

Intellectual Property Compliance Management System Certificate of Bloks

MEANMBERSRERBAREES
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Bloks has established a systematic patent protection
system aimed at safeguarding its own core advantages
in areas such as assembling structures, production
processes and manufacturing technologies. As of the
end of the Reporting Period, Bloks had 514 domestic
authorized patents, 75 domestic invention patents and
24 overseas authorized patents.

Bloks attaches great importance to the protection
of intellectual property rights and regularly conducts
infringement information retrieval. We cracked down
on counterfeit goods by filing complaints through
online platforms, accused law-breaking merchants of
their intellectual property infringement crimes to the
public security organs, lodged administrative reports
against multiple law-breaking merchants for trademark
infringement, and successfully seized over 3,000 boxes
of infringing products.

During the Reporting Period, Bloks actively conducted
intellectual property-related training to further enhance
employees’ awareness of and professional capabilities in
intellectual property. A total of 40 employees participated
in intellectual property training throughout the year, with
a cumulative training duration of 60 hours, thus providing
strong support for the maintenance and management of
the Company's intellectual property.

2.2 Product Liability

2.2.1 Quality management system

Strictly adhering to the quality policy of “putting users first
and rendering good products at affordable prices”, and
complying with laws and regulations such as the Product
Quality Law of the People's Republic of China, as well as
international and national corporate standards, technical
documents and quality agreements, Bloks has formulated
a stringent product safety management system and
established a quality management system covering the
entire lifecycle of its products.

«  Market analysis stage

Bloks starts from early market research and trend
analysis to identify product categories that meet
consumer demands, while ensuring that product
design aligns with market demands.
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+  Design stage . REHREER

Bloks takes comprehensive consideration of quality MEELPEEEZEE
and safety factors in the design stage to ensure that BEEHTPHAR - #R
products meet high-standard safety requirements Em A RERF W SR
from the very beginning. In terms of appearance ENRE2ER - ENL

design safety, Bloks ensures that its products 2HH  HEIEBMNA
meet strict safety standards by incorporating child RELZDR  BRESD
safety designs. In terms of experience safety, Bloks REBBNL2RE - &
emphasizes ergonomic design to ensure reduced BHL2HHE mErHE
risks during use. AARBIIRR NG - B

EABETR D ER
/'

» Structure design: Bloks takes full consideration of appearance design safety even in the structural design stage, and
makes every effort to avoid sharp comers and edges that could potentially cause injury in the exterior design. Meanwhile,
abuse tests simulating pulling, twisting and impacting that may occur during the play of assembling components are
conducted to ensure that the product remains free of safety hazards even after unintended use. For assembly

Appearance safety character toys with large assembling components intended for preschool children, the risk of swallowing by children is

—< fully considered to ensure that no small components that could be swallowed would appear after various abuse tests,
thus av0|d1ng the risk of choking.

BHZE

Excellent production quality: Bloks assembling components are made of high-quality plastics with rounded edges,

solid craftsmanship and sturdy structure, and are not easily da aged

. BENEERE  MEAEAREBRRENBRME - 5l 2 : AR

Experience safety < Appropriate insertion and removal force: The insertion and removal force of assembhng components has been
ERnzz meticulously designed and tested to allow children to easily assemble and disassemble them. And the process is

smooth, causing no discomfort to chlldre 's fingers.

SEHBB N  BANER D EBRE LR - B

HPGRZIRE - HRE

ABS, which is non-toxic and h less and complies with relevant safety standards. Even if children put these
components in their mouths while playing, it W|II not pose a threat to their health.

‘éuuﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ"é ’m%—ﬁa EARMZEBEME - WA ERMEESES 5180
2% BERE BHEEARALS - B 35
Environmentally ngorous quality testlng Each assembling components undergoes multiple stringent quality tests, including
friendly and insertion and removal force test and choking hazard test, so as to ensure that the product satisfies high standards
. —< in terms of safety and durability.
safe materials BROERRA  SREALBEAFER ARG FRIASSEREOE BRI - RRERE

RREZ 2 2R A 1 EE NS

Environmental certification: Bloks assembling components have passed the triple certifications of EU CE, EU RoHS,
and Swiss SGS. And such certifications cover multiple aspects such as toy safety and environmental friendliness,

thus fully ensuring the safety and health of children.

BRREF | M EAEARE T BEECE - BUBEROHSY

72l RERUEEZEIHE  THORETRENZ

Product Quality and Safety Management of Bloks
MEBAEREER2ER
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Raw material inspection stage

Bloks strictly controls the quality of raw materials,
purchased components, outsourced components,
and packaging materials, and performs incoming
inspection to all raw materials to ensure compliance
with technical documents and quality agreements.
The chemical raw materials, paints, inks, etc.,, used
in the Company's products must all be inspected
in the new project stage. During use, samples are
randomly taken quarterly and semi-annually and
sent to a third-party laboratory for testing. They must
pass the chemical tests specified in the enterprise
standards, which cover migratable elements such
as those outlined in the Chinese national standard
GB6675.4, the European standard EN71-3, and the
American standard ASTM963, as well as phthalates
and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. The
inspection cycle for Bloks' chemical raw materials
shall not exceed one year. Bloks and its paint and
ink raw material factory completed a total of 151 ink
and paint sampling inspections throughout the year,
all of which met the standards.

Production stage

Bloks arranges professional quality management
personnel to stay in the factory to track the
production process throughout, and implements a
"mandatory inspection for all goods” mechanism,
while conducting routine inspections and
random checks on key links. In the production
process, Bloks strictly adheres to the “Five Noes
Principle” and optimizes the production process to
comprehensively control product quality.

No production for non-conforming

raw materials

TEREMBRE

“Five Noes Principle” in the Production Stage of Bloks
mEAEERRI AR

104 BLOKS GROUP LIMITED HEAEEARA T

R ¥ BB B

B A] B SR H RA R -
SNEM - ANBIEF AR B
EPMRNEE  WATER
MRETTE RS - 1
REEEMXHFNRE
WEENR - REIERP
FirfsE B &9 E R M EHA K
SRS EHE B R
HEETRE - FRBERE
IR S I FERE
BiEm WEEE=FE
BRI BA
R EEERRLER
A AR ERRERE
GB6675.4 [ fZ EN71-
3 EFEASTMO63H) A 18
BREUARKE « 2187
REFEH - HEALER
MR R RN BB —
F - MER KB hRR
BHR 2 F K FERaS Mm%
HER 1519198 ©

HEERE

MEARHEXRETRE
AEEBMEERHEE
WEITBE LIS -
LERRAMETHRK
WENFEHME - HEE
BIER - R R BARILT
[ENRRIWEITEER
BB KmEEEEE

mEE -




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

Optimize the structure of single color box opening and the operation structure of the
box frame to increase the box opening yield to over 99.9%
BBV R2ABRIETEE  BRAFEREE99.9%IA

Upgrade the number of sorting machines, adjust the structure of carton erector,
reduce the probability of carton inversion to 0%, and increase production capacity by 30%

THUEREEE - AR SEE - A2 EER0% » EFEIRTT30%

Introduce the automated warehousing system to improve material accuracy and
material preparation efficien

BABHRFRELS IO ERIE B

Implement a small-to-medium automatic code-binding system across the entire system,
and achieved 0% error rate in both missed and incorrect coding

2EGEANN>F EBRTBERS - B ES0%

Introduce Charge-coupled Device (CCD) imaging recognition equipment for assembling
components sorting, and improve the incorrect component identification rate by over 90%
SIATERBA 2 2 IEE (CCD) MBI REETEARD I - R HRI =
90%MA

Measures for Optimizing the Production Process of Bloks

B EERERCEE

Product inspection stage . EminiRiER

Bloks conducts tests on existing finished products MEAFEFMEIRAK
every six months to ensure product quality. During SETERB o LAREE
the Reporting Period, the Company passed 43 mEE RmEHE - 2
national, provincial and municipal supervision AIBBTAIRBEREE
and spot checks, as well as 9 CCC factory audits TR BB HMEMIRICR
(including unannounced inspections). Bloks has also BIREE(BERITR
completed 53 CCC certification type test reports B) MBAETKT53
and 47 overseas market access tests to ensure that MICREFEHAABRE
its products meet various quality requirements at A7 g 5N TH 5 & AR
home and abroad. - BREMAESEAIN

FEHEEEK o

Annual Report 2024 F3

105




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B .

HERES

«  Product recall stage

== #&l:l

Bloks has established a sound product recall system
to ensure that it can promptly initiate the recall
process when product quality issues or potential
safety risks are identified. The recall mechanism and
handling process of Bloks are as follows:

Class I recall
— B E

« For products that may cause

serious health damage or death,

it is required to conduct full
traceability and scrap them

< STH AR BB ER R
BEITHER X
BB WRRERIR

il
b=
N

(el B Bt

MEAELRETENE
A EHE - BREEIR
EDDEEFEJL_JZ@EKE
R - RESIRIRREN B

« For products that may cause
temporary health problems,
it must be comprehensively
recalled and repaired to meet
the standards

« ST AT e | BHERAFIR R
FREREm @ A2 E O
WAEIE =R

IEIEJ* MER A A E %
B IERAEAT -

« For products that do not comply
with regulations but pose no health
risks, market withdrawal and
compliance rectification must be
enforced

« ST AR B EREER
PR Em - FITT5
BEREREN

Product Recall System of Bloks
B A EmE = HIE

During the Reporting Period, we did not experience
any product recalls due to product quality and safety

issues.

RIEMME - HARELE
REREERZ2MAAE

2.2.2 Quality culture and training

Bloks has always placed the construction of quality culture
in an important position, and integrated quality awareness
into the Company's daily operations through various
means. During the Reporting Period, the Production and
Quality Department organized more than 50 trainings and
weekly meetings, covering the Production Department,
the Quality Department and the Engineering Department,
with a total of over 300 participants. In addition, before
the introduction of new projects, Bloks also completed
production process training for the factory’s production,
engineering and quality departments to ensure the

smooth mass production of new projects.
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2.2.3 Industry leading 22317¥5/|%E

Bloks has always maintained its position as an industry MBI BKERFITESIEED
leader by actively participating in the formulation and £RE - BB EITEREN
revision of industry standards, and regularly attending TFEEE] TE » WIEAITARZE
standard review meetings as a member of the Toy ALEGZEFTH2REER
Standards Committee. In the course of continuously BEHE - RABBHEEDT
promoting standardized development of the industry, FREBCER - TMEBIR
the Company is not only dedicated to contributing to the RITENBEBESERNE
overall progress of the industry, but also actively helps BEEB N IRFHTRN RS
to enhance the overall competitiveness and sustainable FHEASEERET -

development capacity of the industry.

Participating in the formulation and revision of industry standards

SRITRFETERER]

« Participated in the High-Quality Development Conference of the Trendy Toy Industry and
the 2024 Release Conference for Group Standards of Trendy Toy Series, and took part in
formulating the first group standard for trendy toys, “Collectible and Trendy Action Figures for
Appreciation and Display (with Similar Purposes) — Safety Limits and Test Methods for
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)".
2IHMEXSEEERASE2024MIATIEBIRERME - WREGT &0 EEEE
(EEWRAMRBREAURGER BEMEAKY (VOO R2REKAHTE) -
« Participated in the formulation and issuance of the national standard GB/T 44868
“Green Product Assessment — Electric Toys".
- 2HH|TEBIRCB/T 44868 (& EMTE FITA) WM -
« Participated in the revision of the national toy standard GB 6675.1 “Toy Safety —
Part 1: Basic Specifications”, with the new edition of the standard expected to be released in 2025.
- 2B ABKIEREGB 6675.1 CTMAL S 1305 - EARRE) MEET TE - FRIEER
20255 2 -

Jl Attending standard review meetings
SNEEEEER

« In July 2024, participated in the standard review meeting of the National Toy Standardization
Technical Committee, and took part in the review of the drafts of six national standards,
including “Toy Safety — Part 1: Basic Specifications”.

< 202457 A - 2MEETIERREREE - 2EBRES (MALE 5180 EARH) F
ERBRITEXER

« In October 2024, participated in the 2024 Annual Meeting and Standard Review Meeting of
the National Toy Standardization Technical Committee, and took part in the review of the drafts of
six national standards, including “Children’s Care Products — General Safety Requirements”.

* 20249108 © 210242 BN ARZEFEERERS S  2RFE(REWEAM BA
ZE2BR) FORBERIFEXER °

Participation in Industry Standard Formulation by Bloks
MER2 1T ERESE
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2.3 Quality Customer Services

Bloks has always been committed to rendering customers
with quality service experiences. Adhering to the principle
of "user first”, it has established a perfect customer service
management system to create more outstanding and
personalized service experiences for its customers, upholding
the ultimate goal of customer satisfaction.

2.3.1 Responsible marketing

Bloks has always adhered to the principle of responsible
marketing and safeguarded consumer rights. We strictly
abide by laws and regulations such as the “Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China" and the “Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests”. In the processes of
advertisement design, material selection and release
promotion, publicity is carried out in accordance with the
requirements of the IP supervision party and the actual
situation of the product, and false publicity is eliminated.

In response to the review of online marketing materials
and to prevent the risk of advertising violations, Bloks
has formulated corresponding countermeasures. When
selecting materials, Bloks requires that product titles,
labels, detail pages, etc,, must not use extreme words or
violation-prone words that are suspected of defrauding
consumers; and all externally released promotional
copies, materials, detail pages, etc.,, must be jointly
reviewed by multiple departments in advance to confirm
that the contents are accurate and true, and do not
infringe upon the legitimate rights and interests of others.
Meanwhile, in the “Weixin mini program Bloks Club”
community, Bloks has set up a third-party review system
and a personnel vetting mechanism to filter out sensitive,
violent and non-compliant information, thus ensuring the
health and safety of community contents.
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In terms of product packaging, we use language that is FERBEEL  BEMEAZR
easy to understand and accurate, as accompanied by IBRENERERES - MR
clear warning labels and safety instructions, to reduce the VEEIZERLTEHE - LUR
risk of misrepresentation and misunderstanding, and to REBRA RN RS - I
inform consumers of the appropriate age range and any HFHEBEHENFREER
potential hazards. HAEERSE -

Sales specifications for Bloks’ blind boxes

HhEUERKEERH

In response to the requirements of the “Guidelines for the Regulation of Blind Box Business Practices (for
Trial)", Bloks has standardized the promotion and marketing of blind boxes and updated the corresponding
sales process. In this regard, we synchronously disclose important information such as the drawing rules
and probabilities of the items inside blind boxes online and offline, and require our sales partners to display
promotional materials in prominent positions within the store to ensure that consumers are fully informed
before making a purchase. Meanwhile, Bloks complies with regulatory requirements and never sells blind
boxes to individuals under the age of 8. In online flagship stores, mini programs and other sales channels,
we proactively improve the reminder and confirmation mechanism. Before consumers make a purchase, we
and our sales partners will remind them to confirm their age and whether they have obtained consent from
their guardians. Regarding after-sales issues as reported by parents about minors making purchases without
consent, we actively cooperate by verifying the purchase information. In case it is confirmed to be a purchase
made by a child, we will uniformly follow the return and refund policy. Through these measures, Bloks has
further demonstrated its emphasis on and commitment to consumer rights and interests in the process of
promoting the sales of blind boxes.

RER(EREETARSES (RT)ONER  HEAMRETEIMNHERREENH BN TERHER
B BMAER LR TRSFRARESARRNBERAIEMEREERES - URKRFNHEESIERHE
ERBRLERTEEME  REBEEEBERRS 7TREBER - AR mEAMEFEEEENR - T
BRSEBA TARHETR - ER LEEE - NMEFFHERTH - R TEREETERES -
EHEBEBERN  BANLRMANHEESERHEREEEEEROSFRAELEGERZARE
ENRERENANFARERAEBENSLREE  HMEEES  HABEELSR EBREBET
B —ERITRERREE - BBELERE  HhEUERETRHENRE - hE— SR T ARENH
BEERAMBREEGE o
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2.3.2 Customer services 232 BEF R
We deeply recognize that customer service is one BIMVFZRHE T F RIS 2
of the core driving forces that propel Bloks forward BB A TETRTTTEVIZ O BEE)
continuously. We are committed to building a customer- NZ—  BABORITENE
centric, standardized and efficient full-process service PRAL - BRSNS
guarantee system, adhering to the service philosophy of L2 RERGRERR - B
putting customers at the core, and taking meeting the TFURPRZONREES -
diverse needs of customers and enhancing their overall BREREFPNZITEER - 1R
experience as the starting point and ultimate goal of our FEPHERBERIEARMT
work. To this end, we have formulated clear customer ER B2 BARE P 2E - ALt T
service goals. fi%E TERENTFREE

= ©

Customer satisfaction >98%
B mEE>98%

Average response time for online consultation <60 seconds

FEiH R TR ERF<60t)

Upgrade the closure rate of customer complaints to 100%
FHR R 7453 100%

Upgrade the average closure time of customer complaints to <48 hours

THAR RS T e AR <48/ B

Customer Service Goals of Bloks

BRI EF R B R
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In terms of customer satisfaction, Bloks has always
been committed to steadily improving satisfaction by
optimizing service quality and enhancing customer
experience. Bloks has established a survey model and
mechanism with service response timeliness, problem-
solving efficiency and service professionalism as its
core evaluation indicators. In terms of survey execution
method, the customer service personnel will proactively
send an invitation for satisfaction evaluation that is
embedded in the service closed-loop process, after the
customer completes the online consultation. Meanwhile,
Bloks incorporates the invited reviews into the KPI
assessment of customer services, for which the quality
control personnel conduct spot checks on the timeliness
of such invitations to ensure a continuous increase in the
participation rate.

To further enhance customer satisfaction, Bloks has
strengthened the training of its customer service
personnel, and added 33 process optimizations and
156 script optimizations throughout the year, which
optimizations cover multiple scenarios, including
customer emotion soothing and technical issue diagnosis.

Through continuous efforts during the Reporting Period,
Bloks’ customer satisfaction raised from 84.4% in
2023 to 95.9%, representing a year-on-year growth of
13.6%. This not only demonstrates Bloks' continuous
improvement in the field of customer services, but also
reflects customers’ high recognition of the corporate
services. In the future, Bloks will continue to strengthen
the training of customer service personnel and optimize
the processes, as well as continuously improve customer
satisfaction, and drive brand service levels towards higher
standards.

In consideration of customer complaints, Bloks is
committed to establishing an after-sales replacement
components process through improving its process
mechanism. Meanwhile, Bloks creates a hierarchical
closed-loop process for handling customer complaints
and a related hierarchical resolution mechanism, as well
as a “customer voice” feedback loop, aiming at ensuring
a high-quality service experience for customers.
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Bloks provides customers with diversified feedback and
response channels that cover WeChat, 400 hotline, self-
service component supplementation mini program,
Weixin mini program Bloks Club and official accounts,
thus ensuring that customer requests can quickly reach
human customer service representatives, with an average
response time of 60 seconds. Through the customer
classification mechanism and the closed-loop process,
Bloks intends to ensure that the needs of every customer
can be addressed in a timely and effective manner.

MBAREPEEZ TIHR
FREAZERE - RWEME -
400FFE - BBHHE/ NIRRT -
/N2 P M BRI R ACUb
ARABRE - BIREPFRK
SRR E A TR - B
FHE0MNEE - BARF D
FRIBEFHAMEARARIE 78
AR E — IR~ Rk EBee
FEIREE - BREIER

Resolve general customer complaints within 48 hours with a closure rate up to 80%

EREPIRIFFAS N AR - THEERZES0%

Escalate critical complaints to the management promptly, establish a “customer voice” feedback loop, and

drive 50 process optimizations through root-cause analysis in 2024
BARRFRFAREERE @Y FFBEE IRERER - 2024F IEmBAE DT HEBIRIZE(L50/R

Integrate mandatory satisfaction surveys into KPIs to track customer feedback rigorously

i B M SR R B RT A AKP

Customer Classification Handling Mechanism and Closed-loop Process Achievements of Bloks

BRI E P 7 RIS EEIRTIZEN R

In 2024, Bloks achieved remarkable results in handling
customer complaints. In the future, Bloks will continuously
strive to improve service quality, render customers
with more considerate service experiences, and further
strengthen the trust relationship with its customers.
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2.4 Sustainable Supply Chain 2.4 TR

2.4.1 Supplier management 241 REHERE

A healthy, stable and sustainable supply chain is a crucial
guarantee for product quality. Bloks regards suppliers
as important partners, thus continuously optimizes the
supplier management system, and works hand in hand
with them to build a responsible supply chain. Bloks
strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations such as
the “Bidding Law of the People's Republic of China” and
the “Regulations on the Implementation of the Bidding
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, formulates a
series of internal systems and codes such as the “Supplier
Management Operating Standards”, as well as establishes
and continuously optimizes a full-stage management
system for supplier admission, evaluation and elimination,
so as to ensure that suppliers render quality products and
services and to strengthen the sustainability of the supply
chain.

Supplier admission and evaluation mechanism

Bloks sticks to strict standards in selecting suppliers
and ensures their compliance and reliability through
multiple measures such as qualification confirmation,
risk assessment, and audit supervision. We conduct
evaluations based on the “Supplier Capability Evaluation
Standards”, covering five dimensions, i.e., quality,
cost, delivery, service and technology (QCDST), and
incorporating 51 scoring items, as jointly carried out by
the R&D, quality and supply chain teams.

In the admission stage, we require suppliers to possess
certifications such as ISO 9001 Quality Management
System and ISO 14001 Environmental Management
System. Our partner factories must pass third-party audits
as designated by the IP party, which cover multiple
key areas including environment, health, safety and
labor employment. After passing the audit, the involved
suppliers will receive a corresponding certificate, and will
need to receive a third-party audit and assessment again
upon expiration of the one-year validity period, so as to
ensure continued compliance with environmental and
social responsibility standards.
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Supplier audit and continuous supervision

Bloks implements a strict audit and supervision
mechanism for all its suppliers. During project
advancement, the R&D, production, quality and supply
chain teams will be stationed at the partner factory to
promptly address any issues that arise in production
and ensure the project progresses as planned. In daily
operations, we ensure compliance with industry standards
and corporate ethics through regular internal and external
audits and supervision, thus guaranteeing transparency
and compliance of the supply chain.

Dynamic assessment

Bloks implements a dynamic assessment mechanism so
as to promote continuous improvement among suppliers
and conduct necessary eliminations. At the end of each
year, Bloks' R&D, quality and supply chain teams conduct
comprehensive annual assessments of all suppliers,
and comprehensively evaluate their performance in key
dimensions such as quality, delivery and technological
breakthrough. Based on the final score, suppliers will
face four types of results, i.e., admission, review, pending
or elimination. In addition, we subdivide our suppliers
into 8 major categories and adjust the QCDST weights
accordingly for different categories of suppliers to ensure
that the evaluation accurately fits the characteristics of
each type of supplier, thereby safeguarding stability and
efficiency of the supply chain from the source. We also
incorporate ESG dimension related assessments into the
annual evaluation of all suppliers, including performance
in 1ISO 9001 Quality Management System and ISO
14001 Environmental Management System certifications,
as well as business conduct, anti-corruption efforts, and
other aspects.

Supplier improvement and elimination

Bloks adjusts subsequent cooperation based on the
evaluation results of suppliers. For suppliers who fail to
meet the standards, we jointly analyze the fundamental
causes, formulate improvement plans, and assist them in
making rectifications. The frozen suppliers will have their
new business suspended, and we will closely monitor
their progress in rectification. Only these suppliers who
have completed rectification and passed verification can
resume the cooperative relationship with us. Such a
mechanism promotes continuous improvement among
suppliers, ensures stable cooperation between Bloks and
outstanding suppliers, and facilitates efficient operation
and sustainable development of the supply chain.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT
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Supplier communication

Bloks deeply understands that a stable and long-term
supplier partnership is a crucial safeguard for driving the
Company's sustainable development. We continue to
maintain clear communication channels with suppliers,
and communicate with them through face-to-face
meetings, WeChat, phone calls, email and other means
in our daily work. Meanwhile, the Company regularly
organizes supplier communications and exchanges
to actively share with suppliers the latest industry
developments, technological innovations and changes
in market demands, thus fostering mutual growth
through continuous innovation and improvement. During
the Reporting Period, we held special exchanges with
suppliers on technical issues such as the application of
new materials and the use of non-spraying materials/
ABS materials/PVC materials, so as to jointly address the
problems and challenges in our cooperation.

Bloks strictly requires its suppliers to make a clear
commitment in terms of complying with relevant anti-
corruption and anti-bribery regulations. During the
Reporting Period, 100% of the suppliers have concluded
the integrity agreement, and all procurement personnel
have received sustainable procurement training.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, we had a total of
92 suppliers, most of whom are concentrated in the East
China and South China. The distribution of suppliers by
region is as follows:

Number of suppliers by geographical region
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2.4.2 Green supply chain promotion

Bloks has always valued highly the sustainable
development performance of its suppliers and regarded
it as one of the core indicators for its long-term attention.
We require suppliers to follow the principle of minimizing
environmental impact in their production activities and
work together to promote green development of the
supply chain.

Green warehousing

Bloks actively explores green warehousing for the
purpose of reducing the impact of warehousing on the
environment through energy conservation, emission
reduction and efficient resource utilization. The Company
collaborates with warehouse suppliers that have obtained
green building certifications and achieved carbon
neutrality, aiming to enhance warehousing efficiency
while promoting low-carbon and sustainable practices in
product warehousing.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Case: Upgrading and renovating the lighting system to reduce power consumption

RO ETRARGARIE - BEENHEE

In 2024, the Company collaborated with property
suppliers to conduct a comprehensive lighting upgrade
in the warehouses and offices by replacing all existing
incandescent bulbs with high-efficiency LED light
sources and optimizing the roof skylight bands. After
the renovation, energy consumption and operating
costs have been significantly reduced, with electricity
consumption in the warehouses decreasing by more
than 30% compared to 2023. This initiative not only
improves lighting quality and office comfort but also
lays a solid foundation for the Company to achieve its
green and low-carbon operation goals, reflecting the dual
economic and environmental benefits of energy-saving
renovations.

The warehousing park of the Company not only
lays emphasis on the efficiency and environmental
friendliness of energy use in warehouses but also further
promotes sustainable development through a series of
management measures. The park weighs and registers
the domestic waste as generated during daily operations
to ensure the transparency and standardization of waste
disposal and reduce the negative impact of wastes
on the environment. Additionally, it sets up rainwater
collection ponds to utilize rainwater as a resource for the
daily maintenance of flowers, trees and grass, achieving
water conservation; and it specifically designates areas to
install charging piles to support the usage of new energy
vehicles and reduce carbon emissions from traditional
fuel vehicles.
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Green logistics

Bloks attaches great importance to energy conservation
and emission reduction during product transportation.
Collaborating with logistics suppliers, Bloks enhances
transportation efficiency while reducing carbon emissions
during product transportation through new energy vehicle
usage, intelligent logistics management and innovative

memn

B A B E mER R A ED
BEREE - EYREERE TR -
BB INFTREREWER - ¥
MERCER - AFEREN
E7R - RISERRE N R
P K EE s E B IR AR AR PR IK - B

transportation mode, thereby facilitating green and low-

NRIREPH AT B (KRR -

carbon transformation of the logistics process.

New energy vehicle usage

15 FAFTRE IR EE 80

The Warehousing and Logistics Center fully utilizes electric high-level
forklifts, transfer carts and other equipment to reduce carbon emissions.
BEREDRPOEEEREDSMUNE  FREFRE - BB -

The number of new energy vehicles as used by major logistics suppliers
continues to increase, reaching 6,000 in 2024, representing a year-on-
year increase of 30.8%, and achieving a reduction of more than 60,000
tons of carbon dioxide emissions.

T2YREERE R ERERBEREEL I - 20245 56,000
W - A5 &30.800 - BIAMEE — S LIk BoEN

Intelligent logistics
management
BeefErd

Cooperating suppliers utilize their self-developed “Sword Forging
System” and “High-Precision Quality Intelligent Control Platform”, and
leverage big data and Al technology to achieve intelligent monitoring of
the entire logistics process, thereby upgrading transportation efficiency
and safety.

SEHERCREEIMBEN SRR | HE aBEEEERT
a1 FARRBEREBEARMNERY REMIZE LT - IRIHERUX
B2 o

Innovative transportation
mode
B R AT

It collaborates with logistics suppliers to follow a “direct factory
shipment” mode, reduces intermediate links, decreases transportation
frequency, and shortens delivery time.

HYRHEEAE - BT IREE IR RO PERES - BRIEE
BSAR - HERE AR o

It collaborates with logistics suppliers and adopts the “shared tractor”
and “drop-and-pull transport” modes to improve vehicle utilization and
reduce empty driving rate.

EYIREEEAE  KBAIAZER|  [REEH BN - ReEW
MAE  FERZERE -

Creen Logistics Initiatives

RIS

Through the above measures, Bloks continuously
promotes the construction of a green and low-carbon
supply chain. We will continue to work closely with
our partners in the supply chain, and be committed
to achieving resource optimization and environmental
protection in every link.
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2.5 Digital Operation 2.5 HFLEE
hEAEREERHETFLES BB
BEAERTIE BETES
EmifE FEHRIHEHEELH
EREEFTCEEER  SEHEMN
HALECIS TREK -

Bloks attaches great importance to digital operation.
Through independently developing digital tools, it has
established a comprehensive digital management system
covering the entire process from product R&D, production
collaboration to sales operation, achieving remarkable
results in the digital operation of each module.

SKU management system Point of sale management system

SKUBEE R % EREBRAK

Realize standardized entry and centralized
management of product parameters, and
ensure transparency and traceability of SKU
details.
EREMBEIRECHAEERER - IR
SKUARERE BiBR R B -

Brick-based toys R&D auxiliary tool editor

BATTATS#E T ARER

« Verify assembly logic through virtual

construction, automatically generate the BOM
list, connect design data with supply chain
landing requirements, and improve the
synergy efficiency between R&D and
production.

BRERE ERED R EE - 8E4EKBOM
BE - BERAT IR EMEEEFER 12
THfF B A E B RICK

Implement hierarchical management for
offline stores, conduct precise analysis of sales
data to formulate personalized operational
strategies, and strengthen brand influence.

HETPEEHRIRER  BESITHEH
BAGIEEME CELREE - RbmiETES -

Overseas ordering system
BINTER#S

Streamline the order entry process, achieve
standardized control of commodity prices,
reduce compliance risks, and enhance the
controllability of sales profit margins.

BB R BERmmEREELCEE
PRAEE R R R AR T 34 & FIB R A4 -

Self-developed anti-counterfeiting code

Offline temporary promotion management
technology

B B R AR H 9T

module

KT REEBHEERR

+ Generate dot matrix images based on coding + Rely on the headquarters back end, supervisor-side

algorithms and print them on packaging,
combine with specialized equipment to
decode and verify product channels, and
effectively prevent unauthorized product
diversion.

ERREEEEREBEEN EDRIN B - &
SEARERERIENIREE  AR&ES

B e

Digitalization of R&D and production
ity -3 eald
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APP and temporary promotion-side mini program,
standardize the recording of activity data
and optimize resource allocation, as well as
assist managers in accurately evaluating the
effectiveness.

KFEEERIE S « FEIRAPPRER(E M/ MR -
BRECRHEHEBLBLERKE - 88
EREREERTEBIBORK ©

Digitalization of sales and operations
HERELHTL
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Bloks integrates the concept of green business operation throughout
the entire process of its operations. Through continuous innovation,
it strives to improve resource utilization efficiency, reduce
environmental impact, fulfill corporate responsibility, promote green
inclusiveness, and jointly build a better future.

3.1 Response to Climate Change

Climate change poses a serious threat to the well-being
of humans and the ecological balance of the Earth, thus
urgently necessitating more proactive and robust actions to
accelerate the adaptation to and mitigation of climate change.
In this regard, Bloks actively responds to the requirements
of the national “dual carbon” strategy, proactively promotes
climate governance, takes the initiative to identify climate-
related risks and opportunities, and continuously enhances its
climate adaptability through ongoing energy conservation and
consumption reduction practices.

Governance

Bloks has incorporated climate change governance into its
core management system and established a three-level
collaborative mechanism, for which the Board of Directors,
as the highest leadership and decision-making body,
coordinates the formulation of climate strategic directions;
the ESG Committee plays a professional supporting role to
be specifically responsible for identifying and assessing risks
related to climate change; and at the implementation level of
goals, the Company sets up an ESG Working Group composed
of multiple functional departments related to addressing
climate change to be jointly responsible for the climate-related
strategy.
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Strategy

Bloks not only faces up to climate challenges but also
focuses more on tapping into opportunities in the low-carbon
economy. The Company regularly assesses potential climate
change risks across its entire production value chain. By
combining dynamic changes in external regulatory policies,
it conducts regular identification and analysis of climate-
related risks, further clarifies the potential impacts of risks and
opportunities, formulates comprehensive response measures,
and reduces the adverse effects of risk scenarios on its
business operations. During the Reporting Period, the main
climate risks and opportunities as identified by the Company
and the corresponding countermeasures are as shown in the

table below.

Risk category Risk name Risk description and its
impact on Bloks

N o bl 2B £ R R R A e

Physical risk Typhoons and Typhoons and extreme

extreme rainfall precipitation may have a

negative impact on employees
commuting, warehousing and
logistics, and may also lead to
damage to product quality.

BieRER BefE, - RimPER JBe R A 3R o P /K P AR ¥ B Tl
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Countermeasures

eSS

Bloks develops emergency
plans based on actual situations,
provides early warnings for
extreme weather, and adjusts
transportation schedules to
ensure the stability of the supply
chain and minimize the impact
of climate change on daily
operations and personal safety.

& AR IR B R B 0 E e =
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Risk category Risk name

[ B 38 B Ebs &1
Extreme heat
TR 24

Transformation Enhanced

risk environmental
disclosure
obligations

AR BIERBEHEER
=%

Risk description and its
impact on Bloks

[ B 4 o B 3 7 B T B 2

Extreme heat weather usually
refers to a weather condition
with high temperature and high
humidity lasting for at least two
to three days, generally with
the temperature exceeding 35
degrees Celsius. The risks posed
by extremely heat weather to
Bloks include employee health
issues and a reduced customer
traffic.

BRRKABEEELFEME
—RKNEAENERE  —&K
ARERBBISEKENKARE
S oo ALK R B AT KR
EREEE TREBENER

B -

Relevant national and regional
policies may impose stricter
requirements and regulations on
Bloks. If Bloks fails to disclose
corresponding environmental
information in a timely manner in
line with the introduced relevant
laws, regulations and policies,
the Company will have to face
compliance risk.

B 50 M $b [ ) 4R B EOR F) BE Y
B A B E MBS R RAME
B EMBAREERELEG
MARBERER - BRBEER
BHENRRES  HEEA
AEERA R -

Countermeasures
pER IR

Bloks replaces equipment with
more energy-efficient models
and strengthens the usage and
management of air conditioners
to ensure a good working
experience for employees
while minimizing electricity
consumption.

58 A B AT A Y B I
B LMBEREAER -
REATRGHTFRROA
B ETLHL AEE -

Bloks actively discloses ESG
information on a regular annual
basis as required by the Stock
Exchange.

MEAREBBIMEBRERE
FEHWEEESCIER -
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Risk category

2B 38

Transformation
risk

BRI

122

Risk name

[ Bz # 78

Changes in
customer
consumption
preferences

EPRERIFEE

Growing
stakeholder
concerns over
negative feedback

FhEYamRE
SE=:207)
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Risk description and its
impact on Bloks

2R B 4 L B 3 7 B T B B

Changes in customer
preferences, especially the
increased preference for
environmentally friendly products
and the higher demands

for corporate social and
environmental responsibilities,
may lead to customer attrition
and subsequent sales decline for
Bloks if it fails to meet customer
requirements in terms of energy
conservation, consumption
reduction and green products.

BEPREEY - LHEHIHRR
EmMRmTigs X"
g REAEEEROEM &
B A TREEENRERERE - R
EmETmEINEPENR A
EEEBREPRAEMBEET

NS
/B °

Since stakeholders are paying
increasing attention to corporate
responsibility, especially
environmental performance,
Bloks may lose its market

share and investment if it

fails to adequately disclose its
environmental performance or
performs poorly.

BOHEHLETT LHER
ERBEREIESE N 56
BARBEESIEET RS HEK
WAE - e XREMBME
MgE o

Countermeasures
pER IR

Bloks integrates green concepts
into its daily operations, promotes
green attributes of its products to
consumers, actively participates
in sustainability-related social
activities, and shapes a positive
market impression.

MERNERRELBRETRA
REeBED FMHEEESEEM
MZEET  BR2ENSE
HENLEERE  BERKK
[EEIE

Bloks incorporates the reduction
of environmental impact and the
response to climate risks into its
corporate strategy, and regularly
discloses its own environmental
performance, including
greenhouse gas emissions in
Scope 1 and Scope 2, green
office work performance, etc. And
it pays attention to and responds
to the ratings from rating
agencies, enhances transparency
and wins the trust and support
from its investors and customers.

B A S R B B MAR
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Risk management process

In line with its own risk management process, Bloks takes
precautions against operational risks posed by climate change
through three steps, i.e,, risk identification, risk assessment and
risk response, which ensures that the Company can formulate
timely and effective strategies when facing the challenges
brought about by climate change, thereby enhancing business
continuity and strategic resilience.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE B RERBWMSE

B B

MEREARRRERRE B
BRERRER - RS A E R
Z AR - RIS REE(L AR
FIELRR - UWRBRAREEmER
15 B b 25 R A DK B R BE S AU H 2 B
BRI EE RS - MRS EE N
EREEEEEIME o

identification

« Bloks regularly identifies and evaluates the major risks and opportunities brought by )
climate change every year based on climate change policies, regulations, feedback on
related businesses, and benchmarking results with peers.

Risk - WBAEFFERRBEREZCBEE  EZR MEEEBHNRENALRITERERD

BRI EE B SRR R = EE B M -

B 5

+ Bloks conducts assessments on the likelihood, impact and adaptability of each
identified risk, and sets priorities based on feedback from stakeholders and external

experts.
Risk - MEREERH AT ERERETT A AL M S E eI AT - AR A A0
assessment ﬁ*ﬂ@h%ﬁgﬁﬂ"]ﬁﬁﬁ%&i@?ﬁ%& °© j
[ B ET AL
« Bloks regularly formulates response plans for the major risks brought by climate
change, and develops coping strategies to mitigate relevant climate change risks.
isk - MBAERRRIEZCHERNEZRRGITEETE - WHITERBFAREEE
e R L -
response J

L B P

Climate Risk Management Process of Bloks

mEAIRIERRERRE

Indicators and goals

Bloks continues to advance the construction of climate-
related indicator and goal systems, strengthens monitoring,
regularly discloses greenhouse gas emissions, and optimizes
the management processes for climate-related indicators and
goals, so as to ensure the effective implementation of climate
change actions and strategies and risk management, and to
promote the effective realization of climate change goals.

FEEERE

B A EHEE RIRBEERMNE
RERER IR EMEE
BERBHERE - Bl RIEHERE
BIRMBRHEERE - AR
RIS LT KRR EIEA X
e HERKRE(CBRNERE
i

Disclosure indicator Unit Data for 2024
REER B 2024 F BB
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) Tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 569.6

RERBERES (HE—+HE )
Greenhouse gas emission intensity

RERBYGRE

WS LiE =
Tons of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 0.3
RMB million revenue

M_atiREE BEARBEK
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3.2 Green Operation

Bloks integrates the concept of sustainable development into every
aspect of its business, and promotes responsible production and
operations by improving energy efficiency, reducing wastes, lowering
water consumption, reusing consumables and packaging materials,
as well as saving resources.

Bloks strictly abides by laws and regulations such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, and
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, so as to ensure
that its production and business activities comply with national and
local environmental protection requirements.

As its primary business is the design, development and sales of
assembly character toys, and it does not involve production in its
own factories, the environmental compliance risk associated with
wastewater, exhaust gases and waste emissions is relatively low.
During the Reporting Period, we did not experience any incidents
that caused significant pollution or impact on the environment or
had a negative effect on biodiversity.

To ensure the effective promotion and implementation of
environmental management efforts, we have set environmental
management goals to strictly control waste disposal, improve
resource utilization rate, and reduce overall carbon emissions.

3.2.1 Green office work

The main link in Bloks' energy consumption is the electricity
consumption due to office operations and warehousing.
The Company has taken multiple measures in its daily
office activities, actively applied low-energy equipment in
its operations, and flexibly reduced unnecessary energy
consumption by popularizing online meetings and advocating
for green business travel, so as to establish a green and
efficient office model and create a sustainable workplace
environment.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT
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Advocating for green business travel

BEZBER

*  According to the “"Detailed Rules on Business Travel Management” issued by the Company,
explicitly encourage to prioritize low-carbon transportation modes such as high-speed rail and new
energy vehicles for intercity travel, to choose green hotels with environmental certifications for
accommodation, and to opt for subways, buses, shared transportation and other similar means for
intracity transportation.

© EARKEREBEEMDTAESBECEESE  HMERTESFERRBTRAETRERER
B ERRBESRRVENSEEEETER  BREEHE oKX AEZBTAFHET

Popularizing online meetings

ERgLEs

«  Establish a remote work system and actively utilize online document collaboration function for office
work. Utilize the Feishu platform to support company-wide online meetings, achieve paperless
meetings, enhance communication efficiency, and reduce the carbon footprint generated by
participants’ travel and business trips.

During the Reporting Period, a total of 47,771 online meetings were held, with a cumulative
attendance of 118,570 participants.

© RUBENRARLS BRERAKLXEBERL - BEREFAXFRERLSH  BEHER
L& - IRTUBERME - ARG ABWBITMERTELNIREY

RIMEHAR - ARER L E#47,7718 0 25122 AB118570A °

Updating high-energy-consumption equipment

BN EREERE

*  Replace LED lamps in high-energy-consumption areas such as office areas and meeting rooms with
energy-saving models that mimic natural light efficiency to reduce maintenance costs and energy
consumption.

During the Reporting Period, a total of 76 new LED panel lights were installed in the office building.

«  Gradually replace traditional projectors with TVs of Level 3 energy efficiency to enhance usability and
reduce equipment costs and maintenance needs.

c HRAR - SRETSRREETIEDEAR R - EA BN REEERS - FHEEEKAEEE
ﬁ o

REREHIRE - RO ELEDIRE 76

c BIRESRTEERQERERN TR  RIAEBERN - RERERAREERF -

Green Office Work Initiatives
LREP AR
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CHERE

/l:l-‘F&l:l

Meanwhile, we actively promote the concept of green
office work within the Company to enhance employees’
awareness of energy conservation and their sense of
responsibility. By regularly publicizing the importance
of energy conservation through energy-saving slogans,
announcements on Feishu groups and bulletin boards,
we encourage employees to bring their own water cups,
reduce the use of disposable items, make rational use of
natural light, and turn off lights when they are not in use,
so as to jointly create a more environmentally friendly
and healthy working environment.

During the Reporting Period, our total energy

RIE - BAAIER R A RBIERE
BARERAED - RAELIH
BB LR - BARE

AT  MEWSE - AL

*Fﬁeﬁ‘ti,ﬁﬁif%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁix
- ZEE T BHKHN - B
—RMERAmIER - AENA
B BEFEE - KEEE
FIRMR - EFEA TIERER -

consumption and intensity are as follows: ?%&*fZZDT
Disclosure indicator Unit Data for 2024
BEER B 20248
Total energy consumption — Outsourced electricity kWh 972,691.6
BERERAE —INEE N FEE
Total energy consumption density kwh/million revenue 434.1
BEREHRETE TRE B&EY

3.2.2 Water resource utilization 322 K EFFIH

The water consumed by Bloks mainly comes from
municipal water supply pipelines, and the water resources
as consumed are mainly domestic water in the office
and warehousing areas. The Company attaches great
importance to water conservation and comprehensive
utilization. By continuously driving the normalized
management of water conservation in office areas and
carrying out company-wide water-saving publicity and
guidance, it has improved the efficiency of water resource

B A K E BRI M
K KERBEREEEPER
NE B R A AR K e

NEBRKEREBOFERE F)
A BBRERER QR INE

IKERICEE HRZ2ARE
BRI EIKEE51E - -FK
BRERME - BRRDKE
TRRE

utilization and effectively reduced water resource waste.

>

Publicity and guidance: Post water conservation signs to raise employees’ awareness of water
conservation and encourage them to consciously develop good habits of saving water and turning
off taps after use;

EE5|8  RESOAKES AR TAVKER - BEBKENAK - BEFRKNREEE

Inspection and troubleshooting: Strengthen internal security patrols to eliminate water resource
waste such as leaks, spills, drips and overflows;

KRS e FREs - 8 5 B REXKERRERR

Facility maintenance and upgrade: Install sensor-activated faucets in public restrooms, gradually
replace equipment in the pantry area, further optimize water usage efficiency, cooperate with the
park to regularly clean water tanks and ensure the normal operation of water-using equipment.
RIEEBAE  AHFERZELEREKESR  FKRREET RS - E—FREAKK

X KREEREHBLKE - BERAKR f%ft% i e

Measures for Normalized Management of Water Conservation
EKE R LB IR
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During the Reporting Period, our total water resource
consumption and intensity are as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
N q‘j:%&k B0 #& =

Annual data of

Disclosure indicator Unit 2024
WEEE B 20242 FEEE
Total water resource consumption m?3 1,986.9
KERBEERE A

Water resource consumption density Cubic meter/RMB million revenue 0.9

IKEREREEE

3.2.3 Waste management

Bloks strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste as well as relevant laws
and regulations on waste disposal, and meanwhile
implements the unified waste management system
across the local industrial park to ensure that all types of
waste are classified and disposed of as regulated. The
waste generated by Bloks mainly comes from its office
areas and warehousing and logistics centers, including
domestic and kitchen waste, as well as paper waste as
produced during office operations. But the Company's
business activities do not generate hazardous waste. The
Company strictly adheres to relevant control regulations
on waste management and classification prevailing
in the area where it operates. Subject to the waste
classification management standards, it transports wastes
to designated areas at fixed times and locations every
day, and then hands them over to the park’s property
management organization for unified and professional
disposal.

The Company actively guides and urges its employees
to practice garbage classification in the office area.
By popularizing knowledge of garbage classification,
posting promotional posters, and increasing the number
of classified trash cans on each floor, the Company
comprehensively enhances its employees' environmental
awareness and minimizes the impact of wastes on the
environment.

NIKRSAREBELR
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During the Reporting Period, our total waste disposal

R¥REHE - HPNEREYE
e N

volume and density are as follows: B BEWT
Disclosure indicator Unit Data for 2024
BEER B 2024 F 8
Total amount of waste recycling ton 37.4
BEEYEES M58

3.2.4 Use of packaging materials and supplies 324 B EAYFIEH

The Company has always adhered to the concept of
green environmental protection, and implemented
standardized management of packaging materials in
production, warehousing, logistics and other links to
ensure the efficient use of materials, while minimizing
resource consumption and environmental pollution
through the recycling of packaging materials and

components.

Packaging recycling Returned components handling
BEBERAA RETHHEE

Secondary use of cardboard boxes:
Establish secondary use standards for
cardboard boxes to increase the proportion
of recyclable packaging used. Sort and
organize these cardboard boxes from
online order picking by size for reuse
in sample distribution and other order
shipments, achieving a secondary utilization
rate of over 30%.

MBEZRNA  RIEFAAEKEEHGE
RiEt  HEEERBHIE ZRERR
o REATERGEERNABRRBOE
BIE - AREmERNHEMATEES
ZIRMARZE3I0%IAL

Pallet intermodal transport: Utilize
reusable pallets and collaborate with partner
factories for intermodal transportation,
reducing the use of disposable softwood
pallets while enhancing the efficiency of
goods turnover.

REBE R RRNBES AR
EEEIRAREE B —RMEEAR
FRER  ANREAEmEERE -

NAAR B BRRIER -
HEE - B MRFREE
TEMBRELCER - ERMEH
B R RURIA - e B AR f
TEHENBRMNAE - FARE
WA EREREERESR -

Allocation and utilization: Allocate
returned components as disassembled to
the after-sales warehouse for customer
complaint replenishment or to the R&D
department for defect analysis to support
product iteration.

ABANA  BEHEREZHHAREES
B RREFMM - AR =P
EITERBEIATE - REMERIEHF o

Professional recycling: Process scrapped
components through professional recycling
companies by means of crushing, and
convert them into raw materials for
secondary use in other fields, maximizing
resource utilization.

BXEW : HRETHMHRBZELDR
NEETREERE - B REMEY —
RMAREMESE - BRERKAKEF
o

Recycling Initiatives of Bloks
& A] BRI R 2R 4
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During the Reporting Period, our usage and density of RIRERE - RPN BEMEHER
packaging materials are as follows: ENEENT :
Annual data of

Disclosure indicator Unit 2024
BEER Efy 20242 FERE
Total amount and unit usage of

packaging materials
BEMBEENSEURE
Total usage of packaging materials Ton 242.0
BEMHERES M58
Packing density Ton/RMB million revenue 0.1
BECEREE W AREBEEW
Recycling and reuse of packaging

materials and supplies
B R AR R A
Total weight of recycled packaging materials Ton 35.3
BB EESE Mg
Total weight of recycled components Ton 2.1
B ZEHHEEE Mg

Annual Report 2024 £ 129




130

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB

q‘j:%&k == #& =

Talents are the core driving force for the development of enterprises.
In this regard, Bloks has always regarded its employees as its most
valuable resource. By continuously improving its talent management
system, promoting a diversified talent development strategy,
exploring new channels for talent recruitment, and optimizing
human resource allocation, Bloks ensures mutual benefits and win-
win results for both employees and the Company in the process of
common development.

4.1

Employee Employment

Bloks strictly abides by the laws and regulations such as the
“Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and the
“Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and
formulates its own internal systems such as the "Employee
Handbook” in combination with the Company’s situations,
so as to fully protect the legitimate rights and interests of its
employees.

Bloks upholds the employment principles of openness,
equality and diverse integration. It has formulated internal
management systems such as the “Recruitment Management
System of Bloks” and the “Labor Contract Management
System (for Trial)", and established sound recruitment systems
and processes. We explicitly prohibit the use of child labor or
forced labor in any form, strictly verify the identity information
of applicants during recruitment, and conduct verification upon
their entry. For individuals of questionable age, we cooperate
with third-party institutions to further verify their information to
ensure legal and compliant employment. During the Reporting
Period, there were no incidents of child labor or forced labor at
Bloks.
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HEAREERFEREEE B

Bloks highly values equal employment opportunities and

is committed to providing a fair employment environment NRBTRAESR - MAIMFRNE
for employees of different backgrounds, genders and ages. TREAFORERE - RAOEHR
We clearly state the principle of equal competition in our BEMEEERTHABEESERFNR
recruitment and labor contracts to ensure that every employee B BREBEMNEIHAKSRER
has the opportunity to acquire a position based on their BENANE NS FEAL -

abilities and potentials.

Bloks collaborates with Minhang District Disabled Persons’ Federation to launch a recruitment
campaign for the disabled
HETERTEREBTFRAREAS THRIEEH

In 2024, Bloks collaborated with Minhang District Disabled Persons’ Federation to successfully carry out a series of
recruitment campaigns targeting disabled individuals. Bloks thoroughly understood the skill sets, physical conditions
and employment needs of these disabled job seekers, and designed suitable positions for them accordingly. We
provide equal employment opportunities for the disabled and create a working environment where they can fully

unleash their potentials, demonstrating our social responsibility and innovative spirit in recruitment.

20244 - BRI EEBMRETREBAE KRR T —
BORBE RGBT - FRIRR R EF R

Bloks actively expands diversified recruitment channels to
attract various outstanding talents. In 2024, we extensively
posted recruitment information through leading recruitment
platforms such as Zhaopin, 51job, Liepin, and BOSS Zhipin,
to broaden our reach among job seekers. The Company
also actively utilizes its internal referral system, and attracts
recommended talents through the “All-Staff Talent Scout
Program”, with approximately 32% of new employees joining
in through internal referrals. In addition, we also collaborate
with renowned headhunting firms like CGL, Michael Page, etc,,
to identify outstanding candidates for high-end positions.

R RERAR A TR R
B ST RRET T B RCH AL o
MEHRE  BAMMANE T RAT O BEEABNNTERE R T RMACERETHLEE
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Bloks has established a regular mechanism for exchange MERREY T ERIENRERRRE
visits between institutions and enterprises, while conducting S THESERARRKR
regular exchanges with various universities to promote the RESMEPENRERSE - [
deep integration of academics and enterprises. Meanwhile, B AaRBERHEEHRS
the Company provides internship opportunities for students, BMMIREETRIALR c BREIEL
allowing them to participate in practical projects to accumulate o RINEFSHNELELESHT
work experience. Students with outstanding performance can e RARDEAMEIIR - #
be given priority in obtaining employment opportunities, thus )b AIFTEEER o

injecting fresh blood into the Company and promoting its
innovation and development.

Bloks campus dual-selection fair and school-enterprise cooperation

HEURERERGEREEHE

To meet the demand for talents, Bloks actively participates in campus recruitment and school-enterprise
cooperation.

Bloks ever participated in the campus dual-selection fairs at universities such as Dongguan University of
Technology and Luxun Academy of Fine Arts, providing more employment and internship opportunities through
face-to-face communication with students. We have also launched school-enterprise cooperation programs with
comprehensive universities such as Shanghai Jiao Tong University and Zhejiang University to jointly cultivate
professionals with practical skills. In addition, Bloks has also collaborated with professional institutions such as the
China Academy of Art to implement targeted training programs.

RMEAT B MEAEGR2ERERBEMREEE -
MEASNTREETEE  BAXNEEEEROREEES  BARSBLIEHERN - RHESHER

EERE - RAEE DEXBAR MIARBEGREUSRARNEAIFAR - BEEEARERIRIER
RBEAT L5 - B AIEEPBEXM B SEXERAE - BT RESTE -

As of December 31, 2024, Bloks had a total of 709 employees, HE2024F12A318 - mEAE
all of whom were full-time and primarily based in the Chinese THEFFTOOA  FELMRFEKX
mainland. BE - 288 T{hE100% °

By gender By age

RIERIE D RFEE D

5
242
325
379
467
Male & Female % aged 20-30 = aged 31-50  aged 51 and above
20-30%% 31-50%% 51 M A &

Number of Employees by Different Categories

BARBERE DM E T AR
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4.2 Training and Development

Bloks pays attention to employee development and empowers
their all-round growth. We have established a sound training
system to help enhance the overall capabilities of our
employees by offering them a wide range of courses. And we
will continue to cultivate high-level talents with outstanding
performance for the society.

4.2.1 Talent cultivation

We always believe that talents are the foundation of
enterprise development. Attaching great importance to
the comprehensive development of its employees, Bloks
has meticulously designed diversified training programs
for different levels and positions, aiming to promote
the synergistic development of employees’ individual
career growth and the Company's strategic objectives.
During the Reporting Period, Bloks carried out various
types of training activities, including different thematic
training programs targeting multiple positions, such as
skill enhancement programs like “Advanced Interview
Skills for Offline Teams”, leadership training programs
like “Cultivating and Retaining Talents”, external training
programs like “5E Leadership”, and training courses like
“New Employee Integration and Phase Management”,
effectively enhancing the professional skills of employees
and strengthening core competitiveness of the
management.
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“Summit Program” Product Manager Training Camp

EmSERE TuEat S ]

In its strategic layout to promote talent development, Bloks has launched the “Summit Program” Product
Manager Training Camp, aiming to cultivate highly competitive management talents. Through customized
multi-dimensional courses, it comprehensively enhances the trainees’ business capabilities and management
levels. 26 outstanding trainees have successfully graduated, with 21 of them being assigned as product
managers, further enhancing the overall capabilities of the Company’s core team. In addition, the trainees
collaborated to prepare the “Bloks Product Manager White Paper”, providing profound strategic guidance and
practical results for the Company’s product research and development team.
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Bloks E-commerce Training Camp
HEAEREEIIE

Bloks E-commerce Training Camp has activated healthy competition and collaboration within the team
through a comprehensive curriculum system and diverse teaching methods, such as online courses, cross-
team internal training and factory visits. The training contents cover multiple dimensions such as professional
competence, innovation ability and product competence as supplemented by the incentive mechanism,
successfully identifying and cultivating high-potential personnel. Ultimately, the trainees’ abilities have
been comprehensively enhanced, the team collaboration and competitiveness have been significantly
strengthened, and the training results have been highly recognized by leaders and colleagues.
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During the Reporting Period, our training program RSB - BPIHEIEE
covered all employees of the Company, with a total of BENTDEET @ aRHt
17,100.0 training hours and an average of 30.3 training 17,1000\ » ETFHF
hours per employee. B A30.3/ N6 -
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4.2.2 Employee development

Bloks has established a fair and transparent performance
evaluation and promotion system based on the nature
of positions and the capability and performance of
employees. We adopt a combination of qualitative and
quantitative assessment methods, as coupled with
rigorous review processes and project reporting sessions.
We have established a differentiated assessment
mechanism for dimensions such as new employee
probation period, employee contract renewal, and regular
assessment (on a monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or
annual basis), thus providing a powerful reference for
various aspects of employee management, including
reward, promotion, transfer, training and dismissal.

Considering that performance assessment serves as an
important reference for employee career growth, Bloks
has developed an online assessment system which takes
a scoring method to classify assessment levels every
six months. The assessment results will directly affect
employees’ promotion, salary adjustment and bonus
payment, and the list of promoted personnel will be
finalized every April.

Bloks has established a comprehensive incentive
system covering both short-term and long-term
incentive mechanisms, aiming at stimulating employees’
enthusiasm and enhancing their sense of belonging and
loyalty through diversified reward measures.
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Project incentives 78 B &

+ Project rewards will be granted when the R&D project achieves phased success or is ultimately completed

and meets the expected goals

- FEEEIR B BUSH BRI I S R Se R IE B TR B ARA - B HURE BE

« Equity incentives are provided for core backbone employees at the management level

- HEEEARNNERLERET - RHEBENE

« Performance bonus is closely linked to the KPI assessment results of positions such as sales and

marketing

« MRS EEE  MSFMANKPIZZERETHEA

Incentive System of Bloks

G- (k- ES
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4.3 Employee Care 43 ETEE

Bloks has always been committed to providing comprehensive
welfare guarantees for its employees, ensuring that they can
enjoy generous treatment and care both at work and in life.
Our welfare system includes various forms such as statutory
benefits, additional benefits, festival benefits and family
benefits, comprehensively safeguarding various needs of
employees.

In terms of statutory benefits, Bloks strictly adheres to the
national social security system and provides all employees with
Five Insurances and One Fund in accordance with the “Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”, including
pension insurance, medical insurance, work-related injury
insurance, unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance
(the “Five Insurances”), as well as housing provident fund
(the "One Fund"). Besides, Bloks also provides supplementary
commercial insurance for its employees and their children,
covering critical illness insurance, accident insurance, etc., so
as to safeguard the life safety and health risks of employees
and their families. As well, Bloks offers paid annual leave, paid
sick leave, etc,, allowing employees to enjoy sufficient time off
while maintaining a good work-life balance.

Bloks has always upheld the people-oriented concept,
focusing on the physical and mental health as well as the
well-being of its employees. Every year, Bloks organizes
various employee care activities with a view to strengthening
employees' sense of belonging and team cohesion. In terms
of festival celebrations, Bloks hosts Thanksgiving activities every
year, meticulously plans celebration activities, and extends
employees with generous festival benefits, such as festival gifts
and festive catering. In addition, the Company also regularly
holds afternoon tea sharing activities to create a relaxed and
pleasant communication atmosphere, allowing employees to
unwind after work. For different festivals, Bloks also organizes
interesting team activities such as Halloween party to allow
employees to relax in a joyful atmosphere, thus enhancing
teamwork and strengthening relationships among employees.
In addition to festival celebrations, Bloks also regularly
organizes cultural team-building activities such as outdoor
expansions and dinners. These activities not only contribute
to communication and collaboration among employees, but
also enhance team cohesion and a sense of belonging, further
fostering a positive and uplifting work atmosphere.
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Halloween activities

BEHES

For the purpose of enhancing employees’ sense of belonging and recognition of corporate culture, Bloks held
a variety of celebrations on Halloween. At such time, employees demonstrated their individuality and creativity
through costuming, further enhancing team cohesion and promoting interaction and communication among
employees.
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Thanksgiving activities

REEES

During the Thanksgiving, Bloks organized a series of activities to express gratitude to its employees for their hard
work and to promote cross-departmental communication and interaction. The Company prepares Thanksgiving
cards, badges and gifts to employees who have been with the Company for three years or more, and organizes
Thanksgiving-related cultural story sharing, allowing employees to feel the Company's recognition of and care for

their contributions.

HERBEHRE - MEAAMT —RIEE - REHBTFHTIENRAZIE  WOEBIFIRER
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ATBABZERMN FB TRERMEOEF  BERES - AR TRESXCKENT - RETHEIA
AISHE A R AT SRR o

Bloks strengthens communication with its employees
by establishing multiple channels to promote interaction
between the management and the employees, ensuring
that the voices of employees are fully heard and fed back.
Bloks regularly conducts employee satisfaction survey in the
form of questionnaires and has received high ratings from
employees in respect of employee benefits, team culture and
communication channels. Bloks will continuously deepen its
care for employees, optimize its welfare system, and further
strengthen communication with employees to ensure that
every employee can feel more care and support in their future
work.

Bloks actively makes every effort to talent retention, and does
its utmost to reduce employee turnover from multiple aspects
such as compensation and benefits, training and development,
and employee communication. And the employee turnover
rate of the Company this year is 25.0%.
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By gender By age
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4.4 Occupational Health and Safety 4.4 BERERZE

Bloks has always upheld the core concept of “people oriented
and safety first”, and is committed to creating a safe, healthy
and harmonious working environment for its employees.
Bloks strictly abides by the laws and regulations such as the
"Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
the “Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
formulates its internal systems including the “Warehouse
Safety Hazards and Prevention Methods”, the “Warehouse Fire
Safety Regulations”, and the “Fire Extinguishing and Emergency
Evacuation Plans”, as well as emergency plans for various
safety incidents. It strictly implements daily supervisions and
inspections, and clarifies emergency response and handling
procedures related to occupational health and safety.

In daily management, Bloks requires all employees, external
suppliers and visitors to wear work uniforms or identification
vests with badges when approaching the warehouse area,
and requires forklift operators to hold valid certificates and
wear safety helmets. To further strengthen safety production
management, Bloks" Warehousing and Logistics Center has
worked closely with the property management company
to carry out daily safety inspections, promptly identify and
rectify potential safety hazards, and issue rectification reports
accordingly, continuously enhancing safety prevention and
management capabilities.
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Occupational safety and health training for Bloks’ Warehousing and Logistics Center

HEAUARYRTOBEERZ 2R EE

The Warehousing and Logistics Center has fully implemented the occupational safety and health training system.
The system of daily morning meeting before work and gathering after work is implemented, during which the
module leader organizes discussions on issues as encountered during operations and improvement measures
to strengthen safety awareness. On the Tst of each month, the Company convenes a monthly safety meeting as
attended by all employees to systematically summarize the work and safety of the previous month and propose
improvements, thus ensuring that safety management responsibilities are implemented at all levels. Meanwhile,
Bloks also insists on conducting monthly safe driving training for forklift operators, thus upgrading their operational
skills and reducing safety risks through a combination of theory and practice. With the help of these systematic
and normalized trainings, employees’ safety awareness and skill levels have been continuously enhanced, and the
overall safety management system has been optimized as well.
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Fire safety management &P Z 2 B &

« Regularly inspect fire-fighting facilities, test fire-fighting systems every six months, clearly mark evacuation
routes and keep passages unobstructed.
- EHREER R T FOBED R8T - ARIRER AR AT RIRELR -

Electricity safety and equipment management A EZ 2 R EER

« Regularly rule out circuit aging and socket overload, require employees to switch off equipment power
after work, and check the stability of office furniture.

- THHEERZCERAHEE  BRET THEABMAREGER  BREPARERENE

Office environment health management i} A REEEEE

« Apply fresh air system or air purification equipment, ventilate regularly every week and arrange green plants,
and provide ergonomic office desks and chairs.

- ERAMERGRERFCRE  FETRBRLMERE  RHTEARIENHARE -

+ Require employees to proactively report safety hazards, erect repair channels, set up access control
systems, strengthen visitor management, and install monitoring in valuables storage areas.

- ERETIPRELERBLRIRERE - REMERGANRTEER - EEVRERREY
P32l

Maintenance of Workplace Safety by Bloks
MEAHETHERELS

Over the past three years, Bloks has not experienced any work- BE=ZFA  MBAIREEEMT
related accidents or fatalities. BERLRTBILTENS -
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5 LOVE TRANSMISSION AND BETTER SOCIETY 5 ZROEE - RS

Bloks actively fulfills its social responsibilities, and continuously MEABERITHEEME  HEXHR
supports and participates in social welfare activities that align with DHEGARMEBEEBRNHLERRIE -
its values. We closely monitor the growth of minors and create BMEIEFERKFEARE - BiBREME
better learning conditions and growth environments for them by RREHEERIFELSN  AtMEEE
providing curriculum and product support; we actively promote THEB RGN RESE  RMOEGHE
the popularization and development of culture and art, aiming at X BMHE REER - RERIEH
offering the public more cultural activities and artistic experience FEHXEBFEMBREE - &M
opportunities; and we care for the elderly and respond to the needs FEEFRE  BRBEERNIIA
of special elderly groups through the research and development R DESKEFHBTE R UEBR
of products suitable for them, thus creating long-term value for the TERLGEIEREAEE -

society through practical actions.

Caring for the dementia group and launching elderly-friendly programs

RIRAAERE - FIREERIRE

Under the trend of population aging, the needs of the silver-haired population are becoming increasingly diverse and
personalized, along with the size of the dementia group continuously rising. To meet the needs of this group and their
families, Bloks has been collaborating with multiple parties since 2022 to carry out elderly-friendly programs, including
Shanghai Jian'ai Charity Development Center, professors in the field of brain science from hospitals, and the Industrial
Design Department of Shanghai Institute of Visual Arts.

The Company has developed its first collaborative product called “Memory Palace Color Cubes”, a set of assembling
brick-based toys specifically designed for people over 40 who are beginning to show a tendency towards cognitive issues.
Based on the theoretical foundation of the Schulte Grid Attention Training Method, this product combines educational
functionality with emotional companionship, which not only helps the elderly exercise their attention, cognition and
memory, but also promotes interaction and communication among family members during gameplay, satisfying the
emotional companionship and social needs of the elderly.

In the future, we will continue to promote this cooperation program, thus providing more quality products and services
for the elderly and contributing to the construction of a healthy aging society.
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Collaborating with Shanghai Mass Art Center to organize a assembly character toys experience activity
BE LemRREMEASHEACETARRED

Bloks supports the municipal government in carrying out cultural and artistic activities. In November 2024, the Company
collaborated with Shanghai Mass Art Center to provide assembly character toys products during the series of events
themed “Model Classroom”, allowing participants to experience the joy of role interaction while enjoying the fun of
assembly. Additionally, the model-making experience was organized to cultivate participants’ hands-on abilities and to
enhance their perception of beauty.

BRAXHMERAREXCEMES - 2024118 - A7
W ESMEREMEAE  EIRUHEIRIERP - 2HE
HREACKRIAER R2EECREHENERPIZRT
AGHEBHMRERST  WRBENEHFERAIEE2EEN
BT - mBRBEEHARA -

Co-hosting a charity event themed “Happy Summer in Metro City” as held at MetroCity to help students thrive
BEXBREN BYLSHEXE | DBRTHYHHEFEARR

During the Reporting Period, Bloks as a charity partner provided products such as Blokees Spidey And His Amazing
Friends Series 1 and Blokees Marvel Infinity Saga Galaxy Version Series 1 for the 25th charity event themed “"Happy
Summer in Metro City" as held at Shanghai MetroCity, allowing assembly character toys to convey the power of joy
and accompanying students through a delightful summer vacation. During the activity, many students assembled
and interacted with assembly character toys, exploring the unknown through hands-on practice and acquiring new
knowledge through play. So, Bloks helps cultivate children’s hands-on abilities and creativity by offering assembling
products, while spreading happiness and care.
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APPENDIX: INDEX TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDELINES OF THE STOCK

EXCHANGE
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Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and

key performance indicators (KPIs)

RE  HERERERE-REERBRARERKP)

P g% - BEXFRCIRER

‘HERELREEHE

Involved section

FrE 8

Environment
R

Al: General Disclosure
Emissions —RHE

Al:

3L

Key Performance
Indicator A1.1
B ERIERAL

Key Performance
Indicator A1.2
R B NUEIRAL 2

Key Performance
Indicator A1.3
B EMIERALS

Key Performance
Indicator A1.4
BRENUERAL 4

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

BRERNRERBHMN - mARIAHS - AEREZENN

EAEH

(@ BE: &

(b) BFHETABERTYENRBEELANINER -

The types of emissions and respective emission data.

P A RARRR PR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tons) and (if applicable) density (if calculated per unit
of production, per facility).

B (8E) ketiRfE% (8E2) RERE

& AREEHE) &
(InER) BE (WABEREN - ®EREHE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FELRERENEE AT k (ER) BE (WASEEE
fii - SERIEE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FESREENEE TS Rk (WER) B8 (WIEBESE
fi - BIEREEE) o

Low-carbon Development and
Creen Future — Green Operation
E#HER - HERR
—REER

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
EmER  #ERK
—HEEE

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Response to
Climate Change

{ERER - REBRR
—EHRREL

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
{ERER - RERR
-REEE

Low-carbon Development and

Green Future — Green Operations

{ERER - RERR

—HEES

* The Company plans to
implement systematic tracking
and management of both total
volume and density metrics
for generated non-hazardous
waste in the future

* KREREIRREMELE
ERENBELTEETR
n-l'ﬂ] B i
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Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and
key performance indicators (KPls)
RIE - HEREAERE-RKERBRENEZ(KP)

A2: Resources
Usage

A2:

ERER

Key Performance
Indicator A1.5
BREIIERALS

Key Performance
Indicator A1.6
BRIENURIRALE

General Disclosure

~#i8

Key Performance
Indicator A2.1
BRE BB IRA2.)

Key Performance
Indicator A2.2
R B NUEIRA22

Key Performance
Indicator A2.3
BRENIERA23

Key Performance
Indicator A2.4
BREWIERA24

Description of the emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
BRI HE A E B

BRAEHELR EMFRRNTH -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

RREBREERESENNA L - KRR RER R RRE
FELARARRNSR o

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BRERER (BHEER - KREMBRMF) HBE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g, electricity,
gas or oil) in total (in thousands of kilowatt hours) and intensity (per
unit of production volume, per facility).
REREDNERR/LEEER

TREHE) REE (WABES B - §E;

(% - Rh) BHEE (ATE
wiE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BREKERER IMUBEEEN - BRRIEEH) °

Description of the energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BT RERE AR A R R AERIEL B RARRN SR -

Description of whether there is any matters in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

BB KR L AT B AR - IR LA AKSEE R
REREL R ZATRERE SR -
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Involved section

FrEE8

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
ERER - HERR
—REeEs

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
EIRER - SEARR
—HeEs

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
ERER  #ERK
-HEEE

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
EmRER  #ERK
S

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
EmER  #BRK
-REEE

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
ERER - HERR
—REeEs

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
EIRER - SEARR
—HeEs
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Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and

key performance indicators (KPls)

RE  HERERERE-REERBRERIEEKP)

Key Performance
Indicator A2.5
BRENIEIRA25

A3: Environment  Ceneral Disclosure

and Natural —fREE

Resources

A3 :

RER

XRER
Key Performance
Indicator A3.1
BRI MUEIEA3.

A4: Climate General Disclosure

Change —REE

A4 :

RIS

Key Performance
Indicator A4.1
BRE MIE IR

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and
(if applicable) with reference to per unit produced.
MRS EE CAEE) k (ER)

=
s °

BHEEMMG

Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

REZETAHRERRAERELERT ENOIE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

R RDHRANARERNEAY ERCERDBERARTE
778 -

Policies on identification and mitigation of material climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
;@%EJ&T@TE%« HEHRTAELY ENEARKEREEN
B

Description of the material climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.
BRESRTREHETAELYENEARFIEREE - JEY
178 -

Involved section

FrEE8

Low-carbon Development and

Creen Future — Creen Operation

BHRER  SEAR-REEL

* The packaging material data
disclosed this year covers
only warehouse consumption
volumes. The Company plans
to implement comprehensive
group-wide tracking and
management (including
contract manufacturers) in
future reporting periods

* AEEREEMAEIRE
BREEERNEME - K
RAERREZ AREE

(BERIK) &N

35

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future — Green Operation
{ERER - RERR
-REEE

Low-carbon Development and
Creen Future — Creen Operation
EIER - HEARR
—ReEs

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future ~ Response to
Climate Change

ERER  #ERK
-EHREE

Low-carbon Development and
Green Future - Response to
Climate Change

{ERRER - REBRR
—EHREEL
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RIE - HERERBWS

Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and

key performance indicators (KPls)

B HERERERE-RRERBRENEZ(KP)

Involved section

FrEE8

Society

e

B1: Employment  General Disclosure
B1: —REE

&R

Key Performance
Indicator B1.1
BB IERB

Key Performance
Indicator B1.2
BR B RUERRB1 2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, other
benefits and benefits.

BAHWREE  BEREA  TERE B TE#e 41

1t - R IA R Eft 38 AR A -

(@) BE: Rk

(b) BFHETABERYENEMERRAGINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (full- or part-time), age
group and geographical region.

BRI ERER (WE2BSRE)  FRANUEESNES
i

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

TR FRARNEIDNEERAILE -
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People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
AARK - FEFHE
—-BTER

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
AARK - EFHE
-BTEE

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
AABA - BFHA
—-BTER
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Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and

key performance indicators (KPls) Involved section

RIE - HERERERE-RKEERBRENEE(KP) FREEH

B2: Healthand  General Disclosure  Information on: People Orientation and Shared
Safety —MRIKRE (a) the policies; and Growth — Occupational Health
B2: (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have and Safety

BER a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a  JAABK + EF A

2% safe working environment and protecting employees from  —Bi¥fEEEZ 2

occupational hazards.
BRRHZ 2 TIERERRIEEEBEBENAEM -
(@) BE: Rk
(b) BTHBITAREATBNRBEZRRONER -

Key Performance Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past  People Orientation and Shared
Indicator B2.1 three years including the reporting year. Growth — Occupational Health
BRENEEBL]  BE=F (PEERER) SFEAITHAMABIRLE and Safety
AARK - EF A
Key Performance Lost days due to work injury. People Orientation and Shared
Indicator B2.2 AIGEATIEAY Growth — Occupational Health
B A IEIRB2.2 and Safety
AARK - EF A
-BREREZS
Key Performance Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and ~ People Orientation and Shared
Indicator B2.3 how they are implemented and monitored. Growth — Occupational Health

BRENESE2:  HIMRANBRRREZZER  ARRBHRITRERNL - and Safety
AR BT HE
-REREER2
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== #&l:l

Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and

key performance indicators (KPls)

B HERERERE-RRERBRENEZ(KP)

Involved section

FrEE8

B3: General Disclosure
Development —RIKRE

and Training

B3 :

BRR

13

Key Performance
Indicator B3.1
BB NEIRB3.]

Key Performance
Indicator B3.2
AR ENIEEB3.2

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BERRERET TFRAMNMB LG MECR - HilEIES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUERRESEN (WERERRE PREEE) 8D
Bt e

M 3IES

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
RIERIREEERIE D

- BREE TR TR -

150

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E& A EEAR LT

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Development and
Training

AARK - HFHE

— )RR

* The Company plans to
conduct statistics and
management on the
percentage of trained
employees by employee
category in the future

¥ RRAEEIRRERERSR
RIBIDBRFIES AN L
Tt g R

* The Company plans to
conduct statistics and
management on the average
hours of training completed
by each employee by
employee gender and
category in the future

¥ ARRREIRRERIERIR
EEERIZIDOELERT
R0 TR B 1T 5eat
MER
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RIE - HEREBWMS

Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and
key performance indicators (KPls)
RIE - HERERERE-RKEERBRENEE(KP)

B4: Labor
Standards
B4 :

B IER

B5: Supply Chain
Management
B5:

g

35

General Disclosure
—BE

Key Performance
Indicator B4.1
BB RIEERA

Key Performance
Indicator B4.2
B EIERBA2

General Disclosure
—MEE

Key Performance
Indicator B5.1
RSB RUEIRRS.T

Key Performance
Indicator B5.2
AR B MUEIRB5.2

Key Performance
Indicator B5.3
BAR B UEIEB5.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

B LETHAEGETH

(@ BE: Rk

(b) BTHBITAREAZENRBEZLRONER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labor.
fimRE Bl MR ERE T REHST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

HRERRERBERERARERMRRNSR -

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.
ERHRENRER ERRICE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

TR EI D EHERER

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

it ARRREERNEN  MERTEREMNNOHERHE - U
RRBRTRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HEEARRERGERENRERMSRRNER - UREH
AIRERERE -

Involved section

FrEE8

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
MARAE - BF e
-BTEE

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
AABA - BF A
-8TRRE

People Orientation and Shared
Growth — Employee Employment
AARK - EFHE
-B8IRRE

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Sustainable Supply
Chain

SHmE - REHE

— A B R

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Sustainable Supply
Chain

FHmE  REHE

— B R

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Sustainable Supply
Chain

FHmE - REHE

— AR

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Sustainable Supply
Chain

FHME - REFHE

— AR E LR
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/D#&l:u

Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and
key performance indicators (KPls)
RIE - HEREAERE-RKERBRENEZ(KP)

B6: Product
Liability

B6 :
EREf

Key Performance
Indicator B5.4
B A RUEIEB5.4

General Disclosure

—REE

Key Performance
Indicator B6.1
BB RIEIERG.1

Key Performance
Indicator B6.2
BB RUEIRB6.2

Key Performance
Indicator B6.3
BB IEIRB6.3

Key Performance
Indicator B6.4
BB ENUIE12B6.4

Key Performance
Indicator B6.5
RSB RUEIRB6.5

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

T RS BRI R (R 2 R RE m R RIS 1B A
IREERE -

* AR

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labeling and privacy issues of the matters relating to
products and sevices provided and methods of redress.

BHFREELNRBENRRELRSE  BE  REIBZEUR

ARTIER -

(@ BE: &

(b) BTHBITAREAZBNRBEZIRONER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

EEADERERBH TR 2 REFEMMALRNADLL -

Number of products and service related complaints received, and
how they are dealt with.
BEENREMRRBNRFEEUREERE

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.
it B R R RENBERGEOED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
S ERT REREREKRE o

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

IR EEERRERLBIE - UREBRTRERDE -

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

Involved section

FrEE8

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Sustainable Supply
Chain

SURE - REHHE
— AR

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Product

Responsibility
SHME - REPHE
-EmRfE

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Product

Responsibility
SHmE - REFHE
—Emaft

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Quality Customer
Services
SHMmE - REHE

- E%ﬁﬁ&%

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling — Innovative Drive
SHME - REHHE

— B

Excellent Quality and Happy
Assembling - Product

Responsibility
SHmE - REHE
—EmAfT

Compliance Operation and Long-
term Governance — Information
Security and Privacy Protection
BREE  REAE
—EERR 2 HELRE
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Environmental, social and governance categories, general disclosures and
key performance indicators (KPls)
RIE - HERERERE-RKEERBRENEE(KP)

B7: Anti-
corruption
B7:
R&S

B8: Community
Investment
B8 :

General Disclosure

—REE

Key Performance
Indicator B7.1
BB IEIRRT.

Key Performance
Indicator B7.2
BB IEIRBT 2

Key Performance
Indicator B7.3
PR ENUIRIRBT 3

General Disclosure

—REE

Key Performance
Indicator B8.1
S ERIEIRRS.]

Key Performance
Indicator B8.2
BRENES
B8.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRI LB - 91F - HGFRORRE -

(@ BE: Rk

(b) EFHRITABERYENEMERRAGINER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RERBNHETASHEESRETEEENES
KRR

AR

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Hdp R R RIER  AREBRTRERT S

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HRRESERE TREMRESE -

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BEtES ,\XW” BEMEHEEENRREEAKEHEZR
AR M EABER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g, education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERERE (HE REFE SIFR BE UL 8
B)e

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EZIREMBRER M EAFR) -

Involved section

FrEE8

Compliance Operation and Long-
term Governance — Business
Ethics

AL RAE
-BREE

Compliance Operation and Long-
term Governance — Business
Ethics

aMgE  RWaRE

—AFER

Compliance Operation and Long-
term Governance — Business
Ethics

ARLE  RIAE
EES

Compliance Operation and Long-
term Governance — Business
Ethics

BREE  RiaRE

_F;ﬁ¥ 1@

Love Transmission and Better
Society
BOEE - EFite

Love Transmission and Better
Society
ELEE  Xgde

* The Company plans to
conduct statistics and
management on the
resources contributed to the
focus areas in the future

¥ RDRRFEIRREER R
FrE) R & RE TR AE
i
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young LK EHETEEIRAR Tel E50: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place . b
§ * 979 King’s Road A RREEI799E Fax {5 E: +852 2868 4432
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Kigtp—REE271E ey.com
To the shareholders of Bloks Group Limited EhEUEBERAREZERRE

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bloks Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the "Group”) set out
on pages 159 to 269, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

(REJEHETMA LA BRI E])

HFE BT FE 1592269 E FE A B EEE
RARI(ERR D EEMBAR(EERE])
z%mﬁﬁﬁ% BIER2024F12A31H 2
W%#R%&ﬁ%&aﬁﬁfZ?é%
% FATmMWER - %*%ﬁ%&
ﬁéﬁimiﬁu&ﬁé%%ﬁﬁw )
FEERLITBKRER -
RMRE - FEMBERRBERBRSER

Ii%”*(([%"%@% HEAEES |) B RE
P mEER([ERMEHREENDEER
ﬁﬁm&%TA%@%ﬂnMﬂzﬁmEZ%
BB REEZRILFEE AT BR
BRHEGERERE  WEREBEFBEQAAIE
Bz TR ELZEHES -
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18 M AR &

Key audit matter
HRBENEE
Impairment provision for inventories

FERERE

As at 31 December 2024, the balances of gross inventories
and the inventory provision amounted to RMB287,915
thousand and RMB9,376 thousand, respectively.

R2024F 128318 - FERERTFEREHREIBIBA
R¥287915T T ARY9,376 T 7T °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

FERKANENR TR FEME 2 BIREFIER - JE5R
FRE TR AT E B 25 STk B i & % 2E A B (Rl (i 5K

Significant judgement is required in assessing the adequacy
of the provision for inventories. Judgements includes
forecast inventory demand, estimated future selling prices
and selling expenses of inventories.
EHEFEREEORARKHRT2ELERYE - 2R
RAFEERL - M FENRKEEASHEERT -

As a result, we identified inventory provision as a key audit
matter.

At - BHASFERERN RERETSFER -

The accounting policies and disclosures for inventories and
the provision are included in Notes 2.4, 3 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
FEFERERBHSAHRMEBEH NGV E@mEK
BiFE2.4 ~ HRE3 R FIFE20 ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN FTONNEEFERETSR

Our procedures included, among others:

BN EFERE (AP eR)

Understood, evaluated and validated the controls which
management adopted to monitor inventory provision,
analysis of aging report and in making estimation of the
probability of selling such inventories;

TH - HETREEEERERFERE - HTRER
EUAR G HEZSFEN AR EMERARZESIEE

Tested the aging profile of inventories items on a sample
basis by checking relevant supporting documents;
BRREERERXY - RS EFERE NER
REEEITRIR

Discussed with the management about the reasonableness
of assumption and evaluated the basis management used
to determine inventory provision, including: i) compared
subsequent sales with inventory balance in the calculation
with forecast inventory demand; i) compared the estimated
selling prices of inventories in the calculation to their recent
selling price, on a sample basis, by checking invoices; iii)
compared forecast selling expense with historical data and
evaluated with anticipated promotion activities;
HEBENRERNSEN  WAGHEREBRUEET
BERENKE - 21 )BERNEEBEREFESRF
EHRBEREAINFEFTICETHER i) BERHER
BT A B FEN At EERLTREEHET
LLER + i) 7% FEDBI 0 85 65 B S B SR BUBGETTLL B - W0 A4S
BIEERR SR BETTAT A ¢

Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
inventory provisions on sample basis;

DAt s VRIS TE B B AT B O SRS E R I

Attended physical observations on sample basis and
observed physical condition of inventories during stock
take to identify slow-moving, damaged, or obsolete
inventories, and inquired management if appropriate
inventory provision had been provided for those
inventories.

MBS X2 EEREEER - WERHPREEFE
WEDIR - UERIEEEE  BHEZEIEBRNE
5 UHRERERACHRSEFEFLTEENTFE
Rt o

Reviewed the presentation and disclosure of the provision
for inventory in the financial statements.

BEVHMATFERENIIHREBERR -
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The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

ERERBFBSKFRE - EATNMRERES
ABEAEAETHENRGERFEZEXN
BH AR PR o B8 3R PR A 7T BE  BREF SR EE AR 5
B YHHEFRAFASERNEREN
PREZFHRAMBRRMEIELERE
AR S EA SRR -

AR EEBEERIET B — 55
BPIE 2 B HA D 745 30 22 M 5
S - BN

© BRI RFHERRRFRERMEBEE
B HERFEEA#ERELZ AR - &
SERHITER AR ELRR - A
REBRRRMEEZENERE R
BMBRZE%E - ARKRFFAI S K H
RomE - FRER ERRM - 0%
BRARERZ £ Fit REEZERR AR
FEMBHZ BRHEREL 2 ABRENA
REBRHARBRMEM I EAHERRML 2
E

« THREZSHAR 2 ARES] - AREHE
RREBRZEEF EEMAE
4 BEEEAMEHNZIEREERER -

« FMEEEHMEAEERRNBEERE
SETATMERREERN SR -

- HEERABELESHERZREN
e & o IRIFFTER 2 BEHEE -
ERAFEEZERFERAEHIERT
HEM KMAREERYE EKEZ
FERERNELETRRE - MRRM
RREFEEATHETE - ABEBBRER
BN E P IRBEAEIBRA MR
RPZHEAWE  ABEABUIHET
AR EMzER - HfizEmE
AERBERHMRE M UEANEZE
B o AR - RRFEKIFRAESE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR T

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2025

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

M A LS 22
?ﬁ]‘\lﬂ H m

Year ended 31 December 2024 #H ZE2024F 128318 IFFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling and distribution expenses

Research and development expenses

Administrative expenses

Other income, other gains and losses, net

Other expenses

Provision for impairment losses on financial
assets, net

Finance costs

Fair value changes on convertible
redeemable preferred shares

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

LOSS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic and diluted (RMB)

L'ON
HERA

EF

HHE LA HF
R
TR
HAKA ~ BAtlas RS 1EFER
HAFIS
TREEREEERE
T
LU IDRIN
Al ELELEN AR EE

BRBLATE IR
S BRI

FEBR

AT & 75 FE A
SREHEAA
IR R

BRAREER
BHEFEA
RSB REE
EARREE(ARET)

Notes

Kt

(0}

28

12

14

2024

2024
RMB’000
AR¥T R

2,240,929
(1,062,123)

1,178,806
(283,122)
(192,467)
(465,047)

17,141
(4,648)

(2,344)
(2,005)

(541,996)

(295,682)
(102,362)

(398,044)
(401,047)
3,003

(398,044)

(2.69)

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARETTT

876,686
(461,764)

414,922
(189,280)
(94,657)
(49,230)
5,987
(695)

(1,100)
(1,654)

(274,132)

(189,839)
(17,642)

(207,481)
(206,100)
(1,381)

(207,481)

(1.38)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEERmER

Year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F 128318 ILFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

FEER

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HftZmEWz, ~(Eig)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may /&R AIsE €@ BEF DS

be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of the

financial statements of the Company BITS I RERAE L Z5E
and its subsidiaries other than those are (RIMEZERRIN*
foreign operations*
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEHM2mEK=
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (HNBRBLIE)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE S E2HEEIEAEE
YEAR
Attributable to: NT&EFEG :
Owners of the parent BREEE A
Non-controlling interests FEIERR
* The Company and its subsidiaries whose activities are based or conducted in the

1B HEAD

EHEYE(ER) -

PEIBIMEEELD
P ERR

HESRTE B
B R
(&518),/ s -

FEARRRREKB AT

currency same as that of the Company are not foreign operations.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

*

2024

2024

Notes RMB'000
Hist AR¥T R

(398,044)

6,282

(3,412)

1,870

(396,174)

(399,177)

3,003

(396,174)

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARBETTT

(207,481)

(12)

90

78

(207,403)

(206,022)

(1,381)

(207,403)

AARREEBHAEMAAREFNEEEARF

FEREM B R R TBRIRIMEE -



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI AR

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments, other receivables and other
non-current assets

Pledged deposits — non-current

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and other
current assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables in connection with the
Reorganization

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and notes payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Tax payables

Amounts due to related parties

Convertible redeemable preferred shares

Lease liabilities

Payables in connection with the
Reorganization

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

WE - BB LR
EREEE
BVEE
EXEBBEE

TER IR ~ Bt e WRIR S E At

FRBEE
BEHEMER-FRD
FRBEERE

REBEE
Ea
B 5 YRR

TERFOR B R YGRIA R

HAmEEE

BAREBEFTEEREFHETA

EHEaNEREE
[REEBEED /N
RERASEEY
HBABRIN

& WA

hRBEERE

REBAE

B RN R ENRE
BHAE
AR 5R0R e et B
FERTIR
JEAS BB 00 3R
RIS A] A 8 SR Y
HERE
HEHARANERN

IR

REBRERE

REBREFE

BEABRRE
afE

Notes

Hiat

15
16(a)

17

19

22
23

20
21

22
23
23

27

24
26
25

35
28
16(b)

27

31 December
2024

202445
12A31H
RMB’'000
AR¥T

153,736
57,430
21,432

144,953

12,015
985

390,551

278,539
111,986

72,796

32,157
719,962

1,215,440

566,698
83,392
272,322
16,953
2,207,012
35,126

3,181,503

(1,966,063)

(1,575,512)

31 December
2023
20234
12H31H
RMB'000
ARETTT

47,672
58,442
5773
203,795

14,718

330,400

76,294
38,256

14,477
1,251
8,141

360,837

183,000

682,256

259,671
66,325
169,373
118
25913

21,969

187,520

730,889

(48,633)

281,767
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible redeemable preferred shares
Lease liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Total non-current liabilities
Net liabilities

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the
parent

Share capital

Deficits

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Zhu Weisong
KRB

FRBRE
A e AT OB Y

o 2B S B
SREE R
& mEE

B
FRATEEAEEES

[LEN
B

RS

R

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

EFRREFEHITE

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

31 December
2024
20245
12A31H
Notes RMB’'000
Kzt AR¥T R
28 -
16(b) 25,078
25 -
25,078
(1,600,590)
29 128
30 (1,600,718)
(1,600,590)
(1,600,590)
Sheng Xiaofeng
ERREIE
Executive Director
HITEE

31 December
2023
20234
12H31H
RMB'000
ARETTT

1,848,016
34,962
7,083

1,890,061

(1,608,294)

128
(1,606,385)

(1,606,257)

(2,037)

(1,608,294)



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Z S\ O

wT\ *H/zz

Bx

Year ended 31 December 2024 #H ZE2024F 128318 IFFE

At 1 January 2024

Profit loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive incomey/ (oss)
for the year

R2024F1 818

EREH/(BR)
FERBZENE
MEHE

ﬁﬁ%@%/ (B%)

1

Transaction with non-controling interests Eﬁi# TRERNR S

Recagnition of share-based
payment expenses
Others

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/ (oss)
for the year
Issue of shares

AURDAREL
s
&t

#2024£128318

#0231 318

ERER
FERBZENE
MERE

FEREME/ (BR)

Lk
&1kt

Transacton with non-controling interests EFEERERHZH

Recognition of share-based payment
expenses

At 31 December 2023

AARDARRN
#H

#2023 128318

Share

capital

k&

Notes  RMB'000
N SO
128

34 -
31 -
128

112

16

34 -
31 -
128

Attributable to owners of the parent

Share
premium*
RiigE*

RMB000
ARHT T

101,465

101,465

701481

(16)

701,465

Other Accumulated

BRRREAELRS

Share
option

reserve* reserve*

BRERE  HtRE

RMB'000  RMB'000

AEETR  ARETR

828 (163,993)

- 1,870

- 1,870

- (2420)

407,264 -

185506 (164,583)

0051 (123810)

- 78

- 78

- (40260)

6,231 -

2828 (163993)

* These reserve accounts comprised deficits RMB1,600,7 18,000 and RMB1,606,385,000
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,

respectively.

*

losses*
iR
RMB'000
ARETR

(2,172,139)

(401,047)

(401,047)

(2573,186)

(1966039)

(206,100)

(206,100)

2172,139)

Non-
controlling Total
Total interests equity
&t FRRER  ERER
RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR  ARMTR ARBTR

(1606251 (2031)  (1,608294)

(401,07) 3005 (398,04)

1,870 1,870

(99,177) 3008 (396,174)
(2420) 0 (2400

407,264 407,264
- (986) (986)

(1,600,590) (1,600,590)

(1366205 (10910)  (1377,115)
(06100 (1381)  (207481)

8 - 8

06022)  (1381)  (207403)

(@021) 1054 (30007)

6,231 - 6,231

(1606257)  (2037)  (1,608294)

ZEHERE BER2024F K2023F 12 A31HK
GRE BT IR FR P BV E A A R #61,600,718,0007T &
AE#1,606,385,0007T °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
.\/'_R Iﬁ:@/)lb%%‘%

Year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F 128318 ILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EEEBEESRE

Loss before tax BRI RIETE

Adjustments for: AT EEEL AR
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - Fi&E M & ETE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE
Amortisation of intangible assets BB ERH

Impairment of inventories EFERE
Impairment of trade receivables, net B ZREWGRIBERE T

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - BB K& ERE

(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, HEWME - BER&ER
plant and equipment (Hz) B

Gain on early termination of leases RATR EHE R

Fair value losses on convertible redeemable AR AT B BB ST AR Y
preferred shares AREEER

Fair value changes of cash management ReEREMIRREE
products gty

Share-based payment expenses VAR 1) 72 B0 6 2 B

Finance costs B IDIN

Others EAh,

Increase in inventories FEEM

5 MUK IRIE
FAN IR ~ EoAd R GRIR e

Increase in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, other receivables

and other assets HbBEEM
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits B FEROEM),
Increase in trade and notes payables B Z N FIE R RN ERIE M
Increase in other payables and accruals HAb e 5IE R EFT B AE M
Increase in contract liabilities ERAEEMN
Cash generated from operations REEBFRE
Income tax paid EATET1SHL
Net cash flows from operating activities RETBAFREMEFH
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEFfERESRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME - BEREHE
plant and equipment PG RIE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEME - WEREB
equipment HH
Purchases of items of intangible assets BERTEEIER
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through & & jﬂ’&fcfﬁﬁufzﬁﬁﬁ
profit or loss FFABHBRSENEREE
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair Hj’iﬁ’&ftfﬁfﬁﬁriﬁﬁ;
value through profit or loss TABHESNSREEN
FT8 58
Net cash used in investing activities KREZBAAIREFH

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

2024
20244
RMB’000
ARBT T

Notes

Hrat

(295,682)

15 35,958
16(a) 24,012
17 27,577
202

9 1,698
15 702

9 (270)

9 541,996

©

)
407,264
8 2,005
476

e}

745,936

(203,001)
(78,033)

(40,278)
(25,001)
307,027

86,769
17,080

810,499
(48,174)

762,325

360

(84,101)
(36,382)

1,253

(118,870)

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARBTIT

(189,839)

13,837
21,237
9,618
152
871

22
a7

274,132
27)
6,231

1,654
229

138,040

(15,238)
(23,828)

(3,610)
923
141,138

11,807
35,696

284,928
(36)

284,892

45

(24311)
(19,030)

(10,000)

10,027

(43,269)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #H ZE2024F 128318 IFFE

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Kzt ARMTT ARETT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @EEEfEBEESRE

Proceeds from issuance of Preferred Shares TR ERMATSFHIE - 1,194,000
Payment in connection with the Reorganization in £/ B it B4 A BA R

Mainland China (NN (4,520) (1,219,818)
Payment for Warrant settlement RIXEF BB 28 (183,000) -
Lease payments MHERRK 16(b) (21,732) (19,300)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERPTEHIE - 884,247
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBRITER - (889,247)
Repayment of loan payable to a third party 1§ﬁﬁ1ﬁ%k”_7iﬁ’lf§% (7,095) -
Repayment of amounts due to related parties 1218 FE{S BB 5 A FR08 (25,914) (18,974)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WS JEE AR R 2 34 (32,400) -
Issuance costs paid B EITRA (11,566) -
Interest paid BEFE - (1,054)
Net cash flows used in financing activities REEEFRAR S RE T (286,227) (70,146)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BRERASEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS B 357,228 171,477
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#IR& MIBEHEY 360,837 188,972
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, net  [ERE BRI 2 HEE 1,897 388
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRASRREEEY

END OF YEAR 23 719,962 360,837

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH &R IREZEY
EQUIVALENTS EER AT
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in E".‘.’v’? BRI R R
the consolidated statement of financial BEREXRMANEREESR
position and statement of cash flows BHEEEY 719,962 360,837
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

166

Bloks Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 28 July 2021 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, Grand Cayman KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group underwent
the reorganization as set out in the section headed “History,
Development and Reorganization” (the “Reorganization”) in the
prospectus published on 31 December 2024. During the Reporting
Period, the Company's subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
design, development and sales of toys.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 10 January 2025.

As of the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the Company had direct and indirect interests in its subsidiaries, the
principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value
of issued

Place and date
of incorporation/

MEUEEERAR(TARR ] R2021
FTA2ARBERASHEFE22ERADE
(1961 FE3FVAM « && T RISE])IE
MeHSdMKLAEREEREMT
A A o AN E) M #% = R ik & Floor
4, Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand
Cayman KY1-9010, Cayman Islands ©

KRB BIEERRF c RATRIMHEIE
BFARAK AN B OB B A Rl 2 HE1TH 2024
F1I2A3BFIENHBRERZIESL - &
REER|—rEmEHm((EE]) - B
MEHE > ARFNMBEATETERSE
AT AEREEDA -

ARABR2025F1 A 1I0HERFEB AR
SETERARER LT -
HERAUBRREMEZR » AQF

O EL O 20 B B 28 L R RS
EBHBARMT

Percentage of

registration and ordinary/registered equity attributable Principal

Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
EMRL,

iR A BRTZER/
L UREEHRE TR ANEE ARAEEEEEDL TEED
Direct Indirect
B %

Bloks Holding Limited BVI USD50,000 100.00% - Investment holding
10 August 2021

Bloks Holding Limited KERBRES 50,000 7T 100.00% - REERR
202158A10H

China Bloks Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.00%  Investment holding
31 August 2021

PERETERERAF BE 10,0007 - 100.00% REEK
2021%8A31H

Shanghai Bloks Technology PRC/  RMB300,000,000 - 100.00% Design,

Group Co,, Ltd. (i) Mainland China development and

(DBMERARREEBRAR) 24 December 2014 sales of toys

BB TR EEAR R i) /B AR - 100.00% Rt FER

201412 H24R 300,000,0007C HETA

Shanghai Bloks Bricks PRC/  RMB100,000,000 - 100.00% Design,

Technology Co,, Ltd. (i) Mainland China development and

(DBmEARBAMKARAR) 1 March 2019 sales of toys

LERETRBAMBARRR) "/ HE R AR - 100.00% et FHER

2019%3A1H 100,000,0007C HETA

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

of incorporation/ of issued
registration and ordinary/registered
Name place of operations share capital
B3
iR A & BERITEER/
A% UREEHE ZRANEE
Shanghai Puti Culture PRC/ RMB5,000,000
Communication Limited (i) Mainland China
(PBARXEREARAR) 27 July 2016
HEBRERERAF) B/ AN, NG
2016%7A27H 5,000,0007T
Shanghai Bloks Trading Limited (i) PRC/ RMB10,000,000
(HEhEAMEZBRAT) Mainland China
1 September 2022
LEMBAESER A HE/RER, ARE
2022F9A1R 10,000,000t

®

(i)
(iil)

2.1

Place and date Nominal value

The English names of the companies registered in the PRC represent the best
efforts made by the management of the Company to translate the Chinese
names of these companies as no English names have been registered.

These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

This entity is the wholly-owned foreign company established in the PRC.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards
("IASs") and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and convertible redeemable preferred shares, which have
been measured at fair value, as further explained in Note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The Financial Information has been prepared on a going
concern basis. The Group's net current liability, amounted
to RMB1,966,063,000 as at 31 December 2024 included
the balance of convertible redeemable preferred shares of
RMB2,207,012,000, which has been settled by automatic
conversion, converted to ordinary shares, upon the initial
public offering on Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 10 January
2025. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its financial liabilities
and obligations as and when they fall due and to sustain its
operations for the next 12 months.

Percentage of

equity attributable Principal
to the Company activities
ARAELEREEDL TEED
Direct Indirect
E# &
- 100.00% Sales of toys
- 100.00% HETA
- 100.00% Sales of toys
- 100.00% HETA
() RPEEMORE ARERBLEXH
B HRXEBDHARAEEBERIEF XHE
BN REESERE -
(i) FEERBHR/VPERINBRAF -
(i) ZERBRDEKIZININEBEERT -
2.1 mHIEE

ZEM BRI CIRREF S5 4R
BEE([ERGHEIEEE )R
o B0 B30 R S 765 e o 2 R (T BB B 75
WEER ) (BIEMABBRM GRS
A - BIFR R ([BIFR & 512
A ]) R t) REB A RPN KE
MTEMmS o ZFMBREKAESL
RAEDI RS - AR EBEFE
AEZHHASHRENEREE
KA ERAEEERRERAAE
BT E - ARFIRERNMIE24 - &
EMBHRTIUARE(TARE])
25 AEEEIHNBESEIN
THRB HERBIERAERI -

B A RHE B S S EERE - B
2024F 128318 AEBNRE
B (E %% A A R 1,966,063,000
JC - B B FE AT R A] iE BB LR
e AR¥E2.207,012,0007T © 325
A] 4 4% 0] fE BB o iR B R 2025 4F 1
BI1OBEBABMIFTE X AFREE
FBAEEERLES  #ihhTE
% - ZEE2RE  AEEB#HEERRE
MEEESEMNEIHNEREER
BB EM - URARKI12{EARFE
BEATE o
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

2.1 RHEIREE)

Y

REMBHRERBEEAR T RENE
NAIEZE2024F 12 A31HIEEFE
M B mE - B AR ARART
BENHEEZESINER(RESEE
tEE)  EASERLEFEE
77 HY)E B M 1S 7] & [0 3R A [ B 2k
R WHENBBHEHRIEEH
Mg E%ER R (AR TFARE
B Er eI E T EEE BRI
DRPEBEHREFR) - BIEIRIEHIRE -

—RME - BRRARZEFRETH
ZHIE - EARBEBELIRNAZH
WILE TT R R SR AR R -
AEBEGEHEEEEHRREN
BRENGEZERMBRBEELE
o Bt

(a) ERKRETHEMEEERSHE
ARIM BB KL -

(b) HMEWNLHELNERN &

(0 ANEEMFRRENBERR

L
o

RNl E e BN 2 N/NE]
R B0 5 HARME A — B @ 5T I
KAl - HERRNEREBAEE
HUSHEEZ B e AR - AR
BRAAR B BRIEHIERL
ZHERBLE -

1B K H AL 2 ER R A S AR EE D
FEBNARESRBNEA AR
ZhciEn - AMEE @ EHBORHERE
st R E AR - HAKEKE R
AZENXZERHNMESEAR
AREENAE - ##m - WA - F
X EBRERENGRA AFRE BB
B



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss

of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

(the "2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and IFRS 7
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described
below:

@

(b)

©

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the
Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in the
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new
and revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18

IFRS 19

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to 1AS 21

Annual Improvements
to IFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement
of Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10, IAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward
from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement of profit
or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are
required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both
the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are
made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, |1AS 33 Earnings per
Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other IFRSs.
IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other IFRSs
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of IFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial
statements.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRSs.
To be eligible. at the end of the reporting period, an entity
must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with IFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect
to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company's subsidiaries are
considering the application of IFRS 19 in their specified
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional
disclosures for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall derecognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS
9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

« IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of
the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose
of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts
and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

«IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss.
in addition, the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of
IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

« IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

« 1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37
of IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method"”. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on
the Group's financial statements.

2.4 Material accounting policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
instruments and equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss and convertible redeemable preferred shares at fair
value at the end of each of reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each of reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

or

(b)

0)
(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

0)

(ii)

(iil)

()

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group; and the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalized in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Category Estimated useful lives
Electronic equipment 3 years
Mold equipment 3 years
Furniture 2 to 5 years
Transportation equipment 4 years

Over the shorter of
lease terms and
estimated useful lives

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets mainly include licensed intellectual property
("IP") and software. They are initially recognised and measured
at cost. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised when ready for use and on the straight-line basis
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired.

Licensed intellectual property (“Licensed IP")

License rights are stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The
historical costs of license rights are measured at the present
values of the fixed minimum payments at the date of purchase
of the respective license rights. Variable consideration in
relation to license rights that depend on sales or production is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

The useful lives of items of the licensed IP are determined
based on shorter of the expected lifecycle of the items of IP,
and the contractual term of the respective license agreements,
during which such assets can bring economic benefits to the
Group.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life
using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Category Estimated useful lives
Licensed IP 1 to 3 years
Software 1to 10 years
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Research and development expenses

All research costs are charged to the statements of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties 1 to 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g, a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases that
are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in other income in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised
as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies
the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statements
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statements of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statements of profit or
loss.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

«  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

«  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as of the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as of the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as convertible redeemable preferred shares, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

Al financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and notes
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to related
parties, convertible redeemable preferred shares and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables,
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statements of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statements of profit or loss.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss. The convertible redeemable
preferred shares issued by the Company were designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. They
are initially recognised at fair value. Any directly attributable
transaction costs are recognised as finance costs in profit or
loss. Gains or losses on the convertible redeemable preferred
shares are recognised in the statements of profit or loss,
except for the gains or losses arising from the Company’s
own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the statements
of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
the statements of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including short-term deposits, and assets similar
in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statements of profit or
loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

«  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

* in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

«  when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

« in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@

®)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the assets is transferred
to the customer, generally on receipt of the goods by
customer or upon the confirmation from customer.
For consignment sales, the consignment sales partners
obtain goods from the Group at the same time when
they complete the sales transaction with end-customers.
Revenue is recognised upon sales to end-consumers
from consignment sales partners.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will
not be returned because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are applied in order to
determine the amount of variable consideration that can
be included in the transaction price. For goods that are
expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a liability is
recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the
right to recover products from a customer.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

©

C)

Variable consideration: volume-based rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased
during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the
contract. Rebates are offset against the amounts payable
by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration
for the expected future rebates, the most likely amount
method is used for contracts with a single-volume
threshold. The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven
by the number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied and a liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and
online customers accumulate points for purchases made
which entitle them to discounts on future purchases.
A contract liability for the award points is recognised at
the time of the sale. Revenue from the award points is
recognised when the points are redeemed or expired.

Revenue from other sources

Other non-toy revenue associated with our self-developed IPs
is recognised when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security
contribution schemes for its employees pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. These include
housing fund, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance. The Group
makes monthly contributions to the housing fund and other
social insurances. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss on an accrual basis. The Group has no further obligations
beyond the contributions made.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees (including
Directors) and consultants render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost
of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair values of the Group's shares at the
grant date, further details of which are given in Note 31 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense or the expenses for the services
provided by the consultants, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as of the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information.
For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the
Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting
events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company's functional currency, the USD. As
the major assets of the Group are derived from operations in
Mainland China, RMB is chosen as the presentation currency
to present the financial statements. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the each reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As of the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB  at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Fair values of convertible redeemable preferred shares

The fair values of the convertible redeemable preferred shares
measured at fair value through profit or loss are determined using
the valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method
and the option-pricing method. Such valuation is based on key
parameters about risk-free rate, discounts for lack of marketability
("DLOM") and volatility, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. The fair values of convertible
redeemable preferred shares as at 31 December 2023 and 2024
were RMB1,848,016,000 and RMB2,207,012,000, respectively.
Further details are included in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in production, or from a change in the
market demand for the product or service output of the asset,
expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the
care and maintenance of the asset and the legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is
based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are
used in a similar way.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
and deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. Further details are included in Note 19 to the
financial statements.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of products with volume rebates.

The Group's expected volume rebates are analysed on a per
customer basis for contracts that are subject to the volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be entitled to
a rebate depends on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement
and accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume rebates
accordingly. Estimates of expected volume rebates are sensitive
to changes in circumstances and the Group's past experience
regarding rebate entitlements may not be representative of actual
rebate entitlements in the future.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

fEET TR (2)
A - BB EHFIE

AEBEZIEFEETHEAME ST
oA AEEEREE BN R
(THEEFNXDFERERRE - KE
ERFEBAEENBEUEERET R
RSEEMREEEBEMAUNEE M
AR m BB UHIREAMBES
eV R o Bt - EEERMER
BRT AKE[ A INME - FEATE
EH) N R R (N SR R] 7 BB R 5 RO Pl
BABME ) RERHFIRETRHENR
BRAR & B R B AR B (Bilan - EAEESE
UM B AR EETER) - RIZA
R ARG - EABRBABEATA
B - NEEE AR BREABR (TS
ME)GEEERRMN XL BERETE
BEREE B ET (BILAMT B 2 B8V B L=
AR -

A IREE

EERAEE LR A EEE R A
FORET IS Z BRI AERR - MDA B FERR R
R R] A DASE S5 B 18 N AT HURUES By ZE B8
BR o Al THERNELHAEESRER
B IR BRI R K AT BE H R E R T AE
B R ] % BRRE DA B R SR B TR AT 81 SRS 1
HEARHERETE - & PrEBENY
FBEERRMIEET9 ©

B ELI]R) T E

AEEGEFAIZERESTAHERHE
EHNEMNR HERT

AREENTRRBELMIIHE BEFIE
MENEEREPETHN - BEEP
TR REBREFSRNBUAREFPNE
SLEEN e BIENRFTBEE

AEEEEE N A FEHHE R
il - BTRMSE DM G HIE RN E
LR AREARDMEFNNBE
RERATRE TR RARRANEREHER) -



Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At the
end of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued) EE N TREMR(E)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) LML ERE(E)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Provision for inventories and net realisable value of inventories

Management reviews the aging analysis of inventories of the Group
at the end of each reporting period. Management estimates the
net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the
recent selling price and current market conditions. A write-down of
inventories to net realisable value is made based on the estimated
net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the write-
down amount requires management's estimates and judgement.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying
value of inventories and the write-down/write-back of inventories in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. The
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segment, has
been identified as the executive Directors of the Company. During
reporting period, the Group was principally engaged in the design,
development and sales of toys products. Management reviews the
operating results of the Group's business as one operating segment
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Therefore, the chief operating decision
maker of the Company regards that there is only one segment
which is used to make strategic decisions.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's revenue
from the external customers is mainly derived from its operations in
Mainland China and no non-current assets of the Group are located
outside Mainland China.

Information about major customers

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no revenue

from a single customer is accounted for 10% or more of the
Group's total revenue.

Revenue primarily represents income from sales of toys.
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An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHT -
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHKA

Offline sales BTHE 2,084,861 769,071
Distribution sales* LEEHEHE* 2,062,865 732,700
Consignment sales ZitiHE 21,996 36,371
Online sales R EIHE 155,675 106,249
Others Htb 393 1,366
2,240,929 876,686
* Distribution sales primarily include sales transactions to distributors. * EHHE F RS HERIERNHERS -
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The Group derives revenues at a point in time: REBRE—EBELWA
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Timing of revenue recognition ONE ST

Revenue recognised at a point in time A E R B R U 2,240,929 876,686
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TREIINHERVFFAGLOBERR
in the current reporting period that were included in the contract BERRAREXNBOEEMARANHRE S
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised MERHWASEE

from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARKETRT

Revenue recognised that was included in  RBEHATASHEBN

contract liabilities at the beginning of EE A ONE

the reporting period:
Sale of goods HEEY 66,325 30,629
Performance obligations: BREME
The performance obligation of the sale of goods is recognised HEEMHNBANETREETFIEEYR
at the point in time when control of the assets is transferred to ERFRER(—RATFPUEIE RN
the customer, generally on receipt of the goods by customer or BREERE)  B@BEELNR S
upon the confirmation from customers and payment in advance is EETEERNEFPRIN  BEBERI
normally required, except for customers granted with credit terms Z3EARNK -

where payment is generally due within 1 to 3 months.
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6. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HflgA - Rty 2 % GG iRBEH
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTFT
Other income HAbA
Government grants (7) ESEEENO) 10,166 1,379
Bank interest income RITHEUA 5,765 3,864
Others Hith 768 662
16,699 5,905
Other gains and losses, net E b U as M B85 58
Gain/(loss) on disposal of items of property, HEME - BEREZHEEE D
plant and equipment Wz (E518) 270 (22)
Fair value changes of cash management products 3R & EIRE RN AL BEZE 2 27
Others Hh 170 77
442 82
17,141 5,987

(i) The government grants was received from the PRC local
government authorities to support certain subsidiaries’
operating activities. There are no unfulfilled eligibility
requirements and conditions relating to these government

grants.

() BT Bh e R B 4 5 R T BT 2
B AR ETIHERARNEE
TEE) o % BT B I A i K 2
HYE AR B R B AGRAT -
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

7. OTHER EXPENSES HAbAZ
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥MTRT ARETT
Impairment of mold equipment BEARBRE 702 -
Bank charges RITFEE 1,195 493
Exchange losses, net ME N EIE - JFER 2,353 143
Other losses Hings1a 398 59
4,648 695

8. FINANCE COSTS MERE

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: AR A DHTIAT -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥MTRT ARETT
Interest on lease liabilities HEREBEME 2,005 600
Borrowings costs BB AR - 1,054
2,005 1,654

210

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAR AT




Notes to Financial Statements
BF 1% s = MY 5

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

AEENRBATBERIRR(GEA) KA

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

THRIARGH :
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz AR®TR ARETT
Cost of inventories sold (1) EEFERER®D) 1,062,123 461,764
Marketing and promotion expenses B EM 111,702 73,706
Listing expenses ishil=ka 33,372 -
Auditor's remuneration (audit services) IZ B B (B AR ) 1,350 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #12 « E k& EITE 15 35,958 13,837
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ¥ - &= KR #RE 15 702 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 16(a) 24,012 21,237
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH 17 27,577 9,618
Impairment of inventories FERE 202 152
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHE BB EN
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 1,549 1,173
Impairment losses recognised on trade B ZRENGIER 2 R
receivables, net B 1R F R 21 1,698 871
Government grants T Bh 6 (10,166) (1,379)
Employee benefit expense (including EEBMFAXZ (BN
Directors’ and chief executive officer's FrEMEE R EFNTE
remuneration as set out in Note 10): HEN) - 656,331 151,991
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e~ JEAL ~ ERE R
benefits in kind EmR 204,162 115,743
Pension scheme contributions RIRSETEIMHR 44,905 30,017
Share-based payment expenses VAR 1) 7 B4 6 2 B 407,264 6,231
Exchange losses, net PE 5 Esi8 558 2,353 143
Fair value losses on convertible AJ A A FE BB ST AR Y
redeemable preferred shares NREEEE 28 541,996 274,132
Fair value changes of cash management ReEREMNAREBE
products b= 6 (2) 7
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEMZE - BFERZHEEBEE D
property, plant and equipment (M) BB 6 (270) 22
(i) Depreciation of mold equipment and amortisation of () DEFEERABREEEARERE

licensed IP which comprised cost of inventories sold are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately
in depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
amortisation of intangible assets above.

REEPERIEEBNAX - ZEH
XMEBRALAME - BE &R
BITEUR B EE#RHDEGR
BEVEEA -
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Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year are as

follows:

Fees:
Directors

Other emoluments:
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and
benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
Share-based payment expenses

Subtotal

Total

kAl

5%

HipBi < -
Fre o A R
BEWEH
BIREETEIHR

BABE5 R 2 M0 3
et
@it

RER  EEREHTHRA

BT -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETFRT AREFTT
2,103 2,239

228 305
366,483 -
368,814 2,544
368,814 2,544

(a) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors during
the year were as follows:

Mr. Gao Pingyang STEEE
Ms. Huang Rong mALL
Mr. Shang Jian i
Total wEt

Mr. Gao Pingyang, Ms. Huang Rong and Mr. Shang Jian were
appointed as independent non-executive Directors on 9 May
2024.

There were no fees and other emoluments payables to the
independent non-executive Directors during the year.
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(a) BAFHITES

RER - MBLFRITEFITH
wEMT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

=G AE  ERLZ T ML E
R2024F5 A9 EREAELIE
HITES -
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FmRe MEMIME -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(b) Executive Directors, non-executive Directors and the

chief executive

Year ended 31 December 2024

Chief executive and executive Director:

Mr. Zhu Weisong

Executive Directors:
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng
Mr. Huang Zheng (i)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chang Kaisi

Mr. Huang Xin (iii)

Mr. Chen Rui (iv)

Total

Salaries,
bonuses,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
e B4
EHR
ENEF
RMB’000
AR®BT R
EROIBABRATES
REREE 266
WTES:
RS 1,501
BHEAE) 336
FMTES
BHATEE -
()] -
BRIm S A () -
st 2,103

(b) BITEE  FUTEERKSTH

AB

HZE2024F12831HILLEE

Pension
scheme
contributions

BikE
sHEIfR
RMB'000

ARBTR

66

121
M

228

Share-based
payment
expenses

DY 4y

REHH M
RMB'000

ARBTT

359,308

6,907
268

366,483
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive Directors, non-executive Directors and the

chief executive (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

(b) #T

10. EERESTHRARTH(Z)

BEE  FUTESERBETH

AB(#E)

HZE2023F12A31HILFE

Salaries,
bonuses,
allowances Pension  Share-based
and benefits scheme payment
inkind  contributions expenses Total
e e
EAR ERE PARR 7
EMEN SR RETEEEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Chief executive and executive Director: ZETTRAERHBITES -
Mr. Zhu Weisong REWNFE 267 67 - 334
Executive Directors: WITES
Mr. Sheng Xiaofeng BB ST 1,010 119 - 1,129
Mr. Huang Zheng (1) ()] 962 119 - 1,081
Non-executive Directors: FITEE
Mr. Chang Kaisi FlE L - - - -
Mr. Shao Zhenxing (ii) (S RERES0) - - - -
Mr. Huang Xin (i) BEK (i) - - - -
Mr. Chen Rui (iv) BRImSE () - - - -
Total #at 2,239 305 - 2,544
(i)  Mr. Huang Zheng was appointed as executive Director of the Company () BEBUEER2022F7A25HEZER
on 25 July 2022 and resigned on 9 May 2024. RRBITES - WH2024F5H9H
BHT -
(i)  Mr. Shao Zhenxing was appointed as non-executive Director on 25 July (i) ARHRHELSEAR2022F7 A25HEZE
2022 and resigned on 27 December 2023. RBIFMITES - WH2023F12A27H
BHE -
(i) Mr. Huang Xin was appointed as non-executive Director on 25 July 2022 (i) WHEEEN2022F7A25AEETA
and resigned on 11 April 2024. FEHITES - WH2024F4 11 BHE
£ -
(iv)  Mr. Chen Rui was appointed as non-executive Director on 27 December (v) BRIREER2023F12A27AKE TR

2023.
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(b) Executive Directors, non-executive Directors and the (b) BITESE  FUTESRESITH
chief executive (Continued) AB(#E)
In 2024, certain share options were granted to the chief 20245 - ETHERETRE IR
executive and executive Directors of the Group under a share B BB SR ESEARNEREMR
incentive scheme in respect of their services to the Group. WRBETAREBSERITEAER
Further details of which are included in the disclosures in Note WMITESE - E— B EAMEE3
31. HIREE °
There was no arrangement under which a Director or the chief REA  BEEEXESTHAE
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during IRE kB B I E AT B A & BE -
the year.
The five highest paid employees during the year included two of the RER - AE&=H ESBERS
then Directors including the chief executive (2023: nil), respectively, EENEE(BERSTTHAE)(2023
details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 above. F:TR) HEFMFBHN EXMT
10 °
Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2023: five) RER - BT =R(2023%F : A&)IEAX
highest paid employees who are neither a Director nor chief NAEZHZRSTRA BN RS HFHE
executive of the Company for the year are as follows: BHHFBEFENT -
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT AR®TT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind &4 -~ fE4L ~ 2B R EWEF 7,398 10,633
Pension scheme contributions BRIRSE IR 364 540
Share-based payment expenses VARR 199 7 B4 6 27 B 8,621 3,693
Total msEt 16,383 14,866
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216

The number of non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

FHHNFATHENIFESE RIFRETT
BABRSHHMEES AZMT

2024 2023

20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7T £4,000,00078 7T - 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T 25,000,000/ 70 - 1
More than HK$5,000,000 1HB385,000,0007% 7T 3 -
Total 4Bt 3 5

Certain non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted shares under a share incentive scheme,
in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are
included in the disclosures in Note 31. The fair value of such shares,
which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as of the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the year is included in the above
non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Mainland China

PRC corporate income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% on
the taxable profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries during the year.

One of the Group's PRC subsidiaries, Shanghai Bloks Bricks
Technology Co., Ltd. was accredited as a “High and New Technology
Enterprise” ("HNTE") under the relevant tax rules and regulations
in November 2021 and renewed its status as HNTE in December
2024, and accordingly, was entitled to a reduced preferential CIT
rate of 15% for three years. This qualification is subject to review by
the relevant tax authority in the PRC for every three years.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

ETHEFNFESTBRABRSH M
BEREROABH IR BEERAEE
REMRBERR D - BRE—THIBH
RIESTHRRE - ZERNNAAE
BEEREBHANEBRPER - TRE
HAHETE - MEREFATBRERN
TRCHALAFEZTRIFRSTHA
B&= e S F B meE

AEBEANERBEERAEEKE QA
REEM R EEMERKE BERPTES
HEIF B ST TSR ©

hE At

RER - B3 A% B E B A 74
R BLRI 1225000 B 51 425 B 10 22 i
8% -

AREENFREWBEARZ— LEMRET
BB AR ARR2021411 ARIEA
BT SR B oA IR E Bl |
¥ (st ZE]) - WK20244F 12
AEFESHRMEENER - At
ZAREEZEZFI50MERMER
BEHME - ZEE KRBT BIEEHR S
BE=FFEZ X -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

USA

The subsidiary incorporated in the USA is subject to statutory United
States federal corporate income tax at a rate of 21%.

Hong Kong

The subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to Hong
Kong profits tax at the statutory rate of 16.5% on any estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
two subsidiaries of the Group which are a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 of
assessable profits of these subsidiaries are taxed at 8.25% and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is
not subject to tax on income or capital gains. In addition, upon
payments of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no
withholding tax is imposed on the Company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

The income tax expense of the Group for reporting period is
analysed as follows:

= A
EEHIR

Current tax
Deferred tax

EE)

TA 5% B R B 37 A Y /B 1 B 784221909
TR )5 e SR BB FO D ZEPRISTY ©

5B

ERBEMALNHNER R ERNERN
EEBEENTAGTERE AR
16.5% KA E MR EMEEFEH - &
NEBRENBRRIRIN  ZERRAE
FIBHEMAF THEERER - 25
B2 B1H) & {E2,000,00078 7T & 2R Bt 1)
128.25% M B R4NFE - M Ek T R A
THRIIZ 16,500 B BT ©

REHE

RERSHERITER - NABHEAMN
Yoas s B AU SR BARTIR © tIN - A
AIREBRRIRMNREE  BARHESEHS
M ARATME - BAMMIEN
i o

REBERRE AR EHA S0
T

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETRT ARETT
43,520 154
58,842 17,488
102,362 17,642
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Cayman Islands (Continued) HEeRs(#E)
A reconciliation of tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the REREHRE - BARNEARR REN
statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and its B R RS SRR BT A Bk
subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the tax expense at the EHEER R ERNRBAIESENTIE
effective income tax rate for each reporting period is as follows: X BB ISR R ENHRIERX
EVETRRINT -
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR¥ETT

Loss before tax B AT E IR (295,682) (189,839)
Tax at statutory tax rate of 25% RATEME25%T HE A (73,921) (47,459)
Impact of different tax rate TRMENTE 7,079 215
Effect of tax concessions HiEEnTE (63,488) (16,197)
Expenses not deductible for tax I 100,508 1,969
Tax losses utilised from previous years BB FERTIEEE (121) (90)
Tax losses not recognised REERIEE 18 132,305 79,204
Tax charge for the year FABRIAERX 102,362 17,642
No dividends have been paid or declared during the year ended 31 HE2024F K2023F 12 A31HIEE
December 2024 and 2023. B RRAFAERNHE RS
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14. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 148,844,005
(2023: 148,844,005) outstanding during the year, after taking into
account the retrospective adjustment of Reorganization as disclosed

14.

BAFERERERIBAARESRES
]

BREAGBSANREIAREER
A AEGEE  UWERERND
17 18 A% B9 h0 4 ¥ £ 2148,844,005 A%
(20234F : 148,844,005/% ) 5T & - W&+
MM sE29FT IR B E AR IB I EE -

in Note 29.
2024 2023

Loss per share sRER 2024%F 20234
Loss i1
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders BAREERERSE ARGEE

of the parent (RMB'000) (AREFT) (401,047) (206,100)
Shares IR 45
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R+ E S EAEER

in issue during the year used in the basic FARASBEITEBANE

loss per share calculation ('000) & (FRR) 148,844 148,844
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) BREAREEEB(ARET) (2.69) (1.38)

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented for the year in respect of a dilution as the impact of
convertible redeemable preferred shares and equity-settled share-
based payment had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share amount presented.

BELEEHNFAME25HNFRER
EReBELHAE  RESAEHRE
(o] 8 5% B B2 A B i A B ) LA B £ 7 R i
MFME 2 BRERNBRSEASR
REEZE -
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31 December 2024
At 1 January 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Impairment

Net carrying amount

Addtions
Disposals

Depreciation provided during the year

Impairment

At 31 December 2024, net of accumulated
depreciation and impaimment

At 31 December 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Impairment

Net carrying amount

2024%12831R
20241818 -
AR
ZitE
HE

REFE

NE
&
FRGHRME
HE
M2024E12A8318
MB2MERAE
20245128318
AR
ZEHE
HE

BEFE

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

Electronic
equipment
ETRE
RMB'000
ARBTR

9,050
(6922)

2,128
4,265

(236)
(1,267)

4,890

12,069
(1.179)

4,890

Mold
equipment
BARMK
RMB'000
ARBTR

109,948
(38,031)
(26,793)

45,124

137,085

(34,336)
(102)

147,17

247,033
(12,367)
(27,495)

147171

Transportation

Furniture  equipment
Ed} EaRfk
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR
5,191 2,015
(4,913) (1,915)
278 100

6 1,147
- (70)
(37) (182)

247 995
5197 1,112
(4,950) (117)
247 995

Leasehold
improvements
BENEEE
RMB'000
ARBTR

19,610
(19,568)

n

546

(19)
(136)

433

20,116
(19,683)

433

Total

@t
RMB'000
ARBTR

145,814
(71,349)
(26,793)

41,672

143,049
(325)
(35,958)
(102)

153,736

286,187
(104,956)
(27,495)

153,736
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

15. Y% - BER®E(Z)

Electronic Mold Transportation Leasehold
equipment  equipment Furniture equipment  improvements Total
BEf&E  RAR FR EhRt HENERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  AREBTT ARETR  ARETT  ARETRT ARETR:
31 December 2023 2023%12A31H
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A18 :
Cost KA 8,907 72,098 5,188 2015 19,610 107,818
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (6487)  (25532) (4,876) (1915) (19,430) (58,240)
Impairment HE - (26,793) - - - (26,793)
Net carrying amount REHE 2420 19,773 3 100 180 22,785
Additions AE 937 37850 3 - - 38790
Disposals ik (66) - - - - (66)
Depreciation provided during the year R E (1163) (12,499 (37) - (138) (13,837
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated  #2023F 128318
depreciation and impaiment MR ZFMERAE 2,128 45,124 278 100 ) 47672
At 31 December 2023: R2023E12R318 :
Cost AR 9,050 109,948 5191 2015 19,610 145,814
Accumulated depreciation 25E (6922) (38031 (4913) (1915) (19568)  (71349)
Impairment AE - (26,793) - - - (26,793)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,128 45,124 278 100 L) 47672

Impairment of RMB702,000 has been provided for mold
equipment in 2024. Except for this, the Group did not identify
impairment indicator during the year.

R2024%F - EEAREIEREAR

#702,0007C ° BRItk Z o0 -

RE BN F

A BRI ETR
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for items of office and warehouse
properties used in its operations. Leases of the Group generally
have lease terms between 1 and 3 years.

REBEEREEA

AEERELCERFANBRAETDER
BEHBEEBEFVHESR - A£EHERN
HHEER123F o

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTRT ARETT

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
— Properties —%
Lease liabilities HEaE

— Current — e

— Non-current —3ERE

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

At beginning of year REA
Addition NE
Disposal HE
Depreciation charge HEER
At end of year RER

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

57,430

35,126
25,078

60,204

(a) BHEEE

58,442

21,969
34,962

56,931

RER - AREEREEENRER

EREBIT

2024
202445
RMB’000
ARBET T

58,442
23,000

(24,012)

57,430

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARBETIT

27,238

52,831
(390)
(21,237)

58,442
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(®)

©

(d

Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYBREE
New leases EE
Disposals BE

Accretion of interest recognised during the year & RHERHIF S
Payments S

Carrying amount at end of year FAREEREE
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENE D
Non-current portion FEMENEL S

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

FEBEREBAE)

RER - AREHEAENEEE

REFHMT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETRT

56,931 23,268
23,000 52,831
- (468)
2,005 600
(21,732) (19,300)
60,204 56,931
35,126 21,969
25,078 34,962
60,204 56,931

(©) Bz R 81 S 1B B 40

leases are as follows: I3

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EREEENEER

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE

Expense relating to short-term leases not T AHERENEEHEE
included in lease liabilities BRAMFX

Gain arising from early termination of leases ~ $EATAR IEFAEE A RIS

The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in Note 32(c)
to the financial statements.

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT AR®¥TT

24,012 21,237
2,005 600
1,549 1,173

- a7

27,566 22,933

(@) MERLRLEBENI SRR
32()FHEE -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Licensed IP Software Total
RHEIP BH st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%®TR AR%¥®TR
31 December 2024 20245128311
At 1 January 2024 ®2024F181H
Cost BN 11,828 805 12,633
Accumulated amortisation Rt (6,331) (529) (6,860)
Net carrying amount AREDHE 5,497 276 5,773
Additions NE 41,892 1,344 43,236
Amortisation provided FANFHEEH
during the year (26,952) (625) (27,577)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 20,437 995 21,432
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F12A31H
Cost PR 37,310 2,048 39,358
Accumulated amortisation Z (16,873) (1,053) (17,926)
Net carrying amount REHE 20,437 995 21,432
Licensed IP Sponsorship Software Total
XIEIP %8 a st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%®TR ARETT ARETRT
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1H1R
Cost BN 7276 2,358 805 10,439
Accumulated amortisation RETH#E (3,862) (1,867) (391) (6,120)
Net carrying amount REFE 3414 491 414 4319
Additions NE 11,072 - - 11,072
Amortisation provided FRETREH
during the year (8,989) (491) (138) (9,618)
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 5,497 - 276 5,773
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Cost BN 11,828 - 805 12,633
Accumulated amortisation Rt (6,331) - (529) (6,860)
Net carrying amount REFE 5,497 - 276 5,773
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETRT

Current RE
Debt instruments BEBIA
— Cash management products - ReEREM - 1,251
The cash management products were issued by banks in Mainland ReBIREMBT AU A IRITET -
China. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair BREGHORETENIFERINAE
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not REFENE - HEARHOBRRERAAE
solely payments of principal and fixed interest. B2 EHEFHFAERERZNEHE
=
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as RER - BERIBEEZSHIOT ¢
follows:
Losses
available for
offsetting
Impairment against future Lease
of assets Accruals  taxable profits liabilities Total
AR
EHRRERB
EERE B8R FENER HEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARMTRT  ARMTRT  ARMTRT  ARMTR
At 1 January 2024 ®2024%181H 5,618 18,531 179,874 8,539 212,562
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ER(BE)/FABEH
profit or loss during the year BN 185 11,053 (70,789) 266 (59,285)
Gross deferred tax assets R2024612 43184
at 31 December 2024 ERREERE 5,803 29,584 109,085 8,805 153,271
At 1 January 2023 02351818 5,535 14937 201,407 3,490 225,369
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ER(BE)/ AR
profit or loss during the year ERERE 83 3,594 (21,533) 5,049 (12,807)
Gross deferred tax assets at 202351243184
31 December 2023 EEHREERE 5618 18531 179,874 8539 2125562
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as RER - BLEFHIBEEEENT
follows:

Right-of-use

assets
ERAEEE
RMB’'000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2024 7202451818 8,767
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year & AaH A B2S AR T8 (443)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31 BRRETIIE & B48%8 8,324
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 4518 4,086
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year G RHIE: B 1B HIELF A 4,681
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2023 F2023F 12 A31 BMIEERIEE ER%E 8,767
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MEVME  ETEEHBEEREE
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following ERF BRI - AT RBIH
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting HET = RERIBAR DT -
purposes:
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised RiFE IR R R

in the consolidated statement of financial BIETRIE B EFE

position 144,953 203,795
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these WG T ERERRERIBEE - )
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss- HEEEANREFER -—REROMNER
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable Al WRBTKRAIEEA ERWAEA A
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. TR TR IR RS 1R -
As at 31 December 2024, accumulated tax losses amounting to MR2024F 12 A31H - 2FFHIEEIEA
RMB66,642,000 have not been recognised as deferred tax assets. R #66,642,0007T i# AR FERR A IR IER T

BE -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Finished goods
Raw materials
Goods in transit

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for impairment

Net carrying amount

EERK o
R #
FEEm

B 7 MR

B OREE R

AREFE

Advance payment is normally required except for certain customers
where credits are granted. The credit period is generally 1 to
3 months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. The
balances of trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the year,
based on the billing date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months

3 to 6 months

6 to 9 months

9 months to 1 year
Over 1 year

EAR
3%6(E A
62 91E A
ClEENE:S
[ES =

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

218,833 55,524
49,739 20,207
9,967 563
278,539 76,294
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT AR¥TT

114,245 38,964
(2,259) (708)
111,986 38,256

BEFERMNT  EETEREENT
PO - EEM—RAIEIM@A - KK
B REABIE IR ERWGR - Y REA
EREHBANKEERREERE
BREEETHESAMMRE ~AEE
I L HE 5 UG IR SRR A
Mk HMERER - 85 RUGIAR
BAGTE -

RER - BZREFRNRE DT (ER
FE A MR EREE) T

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

110,409 36,428
1,182 1,600
180 110

158 34

57 84
111,986 38,256
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B 5 RUGIRRER IR RN EE T -

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARETT

At beginning of year REAT 708 448

Impairment losses, net REE R 58 1,698 871
Write-off G (147) (611)
At end of year RER 2,259 708

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulties and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.,, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner, also taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

RERE BHRARBSEEETRE
o ARt EBHMEEER - BEXT)
ERNAARUBBREANSETF D
MBI B R B » AT E R R hndE
ER - HEENRREERRERSE AR
ESNARBESEMN - EaTiR AR
ROBEARRTRI S I2 AT X FFHE R -

EEEHBTRRSHTFHRNEENY
BRRARBEERNRERNRE -
e BERXSHFHECRBESEARE
BF(AREZELEELE)  KNEBEMH
BIRYGOR - ARHEERERER -

BRAAKE R 5 R IR E & A
O (PR B EHRE) BT

Within 3 3to 6to 9 months Over
months 6 months  9months  to1year 1 year Total
IBAR  3Z6fEA  6Z9EA IEARIE 1540E @zt
At 31 December 2024 20245124318
Expected credit loss rate AHEEERR 1.69% 8.09% 22.41% 38.52% 65.03% 1.98%
Gross carrying amount (RMB000)  RERE(ARETT) 112,307 1,286 232 257 163 114,245
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEBBARETT) 1,898 104 52 99 106 2,259
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318
Expected credit loss rate BHEERER 0.85% 8.94% 19.12% 4426% 69.00% 1.82%
Gross camying amount (RMB'000) FHEE\RETT) 36,739 1757 136 61 271 38964
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEBBARETT) 311 157 26 27 187 708
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

In the opinion of the Company’s Directors, the business and RRAREZERE  TEENEBREP
customer risk portfolio of the Group remained stable and there FERAESRIBET  IRENELEE
were no significant fluctuations in the historical credit loss incurred. EIBINEEARE) o o - IRIEEATIE
In addition, there is no significant change with regard to economic HEROE - EBERETEEANEE -

indicators based on an assessment of forward-looking information.

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR¥ETRT

Non-current: FEME :
Prepayment for licensed IP XIEIPEY TR IR 5,130 8,382
Deposits Re 6,597 6,336
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment  ¥)% « /= K R ERTE KA 288 -
Less: allowance for impairment B ORERE - -
12,015 14,718
Current: RE -
Prepayments TEISFRIE 37,313 7,592
Deferred stock issuance costs (i) FRENR R ZEATRANG) 20,564 -
Value-added tax recoverable AR EIEET 8,449 5,082
Deposits me 2,335 1,573
Others Ht 5,502 1,014
Less: allowance for impairment B RER (1,367) (784)
72,796 14,477
84,811 29,195
(i) The deferred stock issuance costs were related to listing () BERZZHTKAHRETHEZS
expenses, which have been transferred to Equity subsequently, B 220251 A10BAREA F
upon the Company’s listing on 10 January 2025. THBEREREZ -
The Group has assessed the impairment of other receivables using AEFECDHBREBEEEE LT HEAMW
expected credit loss method. As of the end of the year, the Group JEWERIBERE - REFR  REBRZ AR
considered the credit risk of other receivables was low. R AR EE R B RE -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Cash at bank
Cash equivalents (1)

Subtotal

Less:
Pledged deposits for letters of guarantee
Pledged deposits for notes payable

Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET
RITIRE 747,118 363,786
REEEY0) 5,986 5,192
INEF 753,104 368,978
pEE
BRI E ST (985) -
RENEREERTFR (32,157) (8,141)
He kRS EY 719,962 360,837

(i) Cash equivalents represent cash balances kept in third party
payment platforms, such as Ali-pay and WeChat accounts
which can be withdrawn by the Group at any time.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits are denominated

in the following currencies:

RMB
usD
Others

() ReFEVERECEE=TXNF
B (XN ERBERP)FHRS
PRER - AN ] BERSEEER

Be kR EEBMAREERTFRIAT
FIEHEEHE

2024 2023
20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

AR 714,439 360,451
E 36,156 8,493
Ep 2,509 34
753,104 368,978

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances and deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximated to their fair

values.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

ARBTAAREBREMER - BR
R B At O MNE B IR IR DI ) BB EE
EERMEEERT)  AEEBBAE
BB EINEXRBHIRITIHARE 8%
REMEH -

RITMEAERE RRITERNE1F
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

24. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

24. BHEFARAREFRE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT AR®¥TT

Trade payables B 5 EARIA
Notes payable EANE S

Trade and notes payables are non-interest bearing and normally
settled on terms of 3 months to 7 months.

An aging analysis of the trade and notes payables as of the end of
the year, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

360,069 198,871
206,629 60,800
566,698 259,671

HEIRNFRARENRENGE - B
EIEAZETEANHRES

RER - BHRNFALRENRENRE
oM (ERNBERAEMT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Within 3 months 3EAA

3 to 6 months 3%6(E A
6 to 12 months 62121 A
Over 1 year 1L E

As at 31 December 2024, we had bank loan facilities of RMB200.0
million, of which RMB103.3 million remained unutilized.

246,556 169,638
260,724 85,613
58,931 4,001
487 419
566,698 259,671

A2024F 120310 BB ARK
2000E & THERTTEREEE - AP AR
B103.38 B TINAREA ©

Annual Report 2024 £ 231




Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETRT

Non-current: FERE :
Loan payable to a third party (i) ER—2E=FHNERD - 7,083
Current: RE :
Payables for purchase of non-current assets BEIERBEENENIA 89,146 26,596
Accrued expenses JEFHFI X 56,582 55,703
Salaries and benefits payables JEN & KAz A 52,521 33,782
Tax payables other than corporate income tax ~ JE B E (D EFTERERIN) 41,186 17,704
Accrued listing expenses JEET ERI 25,068 -
Customer deposits BPE® 5,393 4,140
Payables for acquisition of non-controlling RS FEfE AR e A ) FE 1 R IE
interest equity - 30,000
Others Hit 2,426 1,448
272,322 169,373
272,322 176,456
() In February 2019, the Group entered into unsecured three- (i) M2019%F2A  AEEE—EEL
year loan agreements of USD 1,000,000 with an independent % = 5 1@ A 5732 1,000,000 T HY
third-party individual. In February 2022, the Group and the IR =F BRI - K2022F
individual reached an supplemental agreement to extend the 2R - ANEE EZEAEKE T

G RIEIRER E202542 8

due date to February 2025. The loan was repaid in April 2024. E
BE2024F4 A EE -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Advances received from customers EESSIEIENEINEN 12,439 22,281
Sales rebates SHERF 59,327 20,704
Customer loyalty programme gEHEES 11,626 23,340

83,392 66,325
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

27. AMOUNTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE REORGANIZATION 27. HE#HERMERIE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTTT

Receivables in connection with the Reorganization 2 E 44 BIR)FE IR - 183,000
Payables in connection with the Reorganization EREARMNENTR - 187,520
Among the ending balance of payables in connection with 2023124310 » HEHEBNE
the Reorganization as at 31 December 2023, there was ERREIREREES - TIERRAEETTHE
RMB 183,000,000 represents payable upon exercise of Yunfeng 1% FE T BR XA R #5 183,000,000 7T + 4
Warrant corresponding to 5,767,820 Series A Preferred Shares. The fE5,767,820ARFIE % - EHMFF
details of Reorganization were set out in the sub-section headed BEHNBRERIESL - FREEA]—
“Reorganization” in the section headed “History, Development and Bl 4R D& o

Reorganization” in the Prospectus.

On 3 April 2024, the Company entered into a warrant termination 20244 A3 8 - RATEE R R

agreement with then warrant holder to terminate the Warrant by EEFB AR RREF R

cash settlement, details disclosed in Note 29. REBEEFTANKIERBEE  FHERE
RHIEE29 ©
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

234

Series Angel

In February 2018, October 2018, May 2019, November 2019
and March 2020, Shanghai Bloks Technology Group Co., Ltd.
raised up to RMB857,000,000 from shareholders and certain
onshore investors. On 24 April 2021, after 2021 April capital swap
transaction as mentioned below, there was 7,038,460 shares
(deemed as 35,192,300 shares with a par value of USD0.0001
each after Reorganization) of Series Angel Preferred Shares, included
1,253,447 shares (deemed as 6,267,235 shares with a par value
of USD0.0001 each after Reorganization) with redemption rights
was recorded as Series Angel Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares. 7,038,460 shares (deemed as 35,192,300 shares with
a par value of USD0.0001 each after Reorganization) was fully
reclassified and redesignated to Series Angel Preferred Shares of the
Company in July 2022.

Series Pre-A

In July 2020 and November 2020, Shanghai Bloks Technology
Group Co., Ltd. raised up to RMB330,000,000 from certain
onshoare investors and a shareholder. On 24 April 2021, there was
2,632,258 shares (deemed as 13,161,290 shares with a par value
of USD0.0001 each after Reorganization) of Series Pre-A Preferred
Shares with redemption rights was fully recorded as Series Pre-A
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares. 2,632,258 shares
(deemed as 13,161,290 shares with a par value of USD0.0001
each after Reorganization) were fully reclassified and redesignated
to Series Pre-A Preferred Shares of the Company in July 2022.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

R

2018428 « 20184108 * 201945
A ~2019% 11 A N20209F3 A + L8
BRI R EEBRARERERS TIE
N EEEEREZ AR 857,000,000
JC ° 20214 A248 » &£ T it20214
AREXREMR H1% + 57,038,460/ K
F i@ TR (R ELAE R B35,192,300
M Z R E(E0.0001 ETTH D) © BIF
1,253,447 8% (R EMH & IR 56,267,235
i &A% E{E0.0001 E T i ) B A &
EREM D AR AR R A s ] 0
BIR% o B2022F 7 A + 7,038,460 %
(M BB R 535,192,300 I EE
0.0001 ETTHRRGD ) BHEF D ERERN
IEERBRRAIKRFHEBLA ©

Pre-A%

R2020F7 A M2020FE 11 A £F
HEANEEBRERARBEE TR
AREER —EZRREEEZAR
& 330,000,000 7T ° 72021 F 4 A 24
H 2632258 (RN EEHEBHER B
13,161,290% =A% A {E0.0001 3 JT A I
1) B 75 B 0] # M) Pre-ASR 18 o B 3B B
R APe-Alg A8 n ERIE LK - K
202247 H » 2,632,258 %0 (R E4E
B WARA13,161,2900% R E{E0.0001
ETTHRG ) BHEN D BERETIRTE S
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Series A

In April 2021, Shanghai Bloks Technology Group Co., Ltd. raised up
to RMB599,999,631 from certain onshore investors. On 24 April
2021, there was 3,718,661 shares (deemed as 18,593,305 shares
with a par value of USD0.0001 each after Reorganization) of Series
A Preferred Shares with redemption rights.

On 24 April 2021, certain investors purchased 1,465,773 shares
(deemed as 7,328,865 shares with a par value of USD0.0001 each
after Reorganization) from certain shareholders and these shares
were entitled with Series A Preferred Shares (“2021 April capital
swap”) with redemption rights, together with 3,718,661 shares
(deemed as 18,593,305 shares with a par value of USD0.0001
each after Reorganization) of Series A Preferred Shares with
redemption rights, were fully recorded as Series A Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares.

25,922,170 Series A Preferred Shares were reclassified and
redesignated to Series A Preferred Shares of the Company in July
2022. The 25,922,170 Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares includes 5,767,820 warrant shares issued to Yunfeng
Tuoyuan. Further details of Yunfeng Warrant are included in Note
29.

Presentation and classification

According to the original and amended Articles of Association, the
Company does not have an obligation to i) deliver cash or other
financial assets to the holders of Series Angel Preferred Shares
(except for Series Angel Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares);
ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with the holders
of Series Angel Preferred Shares (except for Series Angel Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares) that are potentially unfavourable
to the Company; and iii) to deliver a variable number of the
Company's own ordinary shares. Hence, Series Angel Preferred
Shares (except for Series Angel Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares) are recognised as equity in accordance with relevant IFRS
standard, and designated Series Angel Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Shares, Series Pre-A Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares and Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares as
financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

A%R

R2021F 48 L BHEATREER
ERARBEATHAREEEE RS
AR #599,999,6317T ° 2021 F 4 A
24H 3718661 R (MNEMLEILES
18,593,305 A% % I 18 £0.0001 3£ ST HY
B AR B EEEEEE o

R2021F 48248 - AFREZERAET
R R EE B 1,465,773 M 10 (R EHE I
R 57,328,865 % & % M {£0.0001 3£ 7T
RARD) ZERN =B EEERED
AtREBEI([2021F4AEAREH]) -
HEF3718661 R (MREHEWEIE B
18,593,305 1% T A% E {E0.0001 £ JT #Y i
1) BB B ENARE L IRREARAA
b ] BEHA AT FE BB ST o

H20224F7 8 - 25,922,1 70MAHR 8 5 A%
B ENEFIEEAARBAREL
B% + 25,922,170% AR A] 854 ] iE B2 5t
IR BIEmEERIRIEITR5,767,8200% 3R
MEIEERR (D - BERREENE—FF
TBEERAMIEE29 -

23R 2E

RIBRF] REETEBERAA - AR
A0 458 3% 751 190 K {58 8 4 SR A (R i 8 ]
BRI EOELKRINFEARNRE
REMEBMEE  i)RRXEREER(R
156 ¥ ] 48 440 m] B (OB SR BRBR S ) 5B AR
MU R ARF TN SR EERE R
BfE MiDRNATZEHENARR LR
B o B - R E SRR (R E R AT Ei%
A B SEIRFR N R IBAR R B R A 75 3R
SRAEEERDIAE - WASKERA
BT B OB 5EAR - Pre-AlR AT B8 A] B
(0] (8 5% B e Al R 8 4 A B [0 (8 SE AR AR TE
REAREBEAZAEZHAEHAE
SHERAE -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Presentation and classification (Continued)

According to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company in July 2022, the key terms of Series Angel Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares, Series Pre-A Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Shares and Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares (collectively, the “convertible redeemable preferred shares”)
are as follows:

Liquidation preference

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up, either
voluntarily or involuntarily of the Company, and any Deemed
Liquidation Event (“Liquidation Event”), distributions to the
members of the Company shall be made in the following manner
(after satisfaction of all creditors’ claims and claims that may be
preferred by law):

@

(b)

the Series A Preferred Shareholders shall be entitled to receive
the Distributable Liquidation Assets in preference to the other
Shareholders in the amount equal to 100% of the Series
A Actual Investment Amount multiplied by the USD/RMB
exchange rate of a bank on the date which is five (5) days
prior to the date on which the Series A Liquidation Preference
Amount is paid by the Company, plus any accumulated
dividends or declared but undistributed dividends thereof (the
"Series A Liquidation Preference Amount”). If the Distributable
Liquidation Assets are insufficient to pay off all the Series A
Liquidation Preference Amount, each such Series A Preferred
Shareholder shall be entitled to distribution in proportion to
the Series A Liquidation Preference Amount to which they are
respectively entitled;

after the full payment of the Series A Liquidation Preference
Amount, the Series Pre-A Preferred Shareholders shall be
entitled to receive the Distributable Liquidation Assets in
preference to the other Shareholders other than the Series
A Preferred Shareholders in the amount equal to 100% of
the Series Pre-A Actual Investment Amount multiplied by
the USD/RMB exchange rate on a bank on the date which
is five (5) days prior to the date on which the Series Pre-A
Liquidation Preference Amount is paid by the Company, plus
any accumulated dividends or declared but undistributed
dividends thereof (the “Series Pre-A Liquidation Preference
Amount"). If the Distributable Liquidation Assets are insufficient
to pay off all the Series Pre-A Liquidation Preference Amount,
each such Series Pre-A Preferred Shareholder shall be entitled
to distribution in proportion to the Series Pre-A Liquidation
Preference Amount to which they are respectively entitled;
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2R E(E)

RIBEAR AT 2022F7 AABER KM
R ARRY - KA 4w ] 82 2 ] R OB SR AY -
Pre-A# RJ #3514 A] & 0118 7t I M Adm 7] 85
YR E] R (8 S e (e TR m] i 2
SR DM ERERIT

REESE

HEARFARNKEERETENEE
REEER  URBLEERBERBE
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AHEHERE(E)

Liquidation preference (Continued)

©

(d)

after the full payment of the Series A Liquidation Preference
Amount and the Series Pre-A Liquidation Preference Amount,
the Series Angel Preferred Shareholders shall be entitled to
receive Distributable Liquidation Assets in preference to the
Shareholders other than the Series A Preferred Shareholders
and the Series Pre-A Preferred Shareholders in the amount
equal to 100% of the Series Angel Actual Investment Amount
multiplied by the USD/RMB exchange rate on a bank on the
date which is five (5) days prior to the date on which the
Series Angel Liquidation Preference Amount is paid by the
Company, plus any accumulated dividends or declared but
undistributed dividends thereof (the “Series Angel Liquidation
Preference Amount”, together with the Series A Liquidation
Preference Amount and the Series Pre-A Liquidation
Preference Amount, the “Liquidation Preference Amount”).
If the Distributable Liquidation Assets are insufficient to pay
off all the Series Angel Liquidation Preference Amount, each
such Series Angel Preferred Shareholder shall be entitled
to distribution in proportion to the Series Angel Liquidation
Preference Amount to which they are respectively entitled;

after the full payment of the Liquidation Preference Amount,
with respect to any remaining assets, all the Shareholders
(including the Preferred Shareholders) shall be entitled to
receive distribution out of the remaining assets in proportion to
their then shareholdings in the Company.

Deemed Liquidation Event means any transaction (treating any
series of related transactions as a “transaction”) involving (a) the
merger or acquisition of any Group Company or other similar
transaction of change of Control of such Group Company, which
results in the shareholding or voting right of such Group Company
in the surviving entity after such event being less than 50%; (b)
all or substantially all of the assets of such Group Company are
sold or authorised, or all or substantially all or substantially all of
the intellectual property of such Group Company are exclusively
licensed or sold to a third party; (c) the change of ultimate beneficial
owner of such Group Company; and (d) any other events which
can be defined as the change of Control of such Group Company.
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Conversion rights

(a) Conversion Rights. Unless converted earlier pursuant to
section (b) below, each Preferred Shareholder shall have
the right, at such holder's sole discretion, to convert all or
any portion of the Preferred Shares (on a fully-diluted basis)
into Ordinary Shares at any time. All Preferred Shareholders
claimed that they will not exercise the conversion rights before
30 June 2025.

The conversion rate for Preferred Shares (on a fully-diluted
basis) shall be determined by dividing the applicable Original
Issue Price by the conversion price then in effect at the date
of the conversion. The initial conversion price will be the
applicable Original Issue Price (i.e., a 1-to-1 initial conversion
ratio), which will be subject to adjustments to reflect stock
dividends, stock splits and other events, (the “Preferred Share
Conversion Price”). Nothing in this section shall limit the
automatic conversion rights of Preferred Shares (on a fully-
diluted basis) described in section (b) below.

(b) Automatic Conversion. Each Preferred Share (on a fully-
diluted basis) shall automatically be converted into Ordinary
Shares, at the then applicable Preferred Share Conversion
Price upon (i) the closing of an Initial Public Offering, or (ii)
the consents in writing by the respective holders of each
series or class of Preferred Shares (including the holders of
any Warrant convertible into such series or class of Preferred
Shares as if such Warrant it holds had been exercised). In the
event of the automatic conversion of the Preferred Shares
(on a fully-diluted basis) upon an Initial Public Offering as
aforesaid, the Person(s) entitled to receive the Ordinary Shares
issuable upon such conversion of Preferred Shares shall not
be deemed to have converted such Preferred Shares until
immediately prior to the closing of such Initial Public Offering.

The Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares, Series
Pre-A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares and Series Angel
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares shall be redeemable
at the option of the holders of the Preferred Shares as provided
herein:
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Conversion rights (Continued)

In the event of any of the following circumstances (the “Repurchase
Event”), whichever is earlier: (i) the failure to consummate a
qualified initial public offering by 30 June 2026; (ii) the Group
Companies and/or the Founder materially default or breach the
representations, warranties, covenants, obligations, undertaking of
the Transaction Documents which default or breach has a Material
Adverse Effect; (iii) the cessation of the Founder being employed
by any of the Group Companies; (iv) the occurrence of a criminal
investigation by the competent governmental authorities against the
Founder due to the Founder's violation of Laws, and results into a
final, non-appealable decision that the Founder shall bear criminal
liability, except for any criminal liability of the Founder which has
no Material Adverse Effect, including but not limited to criminal
liability resulting from violation of traffic rules; (v) any dispute arising
from the historical and/or then current shareholders of the Group
Companies which results in all Equity Securities of such Group
Company or Equity Securities of any other Group Company directly
or indirectly held by the Investors being frozen or subject to any
disposal restrictions, and which has a material adverse effect to the
consummation of a qualified initial public offering by the Company
or the exit of the Investor, and which fails to be properly resolved
within six (6) months from the date of occurrence thereof; and (vi)
any Preferred Shareholder exercises his repurchase right pursuant to
this section.

The redemption price for each Redemption Share redeemed
pursuant to Series A, Series Pre-A and Series Angel Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares shall be R = *E*(1+8%)N+D. (i)
| represents the actual investment amount in RMB paid by such
shareholders; (i) E represents the USD/RMB exchange rate of a
bank on the date which is five (5) days prior to the date on which
the Redemption Price is paid by the Company; (i) N represents
a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days
from the date on which such Preferred Shareholder pays the Actual
Investment Amount pursuant to the Domestic Share Purchase
Agreement, as applicable (the "Acquisition Time"), through the date
on which the Redemption Price is actually received by such Series
Pre-A Preferred Shareholder, and the denominator of which is 365;
(iv) D represents the sum of all dividends and bonus that have
been declared but unpaid to such Preferred Shareholder and/or any
other accumulated but unpaid amount (if any) corresponding to the
Preferred Shares requested to be repurchased by such Preferred
Shareholder.
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Conversion rights (Continued) HRE(E)
The movements of the convertible redeemable preferred shares as RER - AJERAIELELERNEDH
of the end of the year are set out below: FT
Series Angel Series Pre-A Series A
Convertible Redeemable Convertible Redeemable Convertible Redeemable
Preferred Shares Preferred Shares Preferred Shares Total
AERTERIEDELR Pre-ABTERTEERLR ASTERTEEELR @it
Number of Number of Number of
shares RMB'000 shares RMB'000 shares RMB'000 RMB'000

RGEE  ARBTR  BRHEE  AR®TR  BRHEE  ARWTR  ARMTR

31 December 2024 204512A318

Asat 1 January 2024 R04EIAIR 6,267,235 216405 13,161,290 505575  25922,170 1,126,036 1,848,016
Termination of Warrant agreement BIrAREE A - - - - (57678200 (1830000  (183,000)
Changes in fair value MhEEZ - 133,035 - 228,256 - 180,705 541,996
As at 31 December 2024 R024%128318 6,267,235 349,440 13,161,290 733,831 20,154,350 1,123,741 2,207,012
Asat 1 January 2023 R03EIAIR 6,267235 175420 13161290 421133 25922170 971331 1,575,884
Changes in far value MEEE - 40985 - 84442 - 148,705 274,132
As at 31 December 2023 0235128318 6,267,235 216405 13161290 505575 25922170 1,126,036 1848016
The Group applied the discounted cash flow method to determine RER  AEERAUGBRREREEE
the equity value of the Company and adopted the equity allocation EARNAINREEE LERAERDE
model to determine the fair values of the convertible redeemable RAEEAEBRATBEEEERNALE
preferred shares as of the end of the year. Key valuation assumptions B > M2023F 12 A310 - AREEA
used to determine the fair values of the convertible redeemable EMTEEMEAERRAEITEIAERAR
preferred shares and commitment derivatives are set below as at BENEEZHERKZEHIINOT

31 December 2023:

2023

20234

Discount rate AhIR & 15.00%
Risk-free interest rate 1= @ f F1 R 4.13%
Discounts for lack of marketability (“DLOM") Bz s mB AR ([ mimmdtaEi ) 14.37%
Volatility ] 41.11%
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The Group estimated the risk-free interest rate based on the yield
of the United States Government Bond with maturity close to
the expected exit timing as of the valuation date. The DLOM was
estimated based on the option-pricing method. Under the option-
pricing method, the cost of redemption option, which can hedge
the price change before the privately held share can be sold,
was considered as a basis to determine the lack of marketability
discount.

Volatility was estimated based on the annualised standard deviation
of daily stock price return of comparable companies for a period
from the valuation date and with a similar time span to expiration.

In January 2025, the Company successfully completed its Global
Offering on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The fair value of these shares as at 31 December
2024 was referred to the Global Offering issue price. Upon
listing, pursuant to the Articles and the written resolutions of the
Shareholders dated 18 December 2024, each Preferred Share shall
automatically be converted, by reclassification and re-designation,
into ordinary Shares on a one-for-one basis upon the closing of the
Global Offering pursuant to the automatic conversion mechanism
under Article 51 of the Articles of Association (the “Conversion”)
each ranking pari passu in all respect with the existing ordinary
Shares in the share capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Company had convertible
redeemable preferred shares of RMB1,848,016,000 and
RMB2,207,012,000, respectively. On 3 April 2024, the Company
entered into a warrant termination agreement with Hainan Yunfeng
Tuoyuan Fund Center (Limited Partnership) (SR Z#&MRES
D (ERAE)) with an aggregate of 5,767,820 Series A Preferred
Shares (the "Warrant”) and then settled the Warrant in cash of
RMB183,000,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Company had an
aggregate of 39,582,875 convertible redeemable preferred shares.
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DR ENERELDELRARE
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242

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 July
2021 with initial authorised share capital of USD50,000 divided into
500,000,000 Ordinary Shares of US$0.0001 each.

On 28 July 2021, upon incorporation, the Company issued 100
Ordinary Shares to Next Bloks Limited, 100 Ordinary Shares to
Smart Bloks Limited, 1 Ordinary Share to ShawnXF Limited, 1
Ordinary Share to Bloks Is Coming Limited and 1 Ordinary Share to
Way Elegance Limited, respectively.

On 25 July 2022, the Company reclassified and re-designated:

1) Atotal of 74,275,759 unissued Original Shares of US$0.0001
each as 35,192,299 Series Angel Preferred Shares,
13,161,290 Series Pre-A Preferred Shares and 25,922,170
Series A Preferred Shares, respectively;

2) The Company issued (i) 127,522,548 Ordinary Shares; (ii)
35,192,299 Series Angel Preferred Shares; (iii) 13,161,290
Series Pre-A Preferred Shares; (iv) 20,154,350 Series A
Preferred Shares; (v) 1 issued Ordinary Share of US$0.0001 as
1 Series Angel Preferred Share.

On 25 July 2022, the Company also entered into the warrant
agreement with Hainan Yunfeng Tuoyuan Fund Center (Limited
Partnership) (BmEZ#HRESS O (BRE%)) ("Yunfeng
Tuoyuan”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to issue
a warrant to Yunfeng Tuoyuan for it or its designated affiliates to
subscribe for an aggregate of 5,767,820 Series A Preferred Shares
(the "Warrant”). On 3 April 2024, the Company entered into a
warrant termination agreement and then settled the Warrant in cash.

On 12 January 2023, the Company issued 21,321,255 Ordinary
Shares to First Prosperity for the purpose of the Share Incentive
Scheme, as a part of Reorganization.
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Authorised EE
Authorised Nominal
number of value of
shares shares
EERGDEE B4 EE
usbD
Ep

Ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each as at 20235 202412 A31HEK

31 December 2023 and 2024 HEE0.0001 & T H) 3K 425,724,240 42,572
Series Angel Preferred Shares of USD0.0001 720234 202412 A31 B &k

each as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 FI{E0.0001 LB R (F 8718 5T A%

(Note 1) (KizE1) 35,192,300 3,519
Series Pre-A Preferred Shares of USD0.0001T 720234 K2024F12 A31 BHEMK

each as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 I{E0.0001E ST A Pre-AR 5L i%

(Note 2) (Htat2) 13,161,290 1,316
Series A Preferred Shares of USD0.0001 P2023F K2024F 12 A3 1 BEK

each as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 TEI{E0.000 1 E JTRIAR 18 5T %

(Note 3) (Hf7t3) 25,922,170 2,592
Total @t 500,000,000 50,000
Note 1: 35,192,300 Series Angel Preferred Shares includes (1) 28,925,065 shares BaET - 20239 K%2024%12831H » 35,192,300

were recorded as equity, (2) 6,267,235 shares was recognised as Series & K {8 &5 18 S IR B3 (1) 28,925,065 A% ik

Angel Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares and recorded as financial DIRTER AR © (2) 6,267,235/ /% {5 1

liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December AR A IR {5 B P S4B B8 S PR I0 A BR

2023 and 2024. REARBEFEEHEZBHAZHER
MERARE -

Note 2: 13,161,290 Series Pre-A Preferred Shares were fully recognised as Series Biat2 - PA2023F 2024128318 © 13,161,290
Pre-A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares and recorded as financial [i& Pre-ASR {8 5 A& B 1R A Pre-Aly 0] 853t
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December AEREERTARGRAABEFER
2023 and 2024. HEFHTAZHERNESRARE -

Note 3: 25,922,170 Series A Preferred Shares were fully recognised as Series A K3 : 20239128318 » 25,922, 170KAEHE
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares and recorded as financial liabilities eI EH R AAR n] B A §E 018 5T AR I
measured at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2023. ANERBEAREENEEEEHAAEH
Warrant with 5,767,820 shares was terminated on 3 April 2024 but still Bmfema s - §5767,820RR MR
within authorised Series A Preferred Shares and there was 20,154,350 shares fEiEEER2024F4 A3H K 1E - BINE.
recognised as Series A Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares as at 31 EARELEREBER - MN2024F 12831
December 2024. H + 20,154,350 % B {7 e 38 A At 7] 8

AEEELR -

Annual Report 2024 3% 243



244

Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares
As at 1 January 2023

Ordinary shares issued for the
share incentive plan

TER
R2023F1A1H

BRARD BB I 7
EER

ERTREHZE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
BRAEHE BAEE
usD
ESY
127,522,750 12,752
21,321,255 2,132
148,844,005 14,884

Nominal value
of shares

R EE
RMB

AR

91,521

15,301

106,822

As at 31 December 2023 and 120234 }2024%F
2024 12H31H

Series Angel Preferred Shares  X{FEH{E TR
(Note) (K152)

As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1R

2023F 2 20245F
12A31H

As at 31 December 2023 and
2024

Note: The Company does not hold an unavoidable obligation to (i) deliver cash or
other financial assets to Series Angel preferred shareholders; (i) to exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with Series Angel preferred shareholders
that are unfavorable to the Company; and (iii) to deliver a variable number of
the Company's own ordinary shares. Hence, Series Angel Preferred Shares (except
for Series Angel Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares) were recognised as
equity in accordance with relevant IFRS standard.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

Number of Nominal value Nominal value

shares of shares of shares
R EE B3 EE B& 10 E{E
USsD RMB

ESp o AR¥T

28,925,065 2,893 20,759
28,925,065 2,893 20,759

Biet  ARR RN EAEEAT AT # M EE : ()[
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Share Capital B
2024 2023
20244 20234
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
Nominal value of Ordinary shares (RMB) TakEE(ARET) 106,822 106,822
Nominal value of Series Angel Preferred R EB AR (R ¥R AT e iR
Shares (except for Series Angel Convertible AR BB S RRAN EE
Redeemable Preferred Shares) (RMB) (AR¥T) 20,759 20,759
Total #ET 127,581 127,581

In January 2025, the Company successfully completed its Global
Offering of 27,738,300 shares with the Offer Size Adjustment
Option exercised at an offer price of HK$60.35 per share on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

In February 2025, the underwriters of the Global Offering fully
exercised the Over-Allotment Option, and an aggregate of 4,160,700
shares at an offer price of HK$60.35 per share were newly allotted
and issued by the Company.

Upon listing, pursuant to the Articles and the written resolutions
of the Shareholders dated 18 December 2024, each Preferred
Share shall automatically be converted, by reclassification and re-
designation, into ordinary Shares on a one-for-one basis upon the
closing of the Global Offering pursuant to the automatic conversion
mechanism under Article 51 of the Articles of Association (the
“Conversion”) each ranking pari passu in all respect with the existing
ordinary Shares in the share capital of the Company.

R2025F 1 7 AR EBEBBER S
FIBER AR ERNEFEEBERE0.35%
TCR DI 5EAK 27,738,300 8% I% (1) B 2 Bk EE
B WITE TRESHERE -

R2025F 20 ' 2REENBHEEE
AT THRERRE  RNARNEE
BEMK6035BLHEERETA S
4,160, 700/% J&15 -

Emg - RIFARI K A HIR20245F 12 A
1IBHHEREMARR - SRELRE
RIBABERRARESETHEDER
W EERRBETKE - BREEHD
BNENETE Y E2EEHER
ARERER(ER])  BRENERERE
BREMBTEEARFBRAFHREEE
il ER I TE T fa
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Share Capital (Continued)

The movement of share capital is shown as below:

WA (&)

IR EBIE RN T PR -

Number of
shares
IR 13 B
Ordinary shares HER
As at 1 January 2025 202551 H1H
Ordinary shares el 148,844,005
Series Angel Preferred Shares (except for Series Angel B Z1TH) K {818 St ik (K (E ¥ Al 8544
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares) issued BIEEEES RG] 28,925,065
177,769,070
Issuance relating to initial public offering HERAFEERMNELT 27,738,300
Exercise of Over-Allotment Option FT{ R RE A A 4,160,700
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred shares 7] #4#2 A] f& [8] (2 5t ik # #2 39,582,875
After listing and exercising of Over-Allotment Option LT RATE AR RR AL AR 15 249,250,945

The amounts of the Group's deficits and the movements therein
during the year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(a) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares issued and the consideration received.

(b) Share option reserve

The share option reserve of the Group represents the share-
based payment granted by the Group.

(c) Other reserve

The other reserve represents (i) the exchange fluctuation
reserve represents exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of group companies
whose functional currencies are different from the Company's
presentation currency; and (ii) the acquisition of minority
interests of the Group's subsidiaries.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

AEERFANBM B REZHNEG
EREDEEHRET -

(a) BR1DIE=E

s B BITRDEERD W
REZEER -

(b) BB

AEEBEREREE A EER G
PARB AR A ELRE N F B o

(c) HiufFEeE

HipfEEEOELRBRHE - E5E
BEDRREERAQRZIEE T
(7] 5% (B 1 B B 755 ¥k T 2 AR O [
SRERE REBEREERE QR
M SR o
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

In order to promote the Group's development in the long run and
attract and retain the senior management team and core talents,
Shanghai Bloks Technology Group Co., Ltd., the onshore holding
company of the Group adopted a share incentive scheme (the
“Original Plan") in December 2020.

In December 2020, the Board approved the Original Plan and
granted 4,089,574 shares to certain employees at an exercise price
of RMBO.2 per share. According to the Original Plan agreements, the
shares are vested in one tranche within the vesting period from the
grant date to the estimated date of completion of the qualified initial
public offering of the Company, subject to employees’ continuous
service to the Company.

In March 2024, the Board passed a resolution to replace the
Original Plan with an unmodified equity incentive plan (the
“Mirroring Plan"). The Mirroring Plan is the continuation of the
Original Plan adopted by Shanghai Bloks Technology Group Co.,
Ltd. in December 2020. At the meanwhile, the Company intends
to amend the Scheme (including the name of the Scheme, which
will be updated to the Share Incentive Scheme), applicable both to
the participants regulated under the domestic scheme and to any
eligible future participants.

In April 2024, the Board granted 17,776,888 share options to
certain employees including the chief executive and executive
Directors under the Share Incentive Scheme at an exercise price of
RMBO.2 per share. The share options granted to the chief executive
have been vested immediately. The remaining share options shall
be vested in four, six or eight years and the share options shall
be vested in yearly instalments of agreed percentage at each
anniversary date commencing from the vesting commencement
date.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
share-based payment expenses of RMB407,264,000 (2023:
RMB6,231,000), respectively.

RiREAEENREZERNALES LB
EeREREBRRZOAT - REEN
iRV\]T BARLBMEAMKERER

N RIR20205F 12 AR B R BB At &
(TREHE)) -

20205124 » EEE &R BN
AT 1R E 4,089,574 » 1TEB
BERARB2T - BIE R 2%
BHRBZEBSEEARAR —TA%%%T%A
MEEMTTXNESENEBRR— X
5B MREEAFEA N ARG HW

EA2024¢3H EETeBEB—TEAR
ES LAfIEﬂE%«{meHx%%&Eb Bl
(ME&EHE D BRRIRET 8 - HEEEIE
FEMBUREEEARA Wézozoﬁ
12 ARMERFTEIMESE - Rk - AR

AIEHEEIRTEI(BIERTEIEE - 8B A
IR EETE) - EARZEAREIR
ERSHEE NG ERARIKRSEE o

20244 8 - EBGRERD AEN R

gRETERE (BERSITERA B KT

BE)RH17,776,888MBEAHE - 17(H(B

BERARK02TT - BTYH&RE1THAR

MBI RIS ERE - B TRREAR

POF -« NESXN\FRRE - MEBRIES
aﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘*aﬁﬂiifﬁimﬁﬁmﬁ
DLEFS R

HZE2024F 12A31BIEFE K&
ERERARDAEROFIS A A
R # 407,264,000 70 (2023 4F : AR
6,231,0007T)
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The following shares were outstanding during the year:

At 1 January 2024
Forfeited

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023
Forfeited

At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2024
Grant

At 31 December 2024

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

A2024F181H
B2k

A2024F12A31H

R2023F1/A1H
L

M2023F12A31H

"2024F181H
B

A2024F12A31H

RER - AT MARITEE

Share Incentive Scheme
adopted in December 2020

202012 B F4HY
B2 B st &l

Numbers of Fair value
shares per share
BROEE SRAAEE
RMB
AR¥T
3,557,317 7.05
(12,950) -
3,544,367 7.05
3,623,704 7.05
(66,387) -
3,557,317 7.05

Share Incentive Scheme
adopted in April 2024
1202454 A EHH
B3 B Bt &
Numbers of Fair value

shares per share
ROEE SRAAEE
RMB

AR

17,776,888 28.57-28.60

17,776,888 28.57-28.60
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The fair value of the shares granted in December 2020 was
RMB7.05 per share and the exercise price was RMBO.2 per share.
The fair value of the share options granted in April 2024 was
between RMB28.57 and RMB28.60 per share and the exercise
price was RMBO.2 per share.

The fair value of the Original Plan at the grant date was determined
using back-solve method from most recent transaction price, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares were
granted.

The fair value of the share options granted in April 2024 was
estimated as of the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

R2020F 12 AR BB AR EBLEE
AR D AR 7.0570  1TIEEAERE
HBAREO02TT - A2024F 4 AR A E
RIER AR EBEAESRRND ARE28.57
TTEARKE28.60TT @ 1T#E AR N
ARBE027T °

REr8IRN L B R A BEIEER
B B B 6K R R 1R - (3 A ST
RHEREMEEE

R2024F4 AR HNBREN LA EE
TH 4835 8 15 B A Y R S MR AR 7R
A AR RE N A #ER - TR
FIIH P AR EY O g A B

15 April 2024

202454A15H
Dividend yield (%) %22 (%) -
Expected Volatility (%) T8 AR 18 (%) 41.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 fx M) 22 (90) 4.61
Expected life of options (years) B TEEREFHA(5F) 10.00

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

TEHR IR IR BR T SRR R IR R R OR B 2
MR - EMARBASERER -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets of
RMB52,831,000 and RMB23,000,000 and lease liabilities of
RMB52,831,000 and RMB23,000,000, respectively, in respect
of lease agreements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Accrued

Convertible listing

redeemable expense

Lease preferred  included in
liabilities shares  other payables

TER AR

TRE  EAREN

BEAR frk EHLmHX
RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB000
ARBTR  ARRTR ARRTR

31 December 2024 2024£12831H
At 1 January 2024 H024E1 /18 56931 1,848,016 -

Changes fiom financing HERGRE

cash flons - QL732) (183,000 (11,566)
Changes from aperating BeReRE

cash flows 29 - - (17,302)
New leases i 23,000 - -
Listing expenses LR - - 133N
Defered issue cost EREIRE - - 20,564
Acquisiton of non-contolling ~ WERFEFERR IR

Interest equity - - -
Interest expenses fsHx 2,005 - -
Effect of foreign exchange rte. - ERE BN/

changes, net 8 - - -
Fair value changes NEER - 541,99 -
At 31 December 2024 024128318 60,204 2,207,012 25,068

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

(@) FEFREXS

HE2023F N2024F12A3181E
FE  ASEEHEEERENEA
BEEIRESAEDHNABARE
52,831,000t & A R % 23,000,000
T UARBEEEDRABARE
52,831,000 & A R % 23,000,000

JG °

(b) BMEEFBDELNEEED

Payables for
Amounts  acquisition of
dueto non-controlling

related parties interest equity

Wi
Eff FERREN

BRARE  EAHE

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARWTR

25913 30,000

(25914) (32,400)

Amounts in
connection
with the
Reorganization

REA
RRHRE

RMB000
AERBTR

4520

(8520)

Loan
payable to
a third party

Efi-%
EEVEIE N

RMB000
ARETT

7,083

(1,095)

Total

a5t
RMB000
ARETT

1,972,463

(286,227)

(17,302
23,000
5%77)
20564

2,400
2,005

13
541,996

2,292,284



Notes to Financial Statements
B H R R MY AT
31 December 2024 2024 12831H

32. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32. {feBRe&RERMEZ)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RMEIBHEENEERE(F)
(Continued)
Convertble Payeblesfor ~ Amounts in
redeemable Interest- Amounts  acquisition of connection Loan
Lease prefered  bearing bank dueto noncontroling with the payable to
liabities shares bomowings  related parties interestequity  Reorganization  a third party Total
A Y
AEE HE EiT g HER Efi—%
BERE Bk BOER ERPRAE ENZE  AEMEE  ESHHER a

RUB000 RUB000 RMB00O RUB000 RUB000 RUB000 RUB000 RMB00O
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2023 20235127318
At 1 January 2023 202351418 23268 1573,884 5000 44694 - 30338 6,965 1,684,149
Changes from financing BERERE
chfons 23 (19300) - (6054)  (18974) - (25818) - (70,146)
New leases HHE 52,831 - - - - - - 52,831
Lease terminafion HERE (468) - - - - - - (468)
Interest expenses MEHx 600 - 1,054 - - - - 1,654
ffect of foreign exchange rate. EX& 81T/ 2
changes, net BB - - - 193 - - 118 31
Acquistion of non-contraling BB SEiRMRIER
Interest equity - - - - 30,000 - - 30,000
Fair value changes MBS - 204132 - - - - - 204132
M3 December 2023 R023E12A31R 56031 1848016 - 25913 30000 4520 085 1972463
(c) Total cash outflows for leases (c) HERERHEARE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Within operating activities KEEBA 1,549 1,173
Within financing activities BERBHN 21,732 19,300

23,281 20,473
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Contractual commitments BREE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet RERBFTNERREENEARFAZ N
incurred is as follows: T
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Mold equipment KA 5,304 453
Licensed IP XEEIP 50,622 4,585
55,926 5,038
(a) Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries () UWnEBkIE L RV MES
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the BHE2024F K20235F12A31H 1E
Group acquired the following additional equity interests in the FE - AEE B IEERE RN
subsidiaries from the non-controlling interests: B A RIBIA T EIMEHE -
Equity interests Cash
Subsidiaries Date acquired consideration
it A =] HE 2 B iR ReRE
% RMB'000
% AERETTT
Bloks Technology (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. 31 March 2024 35.00 2,400
B AR (M) BRAF 202443 H31H
Shanghai Bloks Culture Communication Co., Ltd. 13 October 2023 8.70 30,007
PEMBA X LEEER AR 20234 10A13H

252 BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&A&£EERAT
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(@) Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries
(Continued)

The effect of changes in the equity interests of these
subsidiaries on the total equity attributable to owners of the

parent during the year is summarised as follows:

31 December 2024

Effect on the
total equity
HERENTE
RMB’'000
ARMT T
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired & Yf& IEiE A iEZS MO BR B (& (20)
Consideration payable to non-controlling interests e IEE R R AR (E 2,400
Excess of consideration paid over the carrying amount 2R EBH B UREERFEER B
acquired 2,420
31 December 2023 2023F12H31H
Effect on the
total equity
Hapgar g
RMB'000
ARETT
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired & WS FEHE RS M BREE (10,254)
Consideration payable to non-controlling interests e SEE IR R N LB 30,007
Excess of consideration paid over the carrying amount 2R EBH B URERAEER B
acquired 40,261

In March 2024, the Group acquired additional equity interests
in Bloks Technology (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Group, from two non-controlling shareholders at cash
consideration of RMB2,400,000. After the transaction, the
Group's shareholding of Bloks Technology (Hangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. increased to 100% accordingly.

(a) WEBHE A RAEESMER (2)

RERNZEFHBARREESHET
NAGEA ARG AR ER L
LU

2024%12831H

MR2024%3H - REENURESNRE
A R #2,400,000 7T [ /R 4 FE42 X
% B Uy B AN 52 [ BT B R B AR B A B
N BRABIMEEINGE - 2
SEMKE - NEEEMHE AR
(L) B R 2 &) A9 45 A% B 51 #E FE 1
HIZE100%
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

34.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Effects of transactions with non-controlling interests on the
equity attributable to owners of the parent for the year:

31 December 2024

34. HFERRERNHTH(Z)

(b) REFR  HIFERESENRZEE
RAEA ANEEBRIENTE

2024%12H31H

Effect on the
total equity

HERENR
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Changes in equity attributable to owners BREIER ARISRES
of the parent arising from: PRIz
— Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries — YR P N R RS ME R 2,420
Net effect for transactions with non-controlling interests B2 3EFEARIEZS M 5 A R HE B AJE
on equity attributable to owners of the parent IERRER R E 2,420
31 December 2023 20235 12H31H
Effect on the
total equity
HialEnTE
RMB'000
ARETT
Changes in equity attributable to owners NRER NEG R
of the parent arising from: TJ B
— Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries — U BB P R R R B ME R 40,261
Net effect for transactions with non-controlling interests ~ E2FE1E IS HEZS R X 5 W TRF A RIHEA A
on equity attributable to owners of the parent JERIR R F 8 40,261

254
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(a) Name and relationship of related parties (a) BB IS EBRERE
Name Relationship
wEEB 2EES
Mr. Zhu Weisong Controlling shareholder
ENEL PERR AR
Ningbo Shengteng Investment Management Partnership Controlled by the controlling shareholder
(Limited Partnership)
ENERREEEARECR(ARAER) P 452 A S R 2 il
Wise Creation Investment Limited Controlled by the controlling shareholder
Wise Creation Investment Limited P 2R A AR R 422 )
Shanghai Information Technology Co., Ltd. Controlled by the controlling shareholder
EEMERERRMARAT] P 420 AR S 3R 42 il
Shanghai Bloks Culture Communication Co., Ltd. Controlled by the controlling shareholder
PEmER X LEERR AR P 12 SRR SR 2
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HEB IR S
The Group had the following material transactions with related RER - RNEBEHBBRFAATE
parties during the year: ARG :
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Repayment of amounts due to related parties &% i 1< RS /7 60 7B 25,914 18,974
Sublease income from a related party PNEL el VNN 319 -
Purchase of animation production service MR 7 S B B E BUERRTS

from a related party 6,335 -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (c) BERARE S AR TBEAEER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARWTRT ARBTT
Loan payables FERTE
Ningbo Shengteng Investment Management —~ E R EEREER A B E
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (BREE) - 25,000
Wise Creation Investment Limited Wise Creation Investment
Limited - 913
- 25913

RER » REEEZRBRR K AE
PR BRIl B 1 BB RIB (B A8 B8R 1T
REER - RERBEEREE -

As of the end of the year, the Group’s outstanding balances
with Controlling shareholder and companies controlled by
Controlling shareholder were all unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The loan payables with related parties are non-trade in nature HEABTNENEREIEE S 1N

and the balances have been settled as at 31 December 2024. B ZEEBRTN2024F 12 A31
A4&E -

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) XEEXTEZEEASHH

Group

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e (B4 BB
benefits in kind EEH 6,362 3,740
Pension scheme contributions RIREFIEIHER 672 542
Share-based payment expenses VARR 199 7 B8 6 2 B 376,822 498
383,856 4,780

Further details of Directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments are included in Note 10 to the financial

statements.

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

EREZELRETHRABMENE
—HRHBER M BREAMEEI0
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RER SRR TANE@ENAT :
instruments as of the end of the year are as follows:

Financial assets

31 December 2024

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Trade receivables

31 December 2023

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Trade receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

TEMEE

2024F12A31H

Financial
assets at
fair value
through profit
or loss
BAREE
STERESH
RPN kR
HemEE
RMB’000
AR®T R
FTATERFRIE - Hfb U
RIERHEMEER
TRVEE -
HeMReEEY -
B BER -
5 EINOR -

2023F12H31H

Financial
assets at
fair value
through profit
or loss
BEARERE
SFERES
FTAEHER
RMB'000
AREFT
SEATEFRIE - EfbEL
HIEREMEER
ERMEE -
RERREEEY -
[RE e -
=) e e -
BEAnBEFEEESE
FTABHEENERERE 1,251
1,251

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost Total
E76: 5] D%
SHEN
SHMEE Wt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR
7,565 7,565
719,962 719,962
33,142 33,142
111,986 111,986
872,655 872,655
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost Total
1R SERK AR
FTEM
ERMEE FEET
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFT
7,125 7,125
360,837 360,837
8,141 8,141
38,256 38,256
- 1,251
414,359 415,610
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Financial liabilities

31 December 2024

AR AR A R K T

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals ERMemBas
Trade and notes payables B ZENFIERENEE
Convertible redeemable preferred — AJ#8 {2 7] i [0l 48 S0 A%

shares

31 December 2023

FE AR A A FRR e AT
ERMERARE

B RNFA R BN RE

& 1~ RS 77 30 0A

A B T] A E Y

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

Trade and notes payables

Amounts due to related parties

Convertible redeemable preferred
shares

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

EReE

2024F12A31H

Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through profit
or loss
BAREE
sSTERHESH
STAEHERE
Hemasd
RMB'000
AR®T T

2,207,012

2,207,012

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

o T
RAH B4
SHMaRE
RMB’'000
ARMT

176,189
566,698

742,887

2023F12H31H

Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through profit
or loss

FFAEHIES
&R B IE
RMB'000
ARBTT

1,848,016

1,848,016

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

i
PG A
SRA
RMB'000
AREFT

93,522
259,671
25913

379,106

Total

st
RMB’000
AR¥TR

176,189
566,698

2,207,012

2,949,899

Total

fat
RMB'000
ARBTT

93,522
259,671
25913

1,848,016

2,227,122
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets (in
the current portion), financial liabilities included in trade and other
payables and lease liabilities (in the current portion) approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. At the end of the
year, the finance department analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The Directors review the results of the fair value
measurement of financial instruments periodically for financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities.

The Group invests in cash management products issued by the
bank. The fair values of these products are derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities.
The valuation techniques based on open market transaction prices.

The fair value of the convertible redeemable preferred shares
measured at FVTPL is determined using the valuation techniques,
including option-pricing method, and is within Level 3 fair value
measurement. Further details are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of convertible redeemable preferred shares categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023.

EEECHTREMASEEY  BK
WiER - BZEWFOR - fFAFRENRK
B HMERFEREBEEN TR E
ECRBED) » St AE S REMBER K
HUARHERENESRABORBED)
MARBEEARDERS  TELEMH
RizETAREREE -

AEENMHHBEMHEEERE AR
ETemTAAREEFENERRERE
FFeRER UBHMIMERTAEE
2 YEEHETEANEIZEHARK
B EERMBRESEHENERTA

NABEFEER -

TREERAENAABERZTIAS
A BT EITHR S F (SR HIF8
HERRIN AR B RRTIRR « AT IE
REFRRANET AR EE

FHATENFR - R UK REME
ENEREENIFRBDBONAAEE
Ty A AR BLEUEKR - EERR &R
HIRR 1) T AR RIS F R RFAH AR K
Bengts -

AEBRENBITETNREEEE
e AEEMNAABEREAREE
FEBEREENSHRE CREFHE) -
HERMERARTISR HER -

BAnBEAELAHEHAAZHIESR
H) R] 85 4 A] AR BB ST IR A A B EE
HEXM(RERREEEIEE  BR
F=MorBEFE - E—FFHBHN
R i RE28 -

TX#EFIHR2023F 12831808 AR
REBEERE =HHAERAERES
RIGEBHERTTEREGASURME -
HERTEEFUREIN ©
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase in
(decrease) the fair value
unobservable 31 December
Significant unobservable inputs BRI HRE A\BIE inputs 2023
20234
AT 12A31H
BABIE ~AfEE
#hn,/ Cid) CRLA ), /18
RMB'000
ARETT
Discount rate ARIR 5%/(5%)  (69,156)/81,802
Risk-free interest rate R B ) = 5%/ (5%) (2,597)/2,617
DLOM RETS R RR 5%/(5%) (7,356)/7,356
Volatility ] 5%/ (5%) (4,726)/8,262
As the Company completed its Global Offering on 10 January 2025, BEE RN FIPA20255 1 A10A TR 25K
the fair value of convertible redeemable preferred shares as at 31 E - AR A DB ST AR 2024612
December 2024 was deemed close to the IPO issue price. A3BRATFEDER BRI XA
BEE o
Fair value hierarchy AREERER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRIPAEECH TENAALEEG
of the Group's financial instrument: BER
Assets measured at fair value BARBETEBHEE
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H
Fair value measurement using
EATHRENAALEETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEATEE EBEATATHE
ERTIEHRE BABE WARE
(B—-&) (B=&) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBFT ARBTFT

[m]

Cash management product ReEREM - - - -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AREEBRE)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued) BAREETENEE (&)
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12H3318

Fair value measurement using

ERTISEN A EEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXABR EBEATABER

BT HRE BAMR BAMR
(B (B=8) (F=4) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARBTE  ARETR

Cash management product ReEBER 1,251 - - 1,251
Liabilities measured at fair value BARBEIGTENER
As at 31 December 2024 72024F12831H

Fair value measurement using
ERTHERNAAEETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTBE EAFTEE

ERTSERE BARE BWABE
(F—-8%) (B=H) (B=H) ast
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBT T AR®T T AR®T T

Convertible redeemable A A BRI E R
preferred shares - - 2,207,012 2,207,012
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

317.

38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

37. SMIRMAARERLARERR

(8 /

N

AARBEERGE)

¥

RAEE,

\I‘]:

BEHEE(E)

R2023F 128318

Fair value measurement using

ERTISEN A EEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EAUHE EATUEER

RIS RE W ABUR B ABUR
(B—H) (B=#) (B=#) wEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARET T

Convertible redeemable A EEELR

preferred shares - - 1,848,016 1,848,016

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise convertible
redeemable preferred shares, cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits and amounts due to and from related parties. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and notes
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks, which are summarised as below.

262
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RER E—REE_R2HEAAEIR
EBEFENER  TESREERTR
BEEARBLE=F -

38. MBEAREEEBRRER

AEENFESH T AGEAERAE
CEER - ReMRSEEY  DEBA
TFRA R AN S FE MR BB B 0 BR0R - 55
TRTANTIEENEAAKENEE
E5E - AKERAZREMESRE
ENAE MBEZHRUKBUAREFE
NHELENRE  DERELBEZ
78 o

AEETRTAEENTRRERBINE
Rl EERREADECRAR - EF
FEZIHEEESARBROEE - 8
FABCR LT -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(a) Foreign currency risk

(a) SMNERBE

AEEHBRZHEERER - ZFR

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units' functional currencies. In
addition, the Group has currency exposures from its cash and
cash equivalents. The management of the Company considers
the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk not significant.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as of the

B AKREEMNABUNKEEEE
NN ERETEEMEL - ik
Sh - REEEE R %Efﬁé&fﬁé
FEMHEEER - ARANE
Euuﬁ$¢lﬁﬁmﬁ’]’>’l\EﬂﬁT§
* o

TERIITRER « AR E

HRRETENBERT  ARBRBA
ER(AREREERABNERN
BEEEEY) RAKEREHXE

end of the year to a reasonably possible change in the USD
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's loss before tax (due to changes in the retranslated

value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's TTEXRSIEAREFEHBURE -
equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
USD/RMB rate before tax in equity
EVY@N:
ExtH BRELATE A RS,
(FR2) i CR2) (B2
% RMB’000 RMB’'000
% AR¥T T AR¥T T
31 December 2024 2024%12A31H
If RMB weakens against USD M ARBHETRE 5 1,613 266
If RVB strengthens against USD  fi§ A RS 3 =TT FHE (5) (1,613) (266)
31 December 2023 20234 12H31H
If RMB weakens against USD MAREHETRE 5 381 63
If RMB strengthens against USD i A R# 3,26 T FHE 5) (381) (63)
(b) Credit risk (b) EERK
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REBEEFERERATRGEERTNE

third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

737@17%% RBEA K E B K
A RRERFRIETR SN
ﬁi’]/,\LLF%’fZ,akf It
S+ AN S B 5 4B 8L B WK OR A
g AAKBEAREERIL TS
* o

Annual Report 2024 F3



264

Notes to Financial Statements
B 1% ¥R 3= MY &

31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and staging as at 31 December 2024

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as of the end of the year. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

31 December 2024

12-month

ECLs

2{8 A 7B

FEER

Stage 1

E-BE

RMB'000

ARETR

Trade receivables* 2 5 e EUE* -

Financial assets included in FPATENFIE - Eft

prepayments, other receivables  JEMEUA KA EE

and other assets** RS REE 2,063

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 719,962

Pledged deposits EAEHER 33,142

755,167

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

(b) FEREE)

JR2024F 712 H37 H B9 &R 5 /A R
FrEMEER

TRINFNFRERAEEEEIK
ROEEEEAREREERR £
ZUABMER AEE(RRIFATED
REBBZUARE NHIER TS
HMER) - A RFRTEREER D
Be-MEINNERATREENK
EARE °

2024%12H31H

Lifetime ECLs
EHRBEERE
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
FoEB  E=RR  fEtEE @zt
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®T:R

- 114,245 114,245
- - 2,063
- - 719,962
- - 33,142
- 114,245 869,412
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and staging as at 31 December 2024
(Continued)

31 December 2023

38. MBRBEEARRBE Z)

(b) FEREE)

JR2024F 712 H37 H B9 &R 5 /AR
FrEEER (42)

2023F12H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A T8
FEBE FHEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-Re F-RE  F=RER BRE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Trade receivables* 2 5 IR - - - 38,964 38,964
Financial assets included in FATERFIE - Eft
prepayments, other receivables  EMGFRE R H A
and other assets** ENSREE 7,909 - - - 7,909
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEY 360,837 - - - 360,837
Pledged deposits BIERER 8,141 - - - 8,141
376,887 - - 38,964 415,851
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * RAKEERAGRETEZNE SEK

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
Note 21 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets is normal as they are not past due and there
is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

FEME - AR AR AR
BERMISIRARME21 -

o AR ATEROR - B ERGRIE R E
B R B A A I e H B D AR
BREREE B VIaRBARERRR
RiEgm  REEEERBIES -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds.
The Group's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance for continuity of
funding to finance its working capital needs as well as capital
expenditure.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as of the
end of the year, based on contractual undiscounted payments,

is as follows:

31 December 2024

(c) RBEZER

RBERERRANEEEE ¢ 2R
MEABITHBEENRER - K&
EEHHRBHESRREERE S
BMEERAGEIHSHOEL - K
SENERRERESHEANRY
&y AR B EEATRREARR

o

RER » REBERE RARERN
FOERBEIHERDT

2024%12H31H

Within 1 year

B I RNFRNENREE
AR B IR K

Trade and notes payables
Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals EEtBANERAE
Lease liabilities HEBE
Convertible redeemable preferred ] 3% a] i [@8 5t i%

shares

31 December 2023

Trade and notes payables B SN RERENER

Financial liabilities included in ST AE fhJE T FRIE K
other payables and accruals EETERANESREAs

Lease liabilities HEBE

Convertible redeemable preferred B] 34 a] i [@l (8 5t i%

shares

Amounts due to related parties [~ BB 5 7R1E

266 BLOKS GROUP LIMITED & AEEERAT

—&FR
RMB’000
AR®T T

566,698

176,189
36,803

2,207,012

2,986,702

Over 1 year
—FHE
RMB’000

ARBFT

25,615

25,615

2023F12H31H

Within 1 year
—FR
RMB'000
AREFT
259,671
93,522
23,752

25913

402,858

Over 1 year
—FE
RMB'000

ARBTIT

36,471

1,848,016

1,884,487

Total

et
RMB’'000
ARET

566,698

176,189
62,418

2,207,012

3,012,317

Total
W5t

RMB'000
ARETT
259,671

93,522
60,223

1,848,016
25913

2,287,345
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

(d) cCapital management

(d) EXER

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirement. No change was
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted
net debt is defined as total debt. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and convertible redeemable preferred
shares. The adjusted net debt-to-capital ratios as of the end of
the periods were as follows:

Total liabilities BEBsE

Less: Convertible redeemable preferred shares & : ] &4 a] 5 [0 8 5o I%
EE G A ES

Payables in connection with the
Reorganization IR

NAIEA AR
RIS A] B 1B S AX

Cash and cash equivalents
Adjusted net debt KRARBET
Equity attributable to owners of the parent (SYNZ
Add: Convertible redeemable preferred shares
Adjusted capital IEREER
%

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio

RekAeEEY

KHBEAAEFELER

AEEERNEENTERFTERR
BARERFELETVHFBRNE
RERMEEN » WX FERBAE
BREERAKL

AEEZREBESRNES LIEEE
ERRBEERY FHEE AL -
REFHAEELRERE  ~EEA
BEREMBRIRT RS - MR
RIEBARRBITHRD - AEED
ZAEMINEPFEINE E AR EIRR
REAR > BREEHEE - BERHK
TR fr I )

REBULCHEERBEFELL X
7%%/&@* TEHENEE - Bk

RARABFETERBEE
%E o KRR ERBERE KR AT E R
AERELERNMEHEKE D - B
HARNEHBEERAEFELEN
T

=

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
3,206,581 2,620,950
(2,207,012)  (1,848,016)
- (187,520)
(719,962) (360,837)
279,607 224,577
(1,600,590) (1,606,257)
2,207,012 1,848,016
606,422 241,759
31.6% 4820

Except for the subsequent listing event, as disclosed in Note 28 and
Note 29, there is no other significant events took place subsequent BN

to 31 December 2024.

BrBsE28 M HIFE20FTIR R HAE FTh S

MR2024F 12 A3 1 BB W ERE A
EfEMEREE -
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the Reporting Period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment in a subsidiary*

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables and
other current assets

Receivables in connection with the Reorganization

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Convertible redeemable preferred shares

Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible redeemable preferred shares

Total non-current liabilities
Net liabilities

EQUITY

Share capital

Deficits

Total equity

FRBEE
RHTE A BRI R E*

FRBEERE
RBEE

FBIRRIA - B R GRIA K

HibRBy & E

S 40 5 B A IR HUGKOR

RAekReEEY
MBEERE

RBRE
AJ$534 A] B O] 8 JE i

H A0 5R N T & A

M BE AR
RBREFE
HEERRBAR

FRBEE
A B A] HE 8 SR iY

FERBE BB
FAE
R

LEN
B

N

fafEa

* As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company has direct interest in Bloks
Holding Limited, the balances of the Company’s investment in a subsidiary are as

follows:

Investment, at cost
Investment arising from share-based payment share-based
payment relating to intra-group transactions

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

RE  BRAGE

B BN 5 BE LA RETER

NHRELNE

31 December
2024

20244
12A31H
RMB'000
AR®T
1,835,388

1,835,388

66,697
BI;
67,516
2,207,012
284,953
2,491,965

(2,424,449)

(589,061)

(589,061)

128
(589,189)

(589,061)

RBEHER AR A

BRBAARRBNRHERRNOM AR R LD

31 December
2023
20234
12H31H
RMB'000
AREFT
1,787,432

1,787,432

10,626
183,000
62,290

255916

256,328
256,328

(412)

1,787,020

1,848,016

1,848,016
(60,996)

128
(61,124)

(60,996)

7 Bloks Holding

Limited 5 B #a@m - AR RRHTE AR

REEHRIT -

31 December
2024

20245
12A31H
RMB’000
AR¥T T

1,759,150

76,238

1,835,388

31 December
2023
20234
12A318
RMB'000
AREETF T

1,759,150

28,282

1,787,432
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31 December 2024 2024%12A31H

A summary of the Company's deficits is as follows: RAREABMZNT -
Share
Share option Other Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRORE BRERE Hitf#E RiEE st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tx
At 1 January 2024 7202451518 643,615 28282  (123258)  (609,763)  (61,124)
Loss for the year FEER - - - (932,667)  (932,667)
Other comprehensive income  FEEM 2 EIRES -
for the year, net of tax MERTIE - - (2,662) - (2,662)
Total comprehensive loss for the  FE 2 HESEL5
year - - (2,662)  (932,667) (935,329
Recognition of share-based R BERR
payment expenses e - 407,264 - - 407,264
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 643615 435506  (125920) (1,542,430)  (589,189)
Share
Share option Other  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RIDGEE BRERE Hit A ZitER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT ARET:T
At 1 January 2023 K2023F 1418 643,631 22,051 (123,253) (335,473) 206,956
Loss for the year FEBE - - - (274290)  (274,290)
Other comprehensive income  FEEM2EIE
for the year, net of tax MBRFIE - - ©) - ©)
Total comprehensive loss for the /% 2§ 184858
year - - (5)  (274290)  (274,295)
Issue of shares BT (16) - - - (16)
Recognition of share-based RBIARRAD REHEH)
payment expenses e - 6,231 - - 6,231
At 31 December 2023 20234128318 643,615 28282 (123258)  (609,763)  (61,124)

BRI EE LN 2025F3 218
O AR TEE -

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of Directors on 21 March 2025.
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Definitions

In this annual report, the following expressions have the meanings set
out below unless the context otherwise requires:

“AGM”

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”
“Audit Committee”

“Auditor”

“BFCs"

“Board" or “Board of
Directors”

UCCCM

“China”, “mainland
China" or “the PRC"

“Companies Ordinance”

“Company” or
“our Company”

“Corporate Governance
Code”

“Director(s)”

"GB6675-2014"

“Global Offering”

the annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on June 6, 2025

the articles of association of the Company
adopted on December 18, 2024, as amended
from time to time

the audit committee of the Board

Ernst & Young, the external auditor of the
Company

Blokees Figures Creator, person who re-creates
our products or produces creative content
related to our products, and shares such
content

the board of directors of the Company

China Compulsory Certification

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for
the purposes of this annual report only, the
regions of Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan of
the People’s Republic of China, except where
the content or context requires otherwise

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of

the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

Bloks Group Limited (fh BRI EBR A 7)),
an exempted company incorporated under the
laws of Cayman Islands with limited liability on
July 28, 2021

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

the director(s) of the Company

China national safety standards for toys

the global offering of the Ordinary Shares

BLOKS GROUP LIMITED #E&AEEAER AT

REAFERERN - BXESBREN
ﬂ%ﬂﬁMT@%'

[ RIBAF
g

IR
[ ER
AnANJ

[EZRBE

K22 Gill

[BFC/

[3C]

L= HE
[ B ]

INSILESHTN

AVNCIE

[EER
SPAIJ

[E%]

[GB6675-
2014

[E2REE ]

T3

AR 202596 A6
AETHREBFEAS

AT 2024F 12818
BEMHOEZZEME
(BERHERT)

EFgMEEITZRES

RABSNEZ BN K S
RIS

MBAEARABIESE - 8
FAMERETZIREIE
B RUEE R ME LA

MBIEMEAR - WK EK
RETHENAL
RRREEE

rh B 58 1) 15 E SR AR RS

hEARLME - EFA
FEHREME - TEEF
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EBEAOIFE22E(A A
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Definitions

"ou

“Group”, "our Group” or

u, "

we

“Hong Kong"
“Hong Kong dollars” or
HKE"

“IFRSs"

“IFRS Accounting
Standards”

npr

"OC"
"KOL”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Date"

“Listing Rules”

“Main Board"

“Model Code”

the Company and its subsidiaries (or the
Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the content may require), or
where the context so requires, in respect of
the periods before the Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries,
such subsidiaries as if they were subsidiaries of
the Company at the relevant time

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the PRC

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong

International Financial Reporting Standards,
which include standards, amendments
and interpretations promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board

International Financial Reporting Standards,
amendments and interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board

characters, films or other artistic works and
their underlying intellectual property rights

key opinion consumer
key opinion leader

April 15, 2025, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining certain
information contained in this annual report

January 10, 2025

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time)

the stock market (excluding the option market)
operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel
with GEM of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

[ZRERE Ik
[ 4]

(&8

&7l

[ B35

HELEL

[ IR 75
wEEE

|

[P

[KOC]
[KOLJ

[ 12 ER
AIfTHE]

[ EfEE]

[ EmRA

[ER]

[R2E<TH ]

B ARRREMBAR(HK

AR REEMN—FKHZ
RIB AR - BABE
ME) » KAXEFIEE -
PN AR A ELER I P 8B
NEEER AR Z ATHHA
A - AEERRER /AR
AMBARNERNEA
A

REEERRITTE R
BRAEERETT

BRI £ - B
B g ERIRE SR
RZERN ~ B R

R ERIRE G R
MBI TSRS R - &
&S

AR - EFREMBNME
A N LA R B A

PRRERLHES
PR = A

202548158 » BIK
FEHE TR QB A
EAFEREMSEETE
B2 BB AI{TAE

20251 H10H

EEMERIAMARAT
EH5 EMARA (ETEHE
7] FFREAE M A E
20

BRPTEENESZTS
(TRERENS)  BY
FABSE A2 FrGEMIL B2 ELIE 7T
EBIE

E R A ERC3 TS

MBETAEFETEFR
ZHFLESTRI)
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Definitions

“Mr. Zhu"

“Ordinary Share(s)"

“Prospectus”

HR&DH

“Reporting Period”

"RMB"

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)"

“Share Incentive
Scheme”

MSKU (S)u

“Stock Exchange”

“Toy Standards
Committee”

UGC(s)"

"S$" or "USD"

"0/0"

Mr. Zhu Weisong (4R1&#2), founder, Chairman,
executive Director, chief executive officer of the
Company

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our
Company, of nominal value of US$0.0001

each

prospectus of the Company dated December
31,2024

research and development

the year ended December 31, 2024

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

the Ordinary Shares, Series Angel Preferred
Shares, Series Pre-A Preferred Shares and
Series A Preferred Shares in the capital of our
Company, as the context so requires

holder(s) of the Shares

the share incentive scheme adopted by the

Company on January 12, 2023 and amended
and restated on March 29, 2024

stock keeping units, being the smallest unit of
inventory available for sale
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

National Technical Committee of Standardization
for Toys

user-generated content(s)

the lawful currency of the United States of
America

per cent
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